Development of a Vero cell platform for rVSV vector production

Sascha Kiesslich

Department of Bioengineering McGill University, Montreal

March 2021

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Sascha Kiesslich 2021

Abstract

Viral vector-based vaccines are receiving increased attention, especially in light of the recent Ebola virus epidemic in West Africa and the COVID-19 pandemic. Their cell culture-based manufacturing, however, is lengthy and cumbersome, mostly using conventional production technologies. This work aims at contributing to the field of vaccine bioprocess engineering by further developing a cell culture platform to establish more efficient, scalable and cost-effective manufacturing technologies.

The main subject is the Vero cell line. We highlight its significance in the context of viral vaccine production by reviewing the prevailing literature on Vero cell bioprocess development. As a result, our analysis leads to a call for further research activities in this field to study and establish advanced technologies.

Applied to the recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) vaccine platform, and in particular the Ebola virus disease vaccine rVSV-ZEBOV, we study bioreactors for adherent Vero cell processes. Based on small-scale optimization studies, we develop microcarrier and fixed-bed bioreactors for serum-free rVSV-ZEBOV production. Further, using newly developed analytical assay techniques, we compare critical process and product characteristics, such as yield of infectious particles, cell specific productivities as well as ratio of total to infectious particles, and determine the optimal time of harvest.

Even though microcarrier and fixed-bed bioreactors are considered superior with regard to scalability when compared to the current rVSV-ZEBOV process employing roller bottles, suspension cell cultures are favored even more. Therefore, we intensified efforts to further develop a Vero suspension cell line as a platform for rVSV production. Following the adaptation to a commercially available medium, which can reduce the risk of lot-to-lot variants and potentially make the platform more amenable to work under standard conditions, we demonstrate the applicability of this system by developing bioreactor processes for three rVSV-vectored vaccine and vaccine candidates.

In conclusion, this work presents advancements in the field of bioprocess development for urgently needed vaccines. We show that the herein presented bioprocesses using adherent and suspension adapted Vero cells can serve as highly efficient systems for accelerated and scalable manufacturing of rVSV-vectored vaccine candidates.

Résumé

Les vaccins à base de vecteurs viraux ont reçu une attention accrue, en particulier à la lumière de la récente épidémie de virus Ebola en Afrique de l'Ouest et de la pandémie de COVID-19. Leur fabrication basée sur la culture cellulaire est, cependant longue et fastidieuse, utilisant principalement des technologies de production conventionnelles. Ce travail vise à contribuer au domaine de l'ingénierie des bioprocédés pour la fabrication de vaccins, en développant une plateforme de culture cellulaire et des technologies de fabrication plus efficaces, évolutives et rentables.

Le sujet principal est centré sur la lignée cellulaire Vero. En premier, nous soulignons son importance dans le contexte de la production de vaccins viraux à travers l'examen de la littérature en vigueur sur le développement de bioprocédés utilisant des cellules Vero. Les résultats de notre analyse appellent à démarrer de nouvelles activités de recherche pour étudier et mettre en place des technologies de pointe utilisant cette lignée cellulaire.

Appliqués à la plateforme de vaccination utilisant le virus recombinant de la stomatite vésiculaire (rVSV), et en particulier au vaccin contre la maladie à virus Ebola rVSV-ZEBOV, nous avons étudié les bioréacteurs pour les processus cellulaires Vero en cultures adhérentes. Sur la base des résultats d'études d'optimisation à petite échelle, nous avons développé des cultures avec support microporteurs et des bioréacteurs à lit fixe pour la production de rVSV-ZEBOV utilisant des milieux sans sérum. En outre, en utilisant des techniques d'analyse analytiques nouvellement développées, nous avons comparé les caractéristiques critiques du processus et du produit, telles que le rendement en particules infectieuses, les productivités spécifiques aux cellules ainsi que le ratio du nombre de particules totales au nombre de particules infectieuses, et nous avons déterminé le temps optimal de la récolte du produit viral.

Même si les supports microporteurs et les bioréacteurs à lit fixe sont considérés comme des procédés avancés par rapport au procédé actuel de production de rVSV-ZEBOV qui utilise des flacons agités, le mode de culture utilisant des cellules en suspension serait encore plus favorable d'un point de vue de mise à l'échelle. Par conséquent, nous avons intensifié nos efforts pour accélérer le développer d'une lignée cellulaire Vero en suspension et établir ce système comme plate-forme pour la production de vaccins utilisant le système rVSV. Suite

à l'adaptation à un milieu de culture commercialement disponible, afin de réduire le risque de variabilité d'un lot de milieu à un autre et potentiellement rendre la plateforme plus à même de fonctionner dans des conditions standards, nous avons démontrer l'applicabilité de ce système en opérant des productions en bioréacteur pour trois vecteurs rVSV correspondants a un vaccin et des candidats vaccins.

En conclusion, ce travail présente des avancées remarquables dans le domaine du développement de bioprocédés pour les vaccins pour répondre aux urgences des pandémies. Nous avons montré que les bioprocédés développés utilisant des cellules Vero adhérentes et adaptées en suspension sont des systèmes hautement efficaces pour la fabrication accélérée et évolutive de candidats vaccins à vecteur rVSV.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Amine Kamen. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to carry out a PhD project in such an excellent environment. I genuinely appreciate your guidance and your trust in me. Throughout my studies, you have supported my work and my ideas. You have always taken the time to discuss scientific problems or to give me advice whenever I needed, and I am very grateful for that. I have also learnt from you to always see the bigger picture and to look beyond the next step. I feel very lucky to have had you as my mentor.

Further, I would like to thank Dr. Brandon Xia and Dr. Richard Leask for their guidance and advice during the time they spent as part of my PhD thesis advisory committee. I truly appreciate the feedback you gave me.

Thank you, to all co-authors of my published articles, which constitute this thesis, and without who I could not have realized this work. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Jean-François Gélinas for taking the time to discuss my project and his endless support, it was great working with you. In addition, I am grateful for the collaboration with José Pedro Vila-Chã Losa who carried out his final thesis project of his master's degree in our lab and I had the pleasure of working very closely with him on the Vero project.

Likewise, I would like to express my gratitude to all collaborators with whom I worked over the years. Thank you to Dr. Jean-Simon Diallo and Dr. Rozanne Arulanandam from the Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Dr. Samia Rourou and Dr. Khaled Trabelsi from the Institut Pasteur de Tunis, Dr. Hiva Azizi from Université Laval, Dr. Chun Fang Shen, Stéphane Lanthier, Claire Guilbault and Dr. Rénald Gilbert from the National Research Council of Canada.

Moreover, I would like to thank everyone that has worked in the Kamen lab over the years. All of you contributed in some way or another to my project. I had a great time with you and will always look back with happy memories. We made it through seemingly neverending lab meetings and grew as a team, continuously improving our lab environment. Besides, I will always remember our summer BBQs and winter parties as well as many fun evenings at Thomson House.

I am also grateful to all the people at the McGill and UQAM facilities, special thanks to Luc Choinière and Denis Flipo for their help with metabolite analysis and flow cytometry.

Furthermore, I would like to thank all faculty, staff and students from the Department of Bioengineering and the Department of Biomedical Engineering, especially Xavier Elisseeff, Pina Sorrini, Antonella Fratino and Aimée Jabour, who were always a great support. In addition, thanks to all members from the BBMESS council with whom I had the pleasure to work during my time as a council member and who took the initiative to organize many social events for BBME students.

I am truly grateful for the financial support provided by the Fonds de recherche du Québec – Santé (FRQS) and the McGill Faculty of Engineering in forms of scholarships.

Finally, I want to express my gratitude to my family and friends. I cannot thank you enough for supporting and motivating me throughout my PhD. Danke!

Contribution of Authors

The present thesis consists of four manuscripts - three published (Chapter 1, 2 and 3) and one to be submitted (Chapter 4). I am the first or co-first author of all four manuscripts. The contributions of all authors to each manuscript are listed below.

Chapter 1:	Vero cell upstream bioprocess development for the production of
	viral vectors and vaccines
Published in	Biotechnology Advances 2020, 44 (Elsevier)
Authors:	Sascha Kiesslich, Amine A. Kamen
Contributions:	Conceptualization: SK, AAK; Writing - original draft: SK; Writing -
	review & editing: SK , AAK; Supervision: AAK, Funding acquisition: AAK
Chapter 2:	Titration methods for rVSV-based vaccine manufacturing
Published in	<i>MethodsX</i> 2020, 7 (Elsevier)
Authors:	Jean-François Gélinas, Sascha Kiesslich, Rénald Gilbert, Amine A.
	Kamen
Contributions:	JFG and SK contributed equally (co-first authors). Conceptualization:
	SK , JFG, AAK; Investigation: SK , JFG; Formal analysis: SK , JFG; Writing -
	original draft: SK , JFG; Writing – review & editing: SK , JFG, RG, AAK;
	Supervision: AAK, Funding acquisition: AAK
Chapter 3:	Serum-free production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells: microcarrier
	bioreactor versus scale-XTM hydro fixed-bed
Published in	Journal of Biotechnology 2020, 310 (Elsevier)
Authors:	Sascha Kiesslich, José Pedro Vila-Chã Losa, Jean-François Gélinas,
	Amine A. Kamen
Contributions:	Conceptualization: SK , JFG, AAK; Investigation: SK , JPVCL; Formal
	analysis: SK ; Writing - original draft: SK ; Writing – review & editing:
	SK , JPCVL, JFG, AAK; Supervision: AAK, Funding acquisition: AAK

Chapter 4:	Bioreactor production of rVSV-based vectors in Vero cell
	suspension cultures
Submitted to:	Biotechnology & Bioengineering (Wiley)
Authors:	Sascha Kiesslich, Gyoung Nyoun Kim, Chun Fang Shen, C. Yong Kang,
	Amine A. Kamen
Contributions:	Conceptualization: SK, GNK, CYK, AAK; Investigation: SK, CFS, GNK;
	Formal analysis: SK ; Writing - original draft: SK , GNK; Writing – review
	& editing: SK, GNK, CFS, CYK, AAK; Supervision: CYK, AAK, Funding
	acquisition: AAK

Contribution to the Original Knowledge

The study in chapter 1 reviews the prevailing literature on Vero cell bioprocess development for the production of viral vectors and vaccines with the aim to assess the recent advances in bioprocess development. The need for further research activities is critically underlined and bottlenecks to improve the Vero cell platform by taking advantage of recent developments in the cell culture engineering field are described.

The study in chapter 2 describes titration tools elaborated to assess the titre of rVSV-ZEBOV productions in a companion paper (Gélinas et al., 2019). A streamlined Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose (TCID₅₀) assay to determine the infectious titer of this vaccine was established. In addition, a digital polymerase chain reaction (dPCR) assay to assess the total number of viral particles present in cell-free culture supernatants of rVSV productions was developed. These assays can be used to titre rVSV-ZEBOV samples and characterize the ratio of total particles to infectious units for monitoring process robustness and product quality attributes and can be used to titre samples generated in the production of further rVSV vectors. These analytical methods were essential to the studies of chapters 3 and 4 and have also been applied to two other studies where I contributed as a co-author (Gélinas et al., 2019; Mangion et al., 2020).

The study in chapter 3 investigates rVSV-ZEBOV production in adherent Vero cells. As a highly relevant vaccine against Ebola virus disease, this virus is manufactured using a conventional roller bottle process. However, this process is lengthy and cumbersome, thus giving the motivation to develop a new and more efficient bioprocess. At first, rVSV-ZEBOV infection kinetics were optimized in 6-well plates. Here, we determined optimal conditions with regard to multiplicity of infection and temperature during the viral replication phase. Next, we transferred the knowledge and developed a microcarrier process at the bioreactor scale. Bioreactors are more scalable to large manufacturing scales compared to roller bottle processes and in addition, there is better control over process parameters contributing to a more defined process which is essential in the context of production of human vaccines. Following, a process in a novel fixed-bed bioreactor was developed and compared to the microcarrier bioreactor. Importantly, the findings of this study could be rapidly applied to

the current manufacturing process of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells to optimize the bioprocess and to ultimately lower the cost for Ebola virus vaccine manufacturing.

The study in chapter 4 continues the story of chapter 3. Here, instead of adherent growing Vero cells, suspension adapted cultures of this cell line were used. Suspension cultures are considered superior with regard to process scalability, since the cells do not have to be detached and re-attached from and to surfaces. Recently, a collaborator was successful in the adaptation of the Vero cell line to grow in suspension and provided us with this cell line (Shen et al., 2019). However, the use of in-house developed media, in this case IHM03, prevents other research groups from conducting studies using this system when media supply is not assured. Therefore, adaptation efforts in this work looked at the use of different media to establish a process using commercial media that could reduce the risk of lot-to-lot variations. As a result, we successfully adapted the suspension Vero cell line to grow in MDXK medium. Next, in shake flask at small scale we studied rVSV-ZEBOV replication in IHM03 and MDXK. We determined optimal conditions with regard to multiplicity of infection and studied the effect of cell density at the time of infection. More, we applied the process conditions to two other rVSV-based vaccine candidates against HIV and COVID-19, respectively. Thereafter, we developed bioreactor processes for all three rVSV strains and compared virus production in the two different media. Further, we compare the results to our previous study of rVSV-ZEBOV production in two adherent Vero cell bioreactor processes. Our findings suggest that the production of rVSV-ZEBOV is superior in suspension culture compared to previously developed microcarrier and fixed-bed bioreactors. Due to the better scalability, the suspension Vero system can serve as a viable alternative to the current Ebola virus disease vaccine manufacturing using roller bottles. Moreover, in the context of the current COVID-19 pandemic, this work shows relevant advancement in the field of bioprocess development for urgently needed vector-based vaccine candidates. We show that the herein presented bioprocess using suspension adapted Vero cells can serve as a highly efficient system for accelerated and scalable manufacturing of the COVID-19 vaccine candidate. Further, the quality of the produced viruses in terms of the ratio total particles to infectious particles is far superior, potentially leading to facilitated downstream processes and ultimately very economical manufacturing.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Résumé	2
Acknowledgements	4
Contribution of Authors	6
Contribution to the Original Knowledge	8
Table of Contents	
List of Figures	14
List of Tables	
List of Acronyms	
Preface	
Chapter 1	
Abstract	
Keywords	
Abbreviations	
Introduction	21
Cell line engineering to increase cell-specific virus productivity	
Bioprocess development for the production of viruses	
Microcarrier process development	29
Cell expansion on microcarriers	
Virus production in microcarrier cultures	
Suspension cultures	
Conclusion	
Acknowledgement	
References	
Preface to Chapter 2	53
Chapter 2	54
Abstract	55
Keywords	55

Background	
Method details	
Cells	
Viruses	
Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose (TCID ₅₀)	
Digital Polymerase Chain Reaction (dPCR)	
Statistical analysis	
Results	
Variability of titration using TCID ₅₀	
Variability of titration using dPCR	
Titration using dPCR for other strains of rVSV	
Conclusion	
Acknowledgements	
Declaration of Competing Interest	
Supplementary materials	
References	
Preface to Chapter 3	
Chapter 3	
Abstract	
Keywords	
Abbreviations	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Cell lines and culture media	
Virus	
6-well plate virus studies	
Microcarrier cultures in bioreactors	
Fixed-bed bioreactor cultivation	
Median tissue culture infectious dose (TCID ₅₀)	
Digital PCR	
Metabolite analysis	

Statistical analysis	81
Results and discussion	82
rVSV-ZEBOV infection kinetics in Vero cells in 6-well plates	82
Reduced temperature during virus production increases titer in 6-well plates	85
Microcarrier bioprocess of rVSV-ZEBOV production in Vero cells	86
Comparing Vero cell growth on microcarriers versus fixed-bed	88
Fixed-bed bioreactor production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells	90
Conclusion	93
CRediT authorship contribution statement	94
Declaration of Competing Interest	94
Acknowledgements	94
Appendix A. Supplementary data	95
References	95
Preface to Chapter 4	100
Chapter 4	101
Abstract	102
Keywords	102
Abbreviations	102
Introduction	103
Materials & Methods	105
Cell line and culture media	105
Viruses	106
Shake flask virus studies	106
Bioreactor cultures	107
Analytical Methods	107
Metabolite analysis	108
Results and Discussion	108
Cell growth of Vero cells in suspension cultures	108
rVSV-ZEBOV production in shake flask	111
rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV, and rVSV _{Ind} -msp-SF-Gtc shake flask production in di	fferent
media	115

Bioreactor processes of suspension adapted Vero cells	119
Conclusion	124
Declaration of Competing Interest	125
Acknowledgement	125
Author contributions	125
References	126
General Discussion & Conclusion	129
Literature	136

List of Figures

Figure 1. Production and titration variability using TCID ₅₀	62
Figure 2. Histogram of dPCR analysis of a dilution series of cDNA extracted	from rVSV-
ZEBOV	63
Figure 3. Histogram of dPCR analysis of rVSV-ZEBOV	64
Figure 4. Titration variability of rVSV-ZEBOV using dPCR.	65
Figure 5. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of Vero cells at different MOIs ranging from 0.0	0001 to 1 in
6-well plates	
Figure 6.Viral genome copy number (VG/mL) per infectious viral titer (TCID $_{50}$ /	mL) at peak
titers for each MOI investigated	
Figure 7. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of Vero cells at MOI of 0.01 in 6-well plates	comparing
infectious titers and genomic titers	
Figure 8. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of Vero cells at different temperatures in 6-well	l plates 86
Figure 9. Vero cell growth and rVSV-ZEBOV production in a 1 L bioreactor with t	emperature
reduction to 34 °C during the virus production phase	
Figure 10. Vero cell growth was compared between a microcarrier bioreactor ar	nd the scale-
X™ hydro fixed-bed bioreactor	
Figure 11. Vero cell distribution within the fixed-bed cell support layers	
Figure 12. Vero cell growth and rVSV-ZEBOV production in the scale-X [™] hydr	o fixed-bed
bioreactor	91
Figure 13. Vero cell growth and rVSV-ZEBOV production in the scale-X [™] hydr	o fixed-bed
bioreactor with extended cell growth phase and two media exchanges	
Figure 14. Cell growth of suspension adapted Vero cells in IHM03 (A) and MDXK	(B) medium
	111
Figure 15. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of suspension adapted Vero cells at different N	40Is113
Figure 16. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of suspension adapted Vero cells at different c	ell densities
	115
Figure 17. rVSV-ZEBOV (A), rVSV-HIV (B) and rVSV _{Ind} -msp-S _F -Gtc (C) ir	fections of
suspension adapted Vero cells	118

Figure 18. Comparison of the production of rVSV-ZEBOV in suspension adapted Vero ce	ells
cultivated in either IHM03 or MDXK medium1	.20
Figure 19. Comparison of the production of rVSV-HIV in suspension adapted Vero ce	ells
cultivated in either IHM03 or MDXK medium1	.21
Figure 20. Comparison of the production of rVSV _{Ind} -msp-S _F -Gtc in suspension adapted Ve	ero
cells1	.23

List of Tables

Table 1: Examples of viruses that can be propagated in Vero cells	
Table 2: Examples of studies reporting potential Vero cell-based vaccines	
Table 3: Examples of marketed Vero cell-based vaccines.	
Table 4: Comparison of bioreactor productions of rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV and rVSV	'Ind- <i>msp</i> -
SF-Gtc	

List of Acronyms

CCID	cell culture infectious dose
COVID-19	coronavirus disease 2019
DIP	Defective interfering particle
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
dPCR	digital polymerase chain reaction
EVD	Ebola virus disease
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration
GFP	green fluorescent protein
НЕК	Human Embryonic Kidney cells
HIV	human immunodeficiency viruses
hpi	hours post-infection
LV	lentiviral vector
MOI	multiplicity of infection
РАТ	process analytical technology
PET	polyethylene terephthalate
PFU	plaque forming units
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction
rVSV	recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus
TCID ₅₀	Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose
ТОН	time of harvest
ТОІ	time of infection
ZEBOV	Zaire Ebola virus

Preface

Cell culture systems have been established as an alternative to *in ovo* and *in vivo* viral vaccine production. In contrast to conventional strategies to produce vaccines, cell culturederived vaccines have several advantages. Benefits include rapid manufacturing technologies, independency of the supply of chicken eggs as well as minimization of crosscontamination and allergy reactions due to the use of defined substrates free of animal sources.

Several cell lines have been used as manufacturing platforms such as BHK-21, HEK-293, MDCK and Vero. However, the Vero cell line represents the most widely used continuous cell line for the production of viral vaccines over the last 40 years. This includes the development and production of vaccines against dengue fever, influenza, Japanese encephalitis, polio, rabies, rotavirus and smallpox. Moreover, the WHO established a Vero cell bank meeting appropriate production requirements (Ammerman et al., 2008; Barrett et al., 2009).

In recent years, research has focused on the screening for serum-free media (Petiot et al., 2010b), metabolic analysis (Petiot et al., 2010c) and bioprocess optimization using microcarriers (Mattos et al., 2015; Thomassen et al., 2014). However, vaccine production processes using adherent Vero cells still suffer from limitations such as low virus productivity and limited cell growth.

Viral vaccine manufacturing processes commonly employ adherent cell lines. When adapting cells to grow in suspension, there is a potential to develop unwanted properties such as limited growth performance, low cell-specific yields or tumorigenic features. However, there is great economic potential of suspension cell lines in the vaccine manufacturing industry. Suspension cultures generally have the advantage of better process scalability. In contrast to adherent cell cultures, the steps of detachment from and reattachment to surfaces (e.g. microcarriers or roller bottles) are being omitted when passaging the cells or scaling-up the process. This facilitates bioprocess development and can also lead to higher cell densities (Kluge et al., 2015).

Cell line adaptation to suspension growth can be difficult, but it has been demonstrated to be feasible for many important producer cell lines. For example, the CHO (Chinese Hamster Ovary) cell line, the HEK (Human Embryonic Kidney) cell line and many others have

been successfully adapted to grow in suspension culture. It has been reported that Vero cells were adapted to grow in suspension, capable of being used as a substrate for propagation of several viruses in a serum-free environment (Paillet et al., 2011, 2009; Thomassen et al., 2012b). Even though these reports showed promising results, no further studies by these authors investigated the potential of Vero cells in suspension. More recently, a research group published a work describing a successfully suspension adapted Vero cell line capable of producing rVSV (Shen et al., 2019).

The vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) can be used as an effective replication-competent vaccine platform, inducing both cellular and humoral immunity. VSV infections cause acute disease in cattle, horse and swine, but for humans, infections are mostly asymptomatic. Therefore, recombinant VSV (rVSV) can be used to safely deliver and express foreign antigens.

Several strains of VSV have been propagated in Vero cells (Paillet et al., 2009; Stojdl et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2008). As an example of rVSV being used as a vaccine, a pseudotyped rVSV vector expressing the Ebola virus glycoprotein (rVSV-ZEBOV) has been demonstrated to be safe to administer to humans (Agnandji et al., 2016). Recently, this Ebola virus has been approved by the EMA and FDA and is available under the tradename Ervebo.

The hypothesis of my thesis is that through cell culture engineering, bioprocess optimization and analytical tool development, limitations of low rVSV productivity of the Vero cell culture system can be overcome and more scalable processes can be developed. Based on this, the three main research objectives of my project were 1) Development of analytical tools to quantify rVSV; 2) Process optimization and scale-up of rVSV-ZEBOV production; and 3) Development of a suspension Vero cell bioreactor process.

The following first chapter serves as the introduction to the thesis work and reviewed the prevailing literature on Vero cell bioprocess development for the production of viral vectors and vaccines with the aim to assess the recent advances in bioprocess development. The need for further research activities was critically underlined and bottlenecks to improve the Vero cell platform by taking advantage of recent developments in the cell culture engineering field were described.

Chapter 1

Vero cell upstream bioprocess development for the production of viral vectors and vaccines

Authors:	Sascha Kiesslich, Amine A. Kamen
Author affiliation :	Department of Bioengineering, McGill University, 3480 University,
	Montréal, Québec H3A 0E9, Canada
Journal:	Biotechnology Advances (Elsevier)
Year:	2020
Volume:	44
DOI:	10.1016/j.biotechadv.2020.107608
Status:	Published
Article history:	Received 24 June 2020; Received in revised form 28 July 2020;
	Accepted 30 July 2020; Available online 05 August 2020

Abstract

The Vero cell line is considered the most used continuous cell line for the production of viral vectors and vaccines. Historically, it is the first cell line that was approved by the WHO for the production of human vaccines. Comprehensive experimental data on the production of many viruses using the Vero cell line can be found in the literature. However, the vast majority of these processes is relying on the microcarrier technology. While this system is established for the large-scale manufacturing of viral vaccine, it is still quite complex and labor intensive. Moreover, scale-up remains difficult and is limited by the surface area given by the carriers. To overcome these and other drawbacks and to establish more efficient manufacturing processes, it is a priority to further develop the Vero cell platform by applying novel bioprocess technologies. Especially in times like the current COVID-19 pandemic, advanced and scalable platform technologies could provide more efficient and cost-effective solutions to meet the global vaccine demand.

Herein, we review the prevailing literature on Vero cell bioprocess development for the production of viral vectors and vaccines with the aim to assess the recent advances in bioprocess development. We critically underline the need for further research activities and describe bottlenecks to improve the Vero cell platform by taking advantage of recent developments in the cell culture engineering field.

Keywords

Vero, Cell culture, Process development, Virus production, Optimization, Vaccines, Bioreactor, Microcarrier, Suspension culture

Abbreviations

CCID, cell culture infectious dose; MOI, multiplicity of infection; PAT, process analytical technology; PFU, plaque forming units; TOH, time of harvest; TOI, time of infection

Introduction

Vaccines are considered to be the most effective way to prevent and control infectious disease propagation. One of the main sources of infectious diseases are viruses. Research in the discovery of new vaccines or the development and improvement of existing vaccines against viral diseases is currently a world-wide high priority. Within this field, the cell culture-based production of viral vectors and vaccines is gaining increasing attention owing to the trend of moving away from established manufacturing strategies, such as production in chicken eggs or primary cell lines. Advantages of cell culture-based production processes include the independency from the supply of chicken eggs along with a minimization of cross-contamination or allergy reactions. Besides, the use of defined and serum-free cell culture media allows for more consistent processes. Further, cell cultures can be adapted to manufacturing processes involving bioreactors that are scalable, need less space and where process analytical technology can be deployed to monitor production and to control and maintain the process within defined parameters. Moreover, this allows for a more rapid manufacturing, especially during times of pandemics when vaccines are needed urgently (Aubrit et al., 2015).

Notably, the Vero cell line was the first continuous cell line (CCL) to be approved by the WHO for the manufacturing of viral vaccines for human use under specified regulatory guidelines (World Health Organization, 1987a, 1987b). Vero cells are considered non-tumorigenic below a certain passage number and safe to use as a substrate for vaccines. A summary of the establishment of Vero as a vaccine producing cell line and the creation of the WHO approved cell bank can be found elsewhere (Barrett et al., 2009).

This cell line has been established from cells extracted from the kidney of an African green monkey in 1962 (Yasumura and Kawakita, 1963). Several sub cell lines, such as Vero 81, Vero 76 or Vero E6, have been derived thereafter. Later genome analysis showed that the cells originated from a female of the species *Chlorocebus sabaeus* (Osada et al., 2014). The Vero cell line is a continuous cell line, hence it can be passaged indefinitely allowing extensive cell characterization and the creation of large cell banks, a valuable advantage over primary cell lines with limited passage capacities (e.g. chicken embryo fibroblasts). Vero cells are grown adherently, are interferon expression deficient (Emeny and Morgan, 1979)

and can be adapted to grow in serum-free conditions (Merten et al., 1994). They are widely used in many research areas, particularly virology, bacteriology, parasitology and toxicology (Ammerman et al., 2008).

Vero cells are susceptible to many viruses. One of the reasons for this is considered to be its interferon expression deficiency. The cells do not secret the signal peptide interferon upon infection with viruses and therefore the anti-viral defense mechanism of the cell is impaired (Emeny and Morgan, 1979). Examples of viruses that can be propagated in this cell line are listed in **Table 1**.

Historically, this broad range of susceptibility led to the development of vaccines that are based on the corresponding disease-causing virus produced in Vero cells, including vaccine types such as whole inactivated virus vaccines or live attenuated virus vaccines. This feature makes the Vero cell line an attractive host for the development of new vaccines against viral diseases. Several processes have been developed for the production of a number of vaccines and vaccine candidates using Vero cells, as can be found in the literature (**Table 2**). Importantly, several Vero cell-based vaccines have been marketed to date as shown in **Table 3**. Furthermore, with respect to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, three inactivated SARS-CoV-2-based vaccine candidates produced in Vero cells are currently in clinical trials (ChiCTR2000031809, ChiCTR2000032459, NCT04383574) (World Health Organization, 2020a).

Despite the wide regulatory acceptance and use of the Vero cell line for vaccine production, it is important to note that simian endogenous retrovirus sequences were detected in the genome sequence of Vero cells (Fukumoto et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2011; Sakuma et al., 2018). Safety in vaccine production is crucial and needs to be taken extremely seriously, and in particular the presence of endogenous retroviruses in pharmaceutical cell substrates is an important but technically difficult issue to control. However, an effective solution for adventitious viral detection could be a modified high-throughput RNA-sequencing method to ensure that the final vaccine product is safe for use in humans (Cheval et al., 2019).

Table 1: Examples of viruses that can be propagated in Vero cells.

Group	Family	Genus	Species	Envelope	Reference
I: dsDNA	Adenoviridae	Mastadenovirus	Human adenovirus (HAdV)	no	(Rhim et al., 1969)
	Herpesviridae	Simplexvirus	Herpes simplex virus (HSV)	yes	(Rhim et al., 1969)
	Herpesviridae	Varicellovirus	Varicella zoster virus (VZV)	yes	(Rhim et al., 1969)
	Poxviridae	Orthopoxvirus	Vaccinia virus (VACV)	yes	(Rhim et al., 1969)
	Poxviridae	Capripoxvirus	Sheeppox virus (SPV)	yes	(Trabelsi et al., 2014)
III: dsRNA	Reoviridae	Orthoreovirus	Reovirus	no	(Berry et al., 1999)
	Reoviridae	Rotavirus	Rotavirus (RV)	no	(Wu et al., 2017)
IV: +ssRNA	Coronaviridae	Betacoronavirus	Middle East respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus (MERS-CoV)	yes	(Chan et al., 2013)
	Coronaviridae	Betacoronavirus	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronaviruses (SARS-Cov and SARS-Cov-2)	yes	(Ma et al., 2020; Spruth et al., 2006)
	Flaviviridae	Flavivirus	Dengue virus (DENV)	yes	(Liu et al., 2008)
	Flaviviridae	Flavivirus	Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV)	yes	(Wu and Huang, 2000)
	Flaviviridae	Flavivirus	Yellow fever virus (YFV)	yes	(Souza et al., 2009)
	Flaviviridae	Flavivirus	West Nile virus (WNV)	yes	(Lim et al., 2008)
	Flaviviridae	Flavivirus	Zika virus (ZIKV)	yes	(Nikolay et al., 2018)
	Matonaviridae	Rubivirus	Rubella virus (RuV)	yes	(Aubrit et al., 2015)
	Picornaviridae	Enterovirus	Enterovirus A (EV-A71)	no	(Wu et al., 2004)
	Picornaviridae	Enterovirus	Enterovirus C/Poliovirus	no	(Rhim et al., 1969)
	Picornaviridae	Hepatovirus	Hepatovirus A (HAV)	no	(Sun et al., 2004)
	Togaviridae	Alphavirus	Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	yes	(Tiwari et al., 2009)
	Togaviridae	Alphavirus	Ross River virus (RRV)	yes	(Kistner et al., 2007)
	Hantaviridae	Orthohantavirus	Hantaan orthohantavirus (HTNV)	yes	(Choi et al., 2003)
	Orthomyxoviridae	Alphainfluenzavirus	Influenza virus A	yes	(Kistner et al., 1998)
	Orthomyxoviridae	Betainfluenzavirus	Influenza virus B	yes	(Kistner et al., 1998)
	Paramyxoviridae	Morbillivirus	Measles morbillivirus (MeV)	yes	(Rhim et al., 1969)
V. ccDNA	Paramyxoviridae	Morbillivirus	Peste des Petits ruminants virus (PPR)	yes	(Silva et al., 2008)
V: -SSKNA	Paramyxoviridae	Orthoavulavirus	newcastle disease virus (NDV)	yes	(Rhim et al., 1969)
	Paramyxoviridae	Orthorubulavirus	Mumps orthorubulavirus (MuV)	yes	(Rhim et al., 1969)
	Pneumoviridae	Orthopneumovirus	Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV)	yes	(Rhim et al., 1969)
	Rhabdoviridae	Lyssavirus	Rabies virus	yes	(Mendonca et al., 1993)
	Rhabdoviridae	Vesiculovirus	Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV)	yes	(Rhim et al., 1969)

Apart from Vero, other CCLs are also being used (MDCK) or considered (e.g. HEK-293, PER.C6, CAP, AGE1.CR, EB66) for the production of viral vaccines. However, the long-standing experience with the Vero cell line and its acceptance by regulatory authorities, continue to make it the substrate of choice for many vaccine manufacturers (Barrett et al., 2009; Genzel, 2015). Moreover, in direct comparison with other cell lines, Vero has shown superior virus productivity for a range of viruses, including dengue virus , enterovirus type

71, Japanese encephalitis virus, measles virus and Peste des Petits ruminants virus (Grein et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2008; Silva et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2004; Wu and Huang, 2000). For influenza virus, however, MDCK cells demonstrated superior virus production than Vero cells (Genzel et al., 2010).

Disease	Туре	Reference	
Chikungunya fever	Inactivated	(Tiwari et al., 2009)	
Dengue fever	chimeric, attenuated, live	(Blaney et al., 2007)	
Hand-foot-and-mouth disease (EV-A71)	Inactivated	(Wu et al., 2015)	
Hemorrhagic fever with	Inactivated	(Choi et al., 2003)	
renal syndrome (Hantaan virus)	mactivated		
Ross river fever	Inactivated	(Kistner et al., 2007)	
SARS	Inactivated	(Spruth et al., 2006)	
West Nile encephalitis	attenuated, live	(Monath et al., 2006)	
West Nile encephalitis	Inactivated	(Lim et al., 2008)	
Yellow fever	Inactivated	(Pereira et al., 2015)	

Table 2: Examples of studies reporting potential Vero cell-based vaccines.

Table 3: Examples	s of marketed Vero	cell-based vaccines.
-------------------	--------------------	----------------------

Disease	Vaccine	Туре
Ebola virus disease	Ervebo®	rVSV∆G-ZEBOV-GP-based, live
Influenza (pandemic)	Vepacel®	whole virion, inactivated
Influenza (seasonal)	Preflucel®	trivalent, split, inactivated
Japanese encephalitis	IMOJEV®	recombinant chimeric, attenuated, live
Japanese encephalitis	Ixiaro®	attenuated, inactivated
Poliomyelitis	IMOVAX Polio®	trivalent, whole virion, inactivated
Poliomyelitis	OPV®	attenuated, live
Rabies	VERORAB®	whole virion, inactivated
Rotavirus gastroenteritis	RotaRIX®	monovalent, attenuated, live
Rotavirus gastroenteritis	RotaTeq®	pentavalent, reassortant, live
Smallpox	ACAM2000® vaccinia-based, live	

One example of a novel viral vaccine platform that can be applied to the Vero cell line is based on the vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV). Using recombinant strains of this virus (rVSV),

where the native surface glycoprotein (VSV-G) has been replaced by the surface glycoprotein of another virus, antigens of other viruses can be administered to humans in a safer way. This is especially interesting for cases where the disease-causing virus does not replicate well in cell culture or biosafety standards and protocols are too stringent to allow for efficient development of large-scale bioprocesses. As an example of this novel recombinant vaccine platform, the recently approved Ebola virus disease vaccine is based on an rVSV which expresses the Zaire Ebola virus glycoprotein (rVSV-ZEBOV) and is produced in Vero cells (Monath et al., 2019). In addition, vaccines against the acquired immune deficiency syndrome (rVSV-HIV), against Marburg virus disease (rVSV-MARV) or Lassa fever (rVSV-LASV), are currently in development (Geisbert and Feldmann, 2011; Racine et al., 2017).

However, cell culture-based viral vaccine manufacturing is challenged with the requirement to produce large quantities of virus at a relatively low cost to meet the global demand, particularly in low-income countries. Doses for marketed whole virus vaccines can be in the range of 10^6 to 10^8 viral particles, for instance 1×10^6 CCID₅₀ (RotaRIX®), 4.0- 6.3×10^6 pfu (IMOJEV®) or 7.2×10^7 pfu (Ervebo®). Hence, it is necessary to develop vaccine manufacturing processes with a high yield. Bioprocess development and optimization strategies have been proven to intensify production, decreasing manufacturing time and cost.

More recently, Vero cells are also investigated as cell substrate for the production of certain oncolytic viruses (Grein et al., 2017). In contrast to infectious disease preventing vaccines, viral oncolytic therapy fights cancer by selectively targeting and killing cancer cells through oncolytic virus replication. Examples of oncolytic viruses that could potentially be produced in Vero cells are strains of HAdV, HSV, MeV, reovirus, VACV, VSV (Twumasi-Boateng et al., 2018). The main challenge in the production of oncolytic viruses is the even greater demand of functional viral particles per treatment compared to the amount needed per vaccine dose. The demand can be compared to that from gene therapy applications, and is generally more than 1000 times higher than for vaccination (Weiss et al., 2012). For MeV based systems, for example, even $10^7 - 10^8$ times more MeV particles are required for oncolytic therapy treatment of one patient than for one vaccine dose (Grein et al., 2017). Therefore, reaching higher production yields is even more crucial for the implementation and establishment of this new treatment technology.

In the following, this work focusses on the use of the Vero cell line as a platform for the production of viral vectors and vaccines. The literature of Vero cell upstream bioprocess development is reviewed with respect to current trends and strategies to intensify virus production.

Cell line engineering to increase cell-specific virus productivity

Independently of the cultivation mode, increasing the cell specific virus productivity is required to improve the Vero cell line as a substrate. In recent years, RNAi and CRISPR screens have been conducted to search for target genes that upon knockdown or knockout would increase the production of viruses in cell culture. These studies use RNAi or CRISPR libraries that are targeted towards the human gene sequence. Libraries that are designed for the Vero cell line do not exist to this date and impede whole genome-wide studies of this cell line. One of the obstacles is the lack of an annotated genome. A draft sequence of the Vero genome has been published (Osada et al., 2014), but detailed genomic information is still not available.

An alternative method to search for gene sequences of interest in the Vero cell genome is to refer to the corresponding sequences in the *Chlorocebus sabaeus* genome (NCBI assembly accession: GCF_000409795.2) (Warren et al., 2015). However, difficulties in genetic engineering approaches arise since many changes in the Vero cell genome occurred with respect to its ancestral origin, hence an annotated whole genome of the Vero cell line is desired. For example, similar efforts have been made in this context for the CHO-K1 cell line, where genetic engineering tools such as CRISPR can be readily applied (NCBI assembly accession: GCF_000223135.1) (Schmieder et al., 2018; Shin and Lee, 2020).

Despite these obstacles, a study investigated the potential of genetic engineering applied to the Vero cell line to reduce the manufacturing cost of viral vaccines (van der Sanden et al., 2016). A primary genome wide RNAi screen was performed in a human cell line. Upon gene knockdown, poliovirus production was shown to be increased. The top gene hits were then validated in Vero cells and a significant increase of viral titer was reported. These exciting results indicated the potential on cell-based vaccine manufacturing and resulted in follow-up studies (Murray et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2017). Similar to the original work, these studies

investigated the application of gene knockdown or knockout for the increase of production of other viruses in Vero cells. All these studies were conducted at small scale in tissue culture well-plates. When the work was scaled-up to T-flasks and microcarrier cultures and applied to a different Vero cell line, the results could not be repeated (Hoeksema et al., 2018). The authors highlighted the problems they were facing with regard to the availability of genomic information of the Vero cell line. The RNAi and CRISPR constructs targeting the Vero cell line in the work by van der Sanden et al. were designed using the human gene sequences, while Hoeksema et al. designed gRNAs with regard to the draft Vero genome (Osada et al., 2014). Nevertheless, it was only possible to validate gene target hits that were identified by using a RNAi library targeting the human gene sequence.

To further study the application of these novel genetic engineering technologies to the Vero cell line, tools need to be developed to carry out such screens that are tailored to the Vero genome. Moreover, to study the apparent problem of the difference of knockdown versus knockout effects, a fully annotated Vero genome would enable the application of transcriptomics as well as next-generation sequencing and gene editing tools. In addition, different Vero strains are being used and an annotated genome is needed to compare those and explain the difference in results of experiments in those cell lines.

Bioprocess development for the production of viruses

In general, the cell culture-based process for virus production can be divided into two parts, the upstream and the downstream process. At first, cells are cultivated to generate enough substrate during the cell expansion phase. The cells are then infected to initiate the virus replication phase. Once the virus production has been completed and a peak in virus concentration has been reached, the downstream process begins by harvesting the culture. Typically, this is followed by steps of clarification, virus inactivation, virus purification and final product formulation (Barrett et al., 2017).

To reduce the overall manufacturing cost, the goal from an upstream bioprocess development standpoint is to establish a process with optimized viral productivity. Given this, a guiding principle is that the more cells are available as substrate, the more virus can be produced. Furthermore, the aim is to keep the cells in the best physiological state for virus production. Therefore, the main goal of upstream process development is to generate as much cell material as possible while maintaining the cells at a state of optimal virus productivity. This can be achieved by optimizing the time of infection (TOI) and process control is responsible for maintaining optimal conditions important for cell growth and viability. Examples of process parameters are temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen, osmolality, shear stress and nutrient supply (Tapia et al., 2016).

Virus production begins with the infection of the culture which is carried out by addition of a quantified virus stock solution at a pre-determined multiplicity of infection (MOI), which is the ratio of virus particles per cell at the TOI. The virus attachment and entry into the cell is a critical step. It depends on specific properties of cell-virus interaction, and additional process changes might be required, such as lowering the pH, reducing the temperature or changing the agitation rate (Frazatti-Gallina et al., 2001; Trabelsi et al., 2005).

Then, during the replication phase, the host cell's machinery is taken over for the production of viral particles and optimal process conditions are still essential to yield the best quality product possible. Once the intracellular viral replication is complete, cellular resources like nucleic acids, amino acids and cell membrane will be depleted, ultimately leading to cell death and concluding the upstream process part (Ursache et al., 2015).

Vero cells are typically grown adherently. Therefore, adapted bioprocesses for adherent cultures need to be implemented. The initial stages in developing an adherent process are usually performed in cell culture well plates and T-flasks. These cultures are incubated in static incubators with control over temperature, CO₂-level and humidity. When passaging, cells need to be detached from the surface which is typically done using enzymatic solutions such as trypsin. After detachment, cells are centrifuged, resuspended in fresh medium and seeded in a new vessel. These small-scale cultures can be observed under the microscope to examine the cells and monitor the cell growth. Besides, exchanging the medium is easy and multiple conditions can be tested at the same time for optimization purposes.

To increase the number of cells, scale-out by increasing the surface area employs larger T-flasks, multilayer systems or roller bottles. However, at larger scales or when handling multiple vessels simultaneously, cell passaging and virus harvest can become quite laborious. In addition, options for process monitoring and control are very limited. Nevertheless, these technologies are still in use for the production of well-established

vaccines or part of the seed train for the generation of cell substrate for large-scale systems (Gallo–Ramírez et al., 2015).

In recent years, novel fixed-bed bioreactors systems have been developed to increase the available surface area for adherent cell growth even more and to tackle process development challenges, i.e. scale-up. Here, cells adhere to a densely packed support matrix. The culture liquid is then pumped through the fixed-bed to provide the cells with oxygen and nutrients. As a result, cells are not in contact with gas bubbles that occur during sparging as in stirred-tank bioreactors. Shear stress is reduced and negligible within the fixed-bed as compared to agitation-induced shear stress from impellers. Perfusion application requires no cell retention system and eliminates the risk of fouling of such filters.

There are many types of fixed-bed bioreactor systems, and no system has prevailed so far. For example, Vero cells have been successfully cultivated and used for virus production on packed Fibra-Cel® disks (Knop and Harrell, 2007), in a packed-bed BelloCell oscillating bioreactor (Toriniwa and Komiya, 2007), iCellis® bioreactor (Rajendran et al., 2014) and scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed bioreactors (Berrie et al., 2020; Kiesslich et al., 2020).

Scale-up to generate large manufacturing lots in fixed-bed bioreactors has been demonstrated for adenoviral and lentiviral vector production in HEK293 cells using the commercial sized iCellis® 500 (Leinonen et al., 2019; Lesch et al., 2015), indicating that this technology presents a feasible option for adherent cell-based processes.

Microcarrier process development

Cell expansion on microcarriers

The vast majority of adherent Vero cell bioprocesses in agitated systems is carried out using the microcarrier technology. Here, cells are attached to beads that are designed to be maintained in suspension in the agitated culture. There are many types of microcarriers, which are mainly divided into solid and macroporous ones and differing in their surface properties. Several studies have compared different types of microcarriers for the propagation of Vero cells (Arifin et al., 2010; Berry et al., 1999; Ng et al., 1996; Rourou et al., 2009a; Souza et al., 2005; White and Ades, 1990; Yokomizo et al., 2004). In reality, the use of Cytodex 1 microcarriers has prevailed in the last decade (Genzel et al., 2010; Grein et al., 2018; Rourou et al., 2014; Sousa et al., 2019; Thomassen et al., 2013b). Cytodex 1 microcarriers are solid, dextran-based microcarriers displaying a charged surface that are on average 180 μ m in diameter. Nevertheless, novel microcarriers for the growth for Vero cells are being studied (Kurokawa and Sato, 2011; Sun et al., 2015).

Cell attachment to microcarriers during the inoculation of the culture has been studied under different conditions such as cell to carrier ratio (Mendonça and Pereira, 1995; Souza et al., 2005; Yokomizo et al., 2004), media components (Mendonça et al., 1999; Souza et al., 2005), stirring speed (Ng et al., 1996) or reduced volume (Mattos et al., 2015). Recently, advanced PAT has been used to observe the attachment process (Grein et al., 2018). On the contrary, cell detachment from microcarriers *in situ* has been studied for the purpose of scale-up and seed-train improvement (Rourou et al., 2013; Sousa et al., 2019).

The microcarrier technology can be carried out in stirred-tank bioreactors. One advantage of bioreactors is that the process parameters can be scaled up to larger sized bioreactors. In contrast to scale-out, using consecutively larger vessels until the final production stage is expected to reduce operational cost. Moreover, the usage of bioreactors for animal cell culture has been established with many different configurations available and is suitable for large-scale operation. In addition, scale-down approaches can be used to carry out process optimization experiments on a smaller and more cost-effective scale, which in turn can be directly translated to improve the large scale-process (Gallo–Ramírez et al., 2015).

Additionally, stirred-tank bioreactors provide the option of applying a wide range of process analytical technology and process control strategies. A key point is that controlled mixing at a constant rate keeps the culture homogeneous. Cells, nutrients and dissolved gases are distributed evenly, minimizing local limitations of any component and allowing for accurate measurement of process parameters throughout (e.g. temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen). In addition to the online monitoring of the culture, bioreactors allow for sampling of small volumes for offline analyses without disturbing the culture (e.g. cell count, metabolite concentration).

Process scale-up in bioreactors using microcarriers has been established. The first large scale process involving Vero cells growing on microcarriers was developed for the production of a whole inactivated poliovirus vaccine almost 40 years ago (Montagnon et al.,

1981) and culture systems for virus production of up to 6000 L have been developed thus far (Barrett et al., 2017). The development of a seed train for scale-up has been described for final volumes of 20 L, 200 L, 500 L and up to 1200 L (Kistner et al., 1998; Sousa et al., 2019; Sugawara et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2015).

Especially at these large scales, hydrodynamic shear forces on the cells associated with the agitation rate can have a significant effect on the cells. Therefore, the effect of stirring speed on the growth of Vero cells grown on microcarriers has been investigated (Ng et al., 1996; Souza et al., 2005; Wu and Huang, 2000). In general, agitation needs to be high enough to keep microcarriers suspended in culture and to ensure homogenous mixing as well as sufficient gas transfer. At the same time, stirring should be maintained at a minimum since high agitation rates can impair cell growth significantly due to shear stress. Further, it was found that surface aeration can improve cell growth as compared to sparging due to reduced shear stress. However, poloxamer-based shear protectant agents can protect Vero cells, which can be especially important when sparging is required due to a higher demand of oxygen (Rourou et al., 2009a, 2007). In this context, one study looked at the use of two impellers instead of one as well as a reduced dissolved oxygen set point. As a result, there was less formation of foam and aggregates and the required amount of sparging was decreased, ultimately reducing the shear stress on the cells (Mattos et al., 2015).

The cell density in adherent processes is limited, amongst other things, by the surface area, which is determined by the total number of microcarriers. The use of different concentrations of Cytodex 1 microcarriers has been studied, with concentrations ranging from 1.5 to 10 g/L. While on the one hand higher microcarrier concentrations consistently lead to higher cell densities, technical challenges such as oxygen and nutrient limitations occur on the other hand. Additionally, a higher frequency of direct bead to bead interactions can impair cell growth (Mattos et al., 2015; Mendonça and Pereira, 1998, 1995; Trabelsi et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2004). For example, in batch mode, cell densities of 2.1×10^6 cells/mL, 2.6×10^6 cells/mL and 3.6×10^6 cells/mL have been reached on Cytodex 1 at microcarrier concentrations of 2 g/L, 3 g/L and 6 g/L, respectively (Kiesslich et al., 2020; Rourou et al., 2007; Trabelsi et al., 2006).

In contrast, a process in perfusion mode can lead to higher cell densities than batch mode. During perfusion, fresh medium is constantly added to the culture and spent medium is removed at the same rate. This can be applied to a microcarrier processes by implementing retention systems such as spin filters. In this case, microcarriers can be separated from the culture liquid easier compared to single cells in suspension cell cultures. Direct comparison between batch and perfusion mode has been studied extensively and demonstrated higher Vero cell densities for perfusion cultures, as it can, for example, sustain sufficient substrate levels for prolonged time and reduce amounts of inhibiting by-products (Mendonça and Pereira, 1998, 1995; Rourou et al., 2007; Sousa et al., 2019; Thomassen et al., 2014; Trabelsi et al., 2006, 2005). Maximum cell densities of 2.1 × 10⁶ cells/mL, 4.7 × 10⁶ cells/mL and 7.8 × 10⁶ cells/mL have been reported for perfusion processes on Cytodex 1 at a microcarrier concentration of 2 g/L, 3 g/L and 10 g/L, respectively (Mendonça and Pereira, 1998; Sun et al., 2015; Trabelsi et al., 2005). In recirculation mode, where the outlet medium of a perfused culture is pumped into the feeding container, even higher cell densities of 5.5×10^6 cells/mL and 10.1×10^6 cells/mL have been reported at a Cytodex 1 concentration of 3 g/L and 6 g/L, respectively (Rourou et al., 2009a; Trabelsi et al., 2006).

Providing the cells with the right amount of nutrients is a complex task, especially at high cell densities. On one hand, studies have been carried out to compare the effect of different kinds of media on Vero cell growth (Arifin et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2011; Frazatti-Gallina et al., 2001). In particular, Vero cell growth was compared between serum-containing and serum-free conditions on microcarriers (Butler et al., 2000; Frazatti-Gallina et al., 2001; Mendonça et al., 1999; Merten et al., 1994; Quesney et al., 2003, 2001). Additionally, the development and improvement of serum-free medium for Vero cells has been described (Butler et al., 2000; Petiot et al., 2010b; Rourou et al., 2009b). Overall, the use of serum-free media has prevailed and is preferred by vaccine manufacturers due to regulatory concerns regarding the risk of contamination. Additionally, the undefined nature and lot-to-lot variation of serum make it an unattractive substrate in the pharmaceutical industry.

On the other hand, when looking more closely at the metabolic level, studies have investigated the use of different substrates and feeding strategies to increase Vero cell growth and viability (Mendonça et al., 2002; Mendonça and Pereira, 1998; Nahapetian et al., 1986; Petiot et al., 2010c; Trabelsi et al., 2006, 2005). The main metabolites in Vero cell culture are glucose, glutamine, glutamate, lactate and ammonia. Analyzing their consumption and formation, respectively, contributed to the evaluation of process development of bioprocesses at different scales (Thomassen et al., 2013b), different culture modes (Thomassen et al., 2014) or between different bioreactor systems (Kiesslich et al., 2020; Thomassen et al., 2012a). Further, it can be used to ensure that the cell growth rate is not impaired by limiting or inhibiting levels of metabolites, for example by feeding additional nutrients or adjusting the perfusion rate depending on residual substrate concentration (Sun et al., 2015).

Moreover, a method was developed to correlate glucose and lactate concentrations to measurements of near-infrared spectroscopy in cell culture media during bioreactor process. The study made use of optic fiber probes for *in situ* monitoring which could advance feeding strategies even further (Petiot et al., 2010a). Similarly, the online monitoring of the cell density has been studied recently. Here, dielectric spectroscopy can be used to measure cell growth and death in bioreactor cultures (El-Wajgali et al., 2013; Grein et al., 2018, 2017; Petiot et al., 2012).

Virus production in microcarrier cultures

Next to intensifying the cell expansion phase to obtain a high quantity and quality of cell substrate, establishing a microcarrier process that yields in a viral titer that is as high as possible is crucial. Similar to the previous section, different types of microcarriers have been studied for virus production as well. In direct comparison, it depends on the virus which type of microcarrier leads to a higher titer in Vero. For example, the use of porous microcarriers yielded in a slightly higher titer for rabies virus production (Yokomizo et al., 2004). In contrast, and despite higher cell densities, lower titers were produced on porous carriers for reovirus compared to production on solid ones (Berry et al., 1999). However, the use of non-porous Cytodex 1 has also prevailed in the virus production phase, which can be linked to its dominant use in the cell expansion phase as described above. In addition, the microcarrier concentration can be optimized specifically for the virus production phase, as shown for enterovirus type 71(Wu et al., 2004).

Especially for enveloped viruses, production in bioreactors can be affected by shear forces due to agitation and sparging. For instance, Grein et al. found that measles virus is highly sensitive to shear stress in bioreactors. Under certain conditions, sparging and agitation reduced viral titers 1000-fold. Here, as a solution, headspace aeration was able to

provide enough oxygen to the Vero cell culture while reducing shear-induced impact from sparging (Grein et al., 2019).

Reduced agitation rates, such as intermittent stirring, were found to improve reovirus production when applied during the initial virus infection phase, promoting virus-cell attachment (Berry et al., 1999). Nevertheless, this strategy can also decrease Vero cell growth, which is likely caused by a resulting oxygen limitation due to insufficient mixing, as found in a yellow fever virus study (Souza et al., 2009). Another successful strategy to enhance virus-cell attachment for reovirus und yellow fever virus was to reduce the working volume temporarily during the beginning of infection (Berry et al., 1999; Mattos et al., 2015; Souza et al., 2009).

Reducing the process temperature when entering the virus production phase has been a common strategy in Vero processes. Typically, rabies virus (Rourou et al., 2009a, 2007; Trabelsi et al., 2006, 2005) and rVSV (Kiesslich et al., 2020) production is carried out at 34 °C, whereas poliovirus (Thomassen et al., 2014, 2013a) favors production at 32.5 °C and measles virus (Weiss et al., 2015) and enterovirus type 71 (Liu et al., 2018, 2007; Wu et al., 2004) prefer 32 °C.

In contrast, establishing the optimal MOI is a highly virus-specific issue and needs to be determined case-by-case in preliminary experiments. However, a general strategy is to choose an MOI with the best trade-off between high final titer, short production timeline and conservation of virus stock (Kiesslich et al., 2020; Thomassen et al., 2013a; Yuk et al., 2006).

In this context, the TOI is another critical aspect. Typically seen as the time between cell seeding and cell infection, it corresponds to the cell density at infection, and as a general principle many processes are infected during the late exponential growth phase of the cells.

As described above, the cell expansion phase generally aims at providing a high cell density environment, assuming that with more cells being available as substrate, more virus can be produced. However, the condition of the cell substrate needs to be taken into account and the TOI carefully be selected. For example, it was found that in poliovirus processes, higher Vero cell densities lead to lower cell specific poliovirus D-antigen levels, a measure of the immunogenicity of the produced virus quantified by ELISA and indicator of product quality. Despite, the overall D-antigen yield was still increased at higher cell density (Thomassen et al., 2014). This cell density effect has also been observed for a chimeric virus

production in Vero (Yuk et al., 2006). Trabelsi et al. even found that for the RM-65 sheep pox virus, infection at the time of cell seeding resulted in the highest Vero cell specific virus productivity (Trabelsi et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, reaching high cell densities is a widely used approach and in particular perfusion processes have been explored extensively. While perfusion during the cell expansion phase can increase the cell density by retaining cells within the system, retaining virus is rather difficult due to its smaller size. Hence, perfusion mode during the virus production phase leads to a continuous harvest of the product. In the case of enterovirus type 71, perfusion with continuous harvest increased production yields by more than 7-14 fold compared to batch mode in Vero cells (Liu et al., 2018). Similarly, for measles and rabies virus production, continuous harvest during perfusion improved overall production yields compared to batch mode, although viral titers were not significantly different (Trabelsi et al., 2006; Weiss et al., 2015)

While continuously supplying fresh and complete growth medium during perfusion is one option, another strategy is to feed only selected nutrients to the culture to improve virus production. For example, feeding of nutrients during the virus replication phase has been shown to increase the Vero cell specific poliovirus production (Merten et al., 1997). In a measles virus production process, feeding with galactose and glutamine increased virus production (Mendonça et al., 2002). Moreover, feeding of glucose and glutamine even improved titers 30-fold in the case of enterovirus type 71 (Wu et al., 2004). In addition to supplying optimized amounts of nutrients to the cell, the metabolic state of the cells can play an important role with regard to high cell specific virus productivities. One study found that a higher cellular energy status in terms of ATP and adenylate concentrations is beneficial for reovirus production in Vero cells (Burgener et al., 2006).

At last, determining the optimal time of harvest (TOH) is a critical bioprocess challenge. The TOH could be determined in preliminary experiments and then assumed to be consistent in subsequent production runs. In biological systems, however, individual runs can vary quite significantly, and processes are consequently monitored continuously regarding indicative parameters such us cell density, nutrient consumption, metabolic byproduct formation or cytopathic effect to conclude when to harvest. To monitor the progression of virus replication in Vero cells growing on microcarriers more sophisticated, dielectric
spectroscopy was successfully used in one study. The researchers were able to predict the optimal TOH based on online measurements for measles virus production (Grein et al., 2018, 2017).

In recent years, modelling of microcarrier Vero cell bioprocesses has been studied with the goal to better understand the process and improve virus production (Abbate et al., 2018; Jiang et al., 2019; Ursache et al., 2015). For example, these models can analyze different combinations of MOI and TOI and predict their impact on viral yield. Further, they can be used to study cell metabolism and infection kinetics. Such approaches can be very useful to identify process control strategies, and to compare and optimize processes. Challenges in this field are the integration of large amounts of data associated with complex culture medium composition. However, modern computational technologies becoming more accessible could enable the use of artificial intelligence and can assist with real-time process evaluation.

Suspension cultures

Perfusion culture mode might be easier applied to adherent cultures on microcarriers or in fixed-beds, but those systems face the problem that surface area is the growth limiting factor (Genzel, 2015). In suspension cultures, cells do not run into this limitation. In addition, scale-up is carried out much easier since no trypsinization is required and suspension cultures of other mammalian cell lines such as HEK293 or CHO are established. Existing technology can be used and is readily available. Further, it is assumed that limited available surface area or cell multilayers can impair cell growth even after virus infection and reduce virus productivity (Thomassen et al., 2014).

However, adaptation of the Vero cell line to grow in suspension culture is a very challenging process. Litwin first reported Vero cells growing in suspension culture in serum-free medium as suspended aggregates (Litwin, 1992). However, cell aggregates are not the optimal condition because of arising diffusional barriers for substrates, metabolites and products. Hence, a single-cell suspension culture is much preferred (Dee and Shuler, 1997).

Paillet et al. reported the successful adaptation of Vero cells to grow in single cell suspension culture. Bioreactor processes in batch and perfusion mode were developed and

36

the production of viruses was demonstrated in those systems (Paillet et al., 2009). However, this system was not further exploited. A decade later, new efforts were made and two other lab groups described the adaptation of Vero cells to grow in serum-free suspension cultures (Rourou et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2019). Shen et al. demonstrated the operation of batch and perfusion bioreactors, including biomass monitoring via capacitance, as well as rVSV production in this system.

Although these reports indicate successful progress, more research needs to be done to improve the Vero suspension system. Low cell growth rates with doubling times of more than 40 hours and the frequent formation of aggregates remain important issues. Media development will certainly play an important role, highlighted by the fact that no commercial media but only in-house media were able to support Vero suspension cultures (Rourou et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2019). For example, cell adhesion is heavily dependent on the concentration of the bivalent cation of calcium in the cell surrounding environment and thus media with reduced concentrations could decrease cell aggregation. In addition, finding the optimal amount of growth factors is crucial to increase growth rate.

In a study using DNA microarrays to identify genes involved in attachment of HeLa cells, it was found that an increase of expression of the *SIAT7E* gene, encoding a type II membrane glycosylating sialyltransferase, will lead to reduced adhesion, while reduced expression of the *LAMA4* gene, which is responsible for expressing the glycoprotein laminin α 4, will also result in reduced adhesion (Jaluria et al., 2007). Similarly, MDCK cells were transfected with a plasmid expressing the *SIAT7E* gene to adapt the cells to grow in suspension (Chu et al., 2009). Another study also indicates that the same strategy can be applied to Vero cells (Mehrbod et al., 2015). Upon knock-down of the gene *PTEN*, encoding a lipid phosphtase, by siRNAs, HEK293T cells also showed a loss of adhesion (Mise-Omata et al., 2005). However, based on experience from our lab, applying these strategies did not result in a working suspension Vero cell line and we assume that this challenge is too complex to be solved by singular genetic modifications.

Altogether, the development of high cell density processes and continuous operation could make the suspension cell system a successful alternative. Despite the establishment of the microcarrier and the fixed-bed bioreactor technologies, suspension cell lines remain the optimal substrate for virus production (Vlecken et al., 2013).

Conclusion

The microcarrier technology that has been industrialized presents a robust platform for the production of viruses using the Vero cell line. However, there are several challenges this platform is facing in order to achieve higher virus productivities. Compared to bioprocesses with other animal cell lines, Vero cell densities are still relatively low and generally do not exceed 10⁷ cells/mL. More in-depth research is therefore required to analyze the state of Vero cells at high cell concentrations. Novel omics technologies such as metabolomics, transcriptomics and proteomics can aid to develop strategies to provide Vero cells with the optimal environment for growth and virus production at high cell densities. In addition to this, sophisticated feeding strategies are required. Here, online monitoring of substrate and metabolite concentrations combined with direct control via feeding or perfusion rate adjustment can intensify processes.

Another critical process parameter is the TOH. Online monitoring systems using dielectric spectroscopy have demonstrated their usefulness and should be explored in more detail to optimize TOH for different viruses. In general, viruses are sensitive to culture conditions such as temperature and shear stress, and harvest at exact peak production has the potential to reduce process losses significantly. Further, modelling approaches that integrate large amounts of data and artificial intelligence are becoming more accessible with modern computational technologies and can assist with real-time process evaluation.

Successful process scale-up still requires a high level of technical expertise and knowhow. Linear scalable systems such as fixed-bed bioreactor systems or highly scalable suspension cell cultures could make processes more robust, streamlined and cost-effective.

Increasing the cell specific productivity independently of the cultivation mode, could be achieved by applying novel tools within the field of genomics and genetic engineering. However, these efforts are impaired by the fact that limited genomic data is available. Hence, the full annotation of the Vero genome is necessary.

When facing sudden outbreaks of viral diseases, processes rely mostly on the standard model and only a few virus specific parameters are tested. Hence it is of great interest to further develop the Vero cell platform for accelerated production now so that it can be readily applied and provide sufficient material when novel viruses emerge, and diseases spread for which there is currently no vaccine available. Recent reports indicate trends toward preparedness, but research activities need to be intensified. Advances in Vero genomics and further development of the suspension cell line as a platform for the high yield production of viral vectors and vaccine could therefore become significant contributions.

Acknowledgement

The authors thank Alina Venereo-Sanchez for the critical review and proofreading of the manuscript. SK is funded by a doctoral scholarship from the Fonds de Recherche du Québec – Santé (FRQS) and the project is funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Grant OVV 152411.

References

- Abbate, T., Dewasme, L., Vande Wouwer, A., 2018. Variable selection and parameter estimation of viral amplification in vero cell cultures dedicated to the production of a dengue vaccine. Biotechnol. Prog. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.2687
- Ammerman, N.C., Beier-Sexton, M., Azad, A.F., 2008. Growth and Maintenance of Vero Cell Lines. Curr Protoc Microbiol 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780471729259.mca04es11
- Arifin, M.A., Mel, M., Abdul Karim, M.I., Ideris, A., 2010. Production of newcastle disease virus by vero cells grown on cytodex 1 microcarriers in a 2-litre stirred tank bioreactor. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2010. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/586363
- Aubrit, F., Perugi, F., Léon, A., Guéhenneux, F., Champion-Arnaud, P., Lahmar, M., Schwamborn, K., 2015. Cell substrates for the production of viral vaccines. Vaccine 33, 5905–5912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.06.110
- Barrett, P.N., Mundt, W., Kistner, O., Howard, M.K., 2009. Vero cell platform in vaccine production: moving towards cell culture-based viral vaccines. Expert Rev. Vaccines 8, 607–618. https://doi.org/10.1586/erv.09.19
- Barrett, P.N., Terpening, S.J., Snow, D., Cobb, R.R., Kistner, O., 2017. Vero cell technology for rapid development of inactivated whole virus vaccines for emerging viral diseases. Expert Rev. Vaccines 16, 883–894. https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2017.1357471

- Berrie, D.M., Waters, R.C., Montoya, C., Chatel, A., Vela, E.M., 2020. Development of a highyield live-virus vaccine production platform using a novel fixed-bed bioreactor. Vaccine 38, 3639–3645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.03.041
- Berry, J.M., Barnabé, N., Coombs, K.M., Butler, M., 1999. Production of reovirus type-1 and type-3 from vero cells grown on solid and macroporous microcarriers. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 62, 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290(19990105)62:1<12::AID-BIT2>3.0.CO;2-G
- Blaney, J.E., Sathe, N.S., Hanson, C.T., Firestone, C.Y., Murphy, B.R., Whitehead, S.S., 2007. Vaccine candidates for dengue virus type 1 (DEN1) generated by replacement of the structural genes of rDEN4 and rDEN4Δ30 with those of DEN1. Virol. J. 4, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-4-23
- Burgener, A., Coombs, K., Butler, M., 2006. Intracellular ATP and total adenylate concentrations are critical predictors of reovirus productivity from vero cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 94, 667–679. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20873
- Butler, M., Burgener, A., Patrick, M., Berry, M., Moffatt, D., Huzel, N., Barnabé, N., Coombs, K., 2000. Application of a serum-free medium for the growth of Vero cells and the production of reovirus. Biotechnol. Prog. 16, 854–858. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp000110+
- Chan, J.F.W., Chan, K.H., Choi, G.K.Y., To, K.K.W., Tse, H., Cai, J.P., Yeung, M.L., Cheng, V.C.C., Chen, H., Che, X.Y., Lau, S.K.P., Woo, P.C.Y., Yuen, K.Y., 2013. Differential cell line susceptibility to the emerging novel human betacoronavirus 2c EMC/2012: Implications for disease pathogenesis and clinical manifestation. J. Infect. Dis. 207, 1743–1752. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jit123
- Chen, A., Poh, S.L., Dietzsch, C., Roethl, E., Yan, M.L., Ng, S.K., 2011. Serum-free microcarrier based production of replication deficient Influenza vaccine candidate virus lacking NS1 using Vero cells. BMC Biotechnol. 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-11-81
- Cheval, J., Muth, E., Gonzalez, G., Coulpier, M., Beurdeley, P., Cruveiller, S., Eloit, M., 2019. Adventitious Virus Detection in Cells by High-Throughput Sequencing of Newly Synthesized RNAs: Unambiguous Differentiation of Cell Infection from Carryover of Viral Nucleic Acids. mSphere 4, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1128/msphere.00298-19

- Choi, Y., Ahn, C.J., Seong, K.M., Jung, M.Y., Ahn, B.Y., 2003. Inactivated Hantaan virus vaccine derived from suspension culture of Vero cells. Vaccine 21, 1867–1873. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00005-7
- Chu, C., Lugovtsev, V., Golding, H., Betenbaugh, M.J., Shiloach, J., 2009. Conversion of MDCK cell line to suspension culture by transfecting with human siat7e gene and its application for influenza virus production. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 14802–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0905912106
- Dee, K.U., Shuler, M.L., 1997. Optimization of an assay for baculovirus titer and design of regimens for the synchronous infection of insect cells. Biotechnol. Prog. 13, 14–24. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp960086t
- El-Wajgali, A., Esteban, G., Fournier, F., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2013. Impact of microcarrier coverage on using permittivity for on-line monitoring high adherent Vero cell densities in perfusion bioreactors. Biochem. Eng. J. 70, 173–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2012.11.001
- Emeny, J.M., Morgan, M.J., 1979. Regulation of the interferon system: Evidence that vero cells have a genetic defect in interferon production. J. Gen. Virol. 43, 247–252. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-43-1-247
- Frazatti-Gallina, N.M., Paoli, R.L., Mourão-Fuches, R.M., Jorge, S.A.C., Pereira, C.A., 2001. Higher production of rabies virus in serum-free medium cell cultures on microcarriers. J. Biotechnol. 92, 67–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1656(01)00362-5
- Fukumoto, H., Hishima, T., Hasegawa, H., Saeki, H., Kuroda, M., Katano, H., 2016. Evaluation of Vero-cell-derived simian endogenous retrovirus infection in humans by detection of viral genome in clinicopathological samples and commercialized vaccines and by serology of Japanese general population. Vaccine 34, 2700–2706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.04.031
- Gallo–Ramírez, L.E., Nikolay, A., Genzel, Y., Reichl, U., 2015. Bioreactor concepts for cell culture-based viral vaccine production. Expert Rev. Vaccines 14, 1181–1195. https://doi.org/10.1586/14760584.2015.1067144
- Geisbert, T.W., Feldmann, H., 2011. Recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus-based vaccines against Ebola and marburg virus infections. J. Infect. Dis. 204, 1075–1081. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jir349

- Genzel, Y., 2015. Designing cell lines for viral vaccine production: Where do we stand? Biotechnol. J. 10, 728–740. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201400388
- Genzel, Y., Dietzsch, C., Rapp, E., Schwarzer, J., Reichl, U., 2010. MDCK and Vero cells for influenza virus vaccine production: A one-to-one comparison up to lab-scale bioreactor cultivation. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 88, 461–475. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2742-9
- Grein, T.A., Loewe, D., Dieken, H., Salzig, D., Weidner, T., Czermak, P., 2018. High titer oncolytic measles virus production process by integration of dielectric spectroscopy as online monitoring system. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 115, 1186–1194. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.26538
- Grein, T.A., Loewe, D., Dieken, H., Weidner, T., Salzig, D., Czermak, P., 2019. Aeration and Shear Stress Are Critical Process Parameters for the Production of Oncolytic Measles Virus. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 7, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00078
- Grein, T.A., Schwebel, F., Kress, M., Loewe, D., Dieken, H., Salzig, D., Weidner, T., Czermak, P., 2017. Screening different host cell lines for the dynamic production of measles virus. Biotechnol. Prog. 33, 989–997. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.2432
- Hoeksema, F., Karpilow, J., Luitjens, A., Lagerwerf, F., Havenga, M., Groothuizen, M., Gillissen, G., Lemckert, A.A.C.A.C., Jiang, B., Tripp, R.A.A., Yallop, C., 2018. Enhancing viral vaccine production using engineered knockout vero cell lines A second look. Vaccine 36, 2093–2103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.03.010
- Jaluria, P., Betenbaugh, M.J., Konstantopoulos, K., Frank, B., Shiloach, J., 2007. Application of microarrays to identify and characterize genes involved in attachment dependence in HeLa cells. Metab. Eng. 9, 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2006.12.001
- Jiang, Y., van der Welle, J.E., Rubingh, O., van Eikenhorst, G., Bakker, W.A.M., Thomassen, Y.E., 2019. Kinetic model for adherent Vero cell growth and poliovirus production in batch bioreactors. Process Biochem. 81, 156–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2019.03.010
- Kiesslich, S., Losa, J.P.V., Gélinas, J., Kamen, A.A., 2020. Serum-free production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells: Microcarrier bioreactor versus scale-X TM hydro fixed-bed. J. Biotechnol. 310, 32–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2020.01.015

- Kistner, O., Barrett, N., Brühmann, A., Reiter, M., Mundt, W., Savidis-Dacho, H., Schober-Bendixen, S., Dorner, F., Aaskov, J., 2007. The preclinical testing of a formaldehyde inactivated Ross River virus vaccine designed for use in humans. Vaccine 25, 4845–4852. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.103
- Kistner, O., Barrett, P.N., Mundt, W., Reiter, M., Schober-Bendixen, S., Dorner, F., 1998. Development of a mammalian cell (Vero) derived candidate influenza virus vaccine. Vaccine 16, 960–968. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(97)00301-0
- Knop, D.R., Harrell, H., 2007. Bioreactor production of recombinant herpes simplex virus vectors. Biotechnol. Prog. 23, 715–721. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp060373p
- Kurokawa, M., Sato, S., 2011. Growth and poliovirus production of Vero cells on a novel microcarrier with artificial cell adhesive protein under serum-free conditions. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 111, 600–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2010.12.018
- Leinonen, H.M., Lipponen, E.M., Valkama, A.J., Hynynen, H., Oruetxebarria, I., Turkki, V., Olsson, V., Kurkipuro, J., Samaranayake, H., Määttä, A.M., Parker, N.R., Ylä-Herttuala, S., Lesch, H.P., 2019. Preclinical Proof-of-Concept, Analytical Development, and Commercial Scale Production of Lentiviral Vector in Adherent Cells. Mol. Ther. - Methods Clin. Dev. 15, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtm.2019.08.006
- Lesch, H.P., Heikkilä, K.M., Lipponen, E.M., Valonen, P., Müller, A., Räsänen, E., Tuunanen, T., Hassinen, M.M., Parker, N., Karhinen, M., Shaw, R., Ylä-Herttuala, S., 2015. Process Development of Adenoviral Vector Production in Fixed Bed Bioreactor: From Bench to Commercial Scale. Hum. Gene Ther. 26, 560–71. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2015.081
- Lim, C.K., Takasaki, T., Kotaki, A., Kurane, I., 2008. Vero cell-derived inactivated West Nile (WN) vaccine induces protective immunity against lethal WN virus infection in mice and shows a facilitated neutralizing antibody response in mice previously immunized with Japanese encephalitis vaccine. Virology 374, 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2007.12.021
- Litwin, J., 1992. The growth of Vero cells as suspended aggregates in serum-free medium, Animal Cell Technology. Butterworth-Heinemann. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-7506-0421-5.50096-9

43

- Liu, C.C., Lee, S.C., Butler, M., Wu, S.C., 2008. High genetic stability of dengue virus propagated in MRC-5 cells as compared to the virus propagated in vero cells. PLoS One 3. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001810
- Liu, C.C., Lian, W.C., Butler, M., Wu, S.C., 2007. High immunogenic enterovirus 71 strain and its production using serum-free microcarrier Vero cell culture. Vaccine 25, 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.06.083
- Liu, C.C., Wu, S.C., Wu, S.R., Lin, H.Y., Guo, M.S., Yung-Chih Hu, A., Chow, Y.H., Chiang, J.R., Shieh,
 D. Bin, Chong, P., 2018. Enhancing enterovirus A71 vaccine production yield by microcarrier profusion bioreactor culture. Vaccine 36, 3134–3139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.02.042
- Ma, H., Ma, Y., Ma, W., Williams, D.K., Galvin, T.A., Khan, A.S., 2011. Chemical Induction of Endogenous Retrovirus Particles from the Vero Cell Line of African Green Monkeys. J. Virol. 85, 6579–6588. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00147-11
- Ma, X., Ph, D., Wang, D., Ph, D., Xu, W., Wu, G., Gao, G.F., Phil, D., Tan, W., Ph, D., 2020. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019 727–733. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017
- Mattos, D.A., Silva, M. V., Gaspar, L.P., Castilho, L.R., 2015. Increasing Vero viable cell densities for yellow fever virus production in stirred-tank bioreactors using serum-free medium. Vaccine 33, 4288–4291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.050
- Mehrbod, P., Fotouhi, F., G, I.M., Mohammadpour, A., Farahmand, B., 2015. Comparison of Vero and MDCK cell lines transfected with human siat7e gene for conversion to suspension culture. Vaccine Res. 2, 69–73.
- Mendonça, R.Z., Arrózio, S.J., Antoniazzi, M.M., Ferreira, J.M.C., Pereira, C.A., 2002. Metabolic active-high density VERO cell cultures on microcarriers following apoptosis prevention by galactose/glutamine feeding. J. Biotechnol. 97, 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1656(02)00048-2
- Mendonca, R.Z., Ioshimoto, L.M., Mendonca, R.M.Z., De-Franca, M., Valentini, E.J.G., Becak, W., Raw, I., Pereira, C.A., 1993. Preparation of human rabies vaccine in VERO cell culture using a microcarrier system. Brazilian J. Med. Biol. Res. 26, 1305–1319.

- Mendonça, R.Z., Pereira, C.A., 1998. Cell metabolism and medium perfusion in VERO cell cultures on microcarriers in a bioreactor. Bioprocess Eng. 18, 213–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004490050433
- Mendonça, R.Z., Pereira, C.A., 1995. High density VERO cell culture on microcarriers in a cell bioreactor. Bioprocess Eng. 12, 279–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00369503
- Mendonça, R.Z., Prado, J.C.M., Pereira, C.A., 1999. Attachment, spreading and growth of VERO cells on microcarriers for the optimization of large scale cultures. Bioprocess Eng. 20, 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004490050630
- Merten, O.W., Kierulff, J. V., Castignolles, N., Perrin, P., 1994. Evaluation of the new serumfree medium (MDSS2) for the production of different biologicals: Use of various cell lines. Cytotechnology 14, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00772195
- Merten, O.W., Wu, R., Couvé, E., Crainic, R., 1997. Evaluation of the serum-free medium MDSS2 for the production of poliovirus on Vero cells in bioreactors. Cytotechnology 25, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007999313566
- Mise-Omata, S., Obata, Y., Iwase, S., Mise, N., Doi, T.S., 2005. Transient strong reduction of PTEN expression by specific RNAi induces loss of adhesion of the cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 328, 1034–1042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.01.066
- Monath, T.P., Fast, P.E., Modjarrad, K., Clarke, D.K., Martin, B.K., Fusco, J., Nichols, R., Heppner, D.G., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A.A., Robertson, J.S., Gray Heppner, D., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A.A., Robertson, J.S., 2019. rVSVΔG-ZEBOV-GP (also designated V920) Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Pseudotyped with Ebola Zaire Glycoprotein: Standardized Template with Key Considerations for a Risk/Benefit Assessment. Vaccine X 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvacx.2019.100009
- Monath, T.P., Liu, J., Kanesa-Thasan, N., Myers, G.A., Nichols, R., Deary, A., McCarthy, K., Johnson, C., Ermak, T., Shin, S., Arroyo, J., Guirakhoo, F., Kennedy, J.S., Ennis, F.A., Green, S., Bedford, P., 2006. A live, attenuated recombinant West Nile virus vaccine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 6694–6699. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0601932103
- Montagnon, B.J., Fanget, B., Nicolas, A.J., 1981. The large-scale cultivation of VERO cells in micro-carrier culture for virus vaccine production. Preliminary results for killed poliovirus vaccine. Dev. Biol. Stand. 47, 55–64.

- Murray, J., Todd, K. V., Bakre, A., Orr-Burks, N., Jones, L., Wu, W., Tripp, R.A., 2017. A universal mammalian vaccine cell line substrate. PLoS One 12, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188333
- Nahapetian, A.T., Thomas, J.N., Thilly, W.G., 1986. Optimization of environment for high density Vero cell culture: effect of dissolved oxygen and nutrient supply on cell growth and changes in metabolites. J. Cell Sci. 81, 65–103.
- Ng, Y.C., Berry, J.M., Butler, M., 1996. Optimization of physical parameters for cell attachment and growth on macroporous microcarriers. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 50, 627–635. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290(19960620)50:6<627::AID-BIT3>3.0.CO;2-M
- Nikolay, A., Castilho, L.R., Reichl, U., Genzel, Y., 2018. Propagation of Brazilian Zika virus strains in static and suspension cultures using Vero and BHK cells. Vaccine 36, 3140– 3145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.03.018
- Osada, N., Kohara, A., Yamaji, T., Hirayama, N., Kasai, F., Sekizuka, T., Kuroda, M., Hanada, K., 2014. The Genome Landscape of the African Green Monkey Kidney-Derived Vero Cell Line. DNA Res. 21, 673–683. https://doi.org/10.1093/dnares/dsu029
- Paillet, C., Forno, G., Kratje, R., Etcheverrigaray, M., 2009. Suspension-Vero cell cultures as a platform for viral vaccine production. Vaccine 27, 6464–6467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.06.020
- Pereira, R.C., Silva, A.N.M.R., Souza, M.C.O., Silva, M. V., Neves, P.P.C.C., Silva, A.A.M. V, Matos, D.D.C.S., Herrera, M.A.O., Yamamura, A.M.Y., Freire, M.S., Gaspar, L.P., Caride, E., 2015. An inactivated yellow fever 17DD vaccine cultivated in Vero cell cultures. Vaccine 33, 4261– 4268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.03.077
- Petiot, E., Bernard-Moulin, P., Magadoux, T., Gény, C., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2010a. In situ quantification of microcarrier animal cell cultures using near-infrared spectroscopy. Process Biochem. 45, 1832–1836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2010.08.010
- Petiot, E., El-Wajgali, A., Esteban, G., Gény, C., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2012. Real-time monitoring of adherent Vero cell density and apoptosis in bioreactor processes. Cytotechnology 64, 429–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-011-9421-2
- Petiot, E., Fournier, F., Gény, C., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2010b. Rapid Screening of Serum-Free Media for the Growth of Adherent Vero Cells by Using a Small-Scale and Non-invasive

Tool. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 160, 1600–1615. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-009-8674-0

- Petiot, E., Guedon, E., Blanchard, F., Gény, C., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2010c. Kinetic characterization of Vero cell metabolism in a serum-free batch culture process. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 107, 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.22783
- Quesney, S., Marc, A., Gerdil, C., Gimenez, C., Marvel, J., Richard, Y., Meignier, B., 2003. Kinetics and metabolic specificities of Vero cells in bioreactor cultures with serum-free medium. Cytotechnology 42, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026185615650
- Quesney, S., Marvel, J., Marc, A., Gerdil, C., Meignier, B., 2001. Characterization of Vero cell growth and death in bioreactor with serum-containing and serum-free media. Cytotechnology 35, 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017589526145
- Racine, T., Kobinger, G.P., Arts, E.J., 2017. Development of an HIV vaccine using a vesicular stomatitis virus vector expressing designer HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins to enhance humoral responses. AIDS Res. Ther. 14, 2–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12981-017-0179-2
- Rajendran, R., Lingala, R., Vuppu, S.K., Bandi, B.O., Manickam, E., Macherla, S.R., Dubois, S., Havelange, N., Maithal, K., 2014. Assessment of packed bed bioreactor systems in the production of viral vaccines. AMB Express 4, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-014-0025-z
- Rhim, J.S., Schell, K., Creasy, B., Case, W., 1969. Biological Characteristics and Viral Susceptibility of an African Green Monkey Kidney Cell Line (Vero). Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 132, 670–678. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-132-34285
- Rourou, S., Ben Ayed, Y., Trabelsi, K., Majoul, S., Kallel, H., 2014. An animal component free medium that promotes the growth of various animal cell lines for the production of viral vaccines. Vaccine 32, 2767–2769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.02.040
- Rourou, S., Ben Zakkour, M., Kallel, H., 2019. Adaptation of Vero cells to suspension growth for rabies virus production in different serum free media. Vaccine 37, 6987–6995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.05.092
- Rourou, S., Riahi, N., Majoul, S., Trabelsi, K., Kallel, H., 2013. Development of an in situ detachment protocol of Vero cells grown on Cytodex1 microcarriers under animal

component-free conditions in stirred bioreactor. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 170, 1724– 1737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-013-0307-y

- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., Majoul, S., Trabelsi, K., Van Der Velden, T., Kallel, H., 2009a. A novel animal-component-free medium for rabies virus production in Vero cells grown on Cytodex 1 microcarriers in a stirred bioreactor. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 85, 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-009-2064-y
- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., van der Velden, T., Kallel, H., 2009b. Development of an animalcomponent free medium for vero cells culture. Biotechnol. Prog. 25, 1752–1761. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.279
- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., van der Velden, T., Kallel, H., 2007. A microcarrier cell culture process for propagating rabies virus in Vero cells grown in a stirred bioreactor under fully animal component free conditions. Vaccine 25, 3879–3889. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.086
- Sakuma, C., Sekizuka, T., Kuroda, M., Kasai, F., Saito, K., Ikeda, M., Yamaji, T., Osada, N., Hanada, K., 2018. Novel endogenous simian retroviral integrations in Vero cells: implications for quality control of a human vaccine cell substrate. Sci. Rep. 8, 644. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-18934-2
- Schmieder, V., Bydlinski, N., Strasser, R., Baumann, M., Kildegaard, H.F., Jadhav, V., Borth, N., 2018. Enhanced Genome Editing Tools For Multi-Gene Deletion Knock-Out Approaches Using Paired CRISPR sgRNAs in CHO Cells. Biotechnol. J. 13, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201700211
- Shen, C.F., Guilbault, C., Li, X., Elahi, S.M., Ansorge, S., Kamen, A.A., Gilbert, R., 2019. Development of suspension adapted Vero cell culture process technology for production of viral vaccines. Vaccine 37, 6996–7002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.07.003
- Shin, S.W., Lee, J.S., 2020. Optimized CRISPR / Cas9 strategy for homology directed multiple targeted integration of transgenes in CHO cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 117, 1895–1903. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.27315
- Silva, A.C., Delgado, I., Sousa, M.F.Q., Carrondo, M.J.T., Alves, P.M., 2008. Scalable culture systems using different cell lines for the production of Peste des Petits ruminants vaccine. Vaccine 26, 3305–3311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.03.077

- Sousa, M., Fenge, C., Rupprecht, J., Tappe, A., Greller, G., Alves, P., Carrondo, M., Roldão, A., 2019. Process intensification for Peste des Petites Ruminants Virus vaccine production. Vaccine 37, 7041–7051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.07.009
- Souza, M.C.D.O., Da Silva Freire, M., Castilho, L.R., 2005. Influence of culture conditions on vero cell propagation on non-porous microcarriers. Brazilian Arch. Biol. Technol. 48, 71– 77. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-89132005000400009
- Souza, M.C.O., Freire, M.S., Schulze, E.A., Gaspar, L.P., Castilho, L.R., 2009. Production of yellow fever virus in microcarrier-based Vero cell cultures. Vaccine 27, 6420–6423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.06.023
- Spruth, M., Kistner, O., Savidis-Dacho, H., Hitter, E., Crowe, B.A., Gerencer, M., Brühl, P., Grillberger, L., Reiter, M., Tauer, C., Mundt, W., Barrett, P.N., 2006. A double-inactivated whole virus candidate SARS coronavirus vaccine stimulates neutralising and protective antibody responses. Vaccine 24, 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.08.055
- Sugawara, K., Nishiyama, K., Ishikawa, Y., Abe, M., Sonoda, K., Komatsu, K., Horikawa, Y., Takeda, K., Honda, T., Kuzuhara, S., Kino, Y., Mizokami, H., Mizuno, K., Oka, T., Honda, K., 2002. Development of Vero cell-derived inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine. Biol. J. Int. Assoc. Biol. Stand. 30, 303–314. https://doi.org/10.1006/biol.2002.0345
- Sun, L., Xiong, Z., Zhou, W., Liu, R., Yan, X., Li, J., An, W., Yuan, G., Ma, G., Su, Z., 2015. Novel konjac glucomannan microcarriers for anchorage-dependent animal cell culture. Biochem. Eng. J. 96, 46–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2014.12.012
- Sun, M.-B., Jiang, Y.-J., Li, W.-D., Li, P.-Z., Li, G.-L., Jiang, S.-D., Liao, G.-Y., 2004. A novel process for production of hepatitis A virus in Vero cells grown on microcarriers in bioreactor. World J. Gastroenterol. 10, 2571–3.
- Tapia, F., Vázquez-Ramírez, D., Genzel, Y., Reichl, U., 2016. Bioreactors for high cell density and continuous multi-stage cultivations: options for process intensification in cell culture-based viral vaccine production. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 100, 2121–2132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-7267-9
- Thomassen, Y.E., Rubingh, O., Wijffels, R.H., van der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2014. Improved poliovirus D-antigen yields by application of different Vero cell cultivation methods. Vaccine 32, 2782–2788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.02.022

- Thomassen, Y.E., Van 't Oever, A.G., Van Oijen, M.G.C.T., Wijffels, R.H., Van Der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2013a. Next generation inactivated polio vaccine manufacturing to support post polio-eradication biosafety goals. PLoS One 8, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083374
- Thomassen, Y.E., van 't Oever, A.G., Vinke, M., Spiekstra, A., Wijffels, R.H., van der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2013b. Scale-down of the inactivated polio vaccine production process. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 110, 1354–1365. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.24798
- Thomassen, Y.E., Van Der Welle, J.E., Van Eikenhorst, G., Van Der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2012. Transfer of an adherent Vero cell culture method between two different rocking motion type bioreactors with respect to cell growth and metabolic rates. Process Biochem. 47, 288–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2011.11.006
- Tiwari, M., Parida, M., Santhosh, S.R., Khan, M., Dash, P.K., Rao, P.V.L., 2009. Assessment of immunogenic potential of Vero adapted formalin inactivated vaccine derived from novel ECSA genotype of Chikungunya virus. Vaccine 27, 2513–2522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.02.062
- Toriniwa, H., Komiya, T., 2007. Japanese encephalitis virus production in Vero cells with serum-free medium using a novel oscillating bioreactor. Biologicals 35, 221–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biologicals.2007.02.002
- Trabelsi, K., Majoul, S., Rourou, S., Kallel, H., 2014. Process intensification for an enhanced replication of a newly adapted RM-65 sheep pox virus strain in Vero cells grown in stirred bioreactor. Biochem. Eng. J. 90, 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2014.06.001
- Trabelsi, K., Rourou, S., Loukil, H., Majoul, S., Kallel, H., 2006. Optimization of virus yield as a strategy to improve rabies vaccine production by Vero cells in a bioreactor. J. Biotechnol. 121, 261–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.07.018
- Trabelsi, K., Rourou, S., Loukil, H., Majoul, S., Kallel, H., 2005. Comparison of various culture modes for the production of rabies virus by Vero cells grown on microcarriers in a 2-l bioreactor. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 36, 514–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2004.11.008
- Twumasi-Boateng, K., Pettigrew, J.L., Kwok, Y.Y.E., Bell, J.C., Nelson, B.H., 2018. Oncolytic viruses as engineering platforms for combination immunotherapy. Nat. Rev. Cancer 18, 419–432. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-018-0009-4

- Ursache, R. V., Thomassen, Y.E., Van Eikenhorst, G., Verheijen, P.J.T., Bakker, W.A.M., 2015.
 Mathematical model of adherent Vero cell growth and poliovirus production in animal component free medium. Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng. 38, 543–555. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-014-1294-2
- van der Sanden, S.M.G., Wu, W., Dybdahl-Sissoko, N., Weldon, W.C., Brooks, P., O'Donnell, J., Jones, L.P., Brown, C., Tompkins, S.M., Oberste, M.S., Karpilow, J., Tripp, R.A., 2016. Engineering Enhanced Vaccine Cell Lines to Eradicate Vaccine-Preventable Diseases: The Polio Endgame. J. Virol. 90, 1694–1704. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01464-15
- Vlecken, D.H.W., Pelgrim, R.P.M., Ruminski, S., Bakker, W.A.M., van der Pol, L.A., 2013. Comparison of initial feasibility of host cell lines for viral vaccine production. J. Virol. Methods 193, 28–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.04.020
- Warren, W.C., Jasinska, A.J., García-pérez, R., Svardal, H., Tomlinson, C., Rocchi, M., Archidiacono, N., Capozzi, O., Minx, P., Montague, M.J., Hillier, L.W., Kremitzki, M., Graves, T., Chiang, C., Hughes, J., 2015. The genome of the vervet (Chlorocebus aethiops sabaeus) 4, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.192922.115.
- Weiss, K., Gerstenberger, J., Salzig, D., Mühlebach, M.D., Cichutek, K., Pörtner, R., Czermak, P., 2015. Oncolytic measles viruses produced at different scales under serum-free conditions. Eng. Life Sci. 15, 425–436. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.201400165
- Weiss, K., Salzig, D., Mühlebach, M.D., Cichutek, K., Pörtner, R., Czermak, P., 2012. Key parameters of measles virus production for oncolytic virotherapy. Am. J. Biochem. Biotechnol. 8, 81–98. https://doi.org/10.3844/ajbbsp.2012.81.98
- White, L.A., Ades, E.W., 1990. Growth of Vero E-6 cells on microcarriers in a cell bioreactor.J. Clin. Microbiol. 28, 283–286. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.28.2.283-286.1990
- World Health Organization, 2020. DRAFT landscape of COVID-19 candidate vaccines 22 June 2020 [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/draftlandscape-of-covid-19-candidate-vaccines (accessed 6.22.20).
- World Health Organization, 1987a. Acceptability of cells substrates for production of biologicals. WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. 747, 5–24.
- World Health Organization, 1987b. Requirements for continuous cell lines used for biologicals substances. WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. 745, 99–115.

- Wu, C., Lin, Y., Kuo, C., Liu, W., Tai, H., 2015. Inactivated Enterovirus 71 Vaccine Produced by 200-L Scale Serum-Free Microcarrier Bioreactor System Provides Cross-Protective Efficacy in Human SCARB2 Transgenic Mouse. PLoS One 10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136420
- Wu, S.C., Huang, G.Y.L., 2000. Hydrodynamic shear forces increase Japanese encephalitis virus production from microcarrier-grown Vero cells. Bioprocess Eng. 23, 229–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004499900156
- Wu, S.C., Liu, C.C., Lian, W.C., 2004. Optimization of microcarrier cell culture process for the inactivated enterovirus type 71 vaccine development. Vaccine 22, 3858–3864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.05.037
- Wu, W., Orr-Burks, N., Karpilow, J., Tripp, R.A., 2017. Development of improved vaccine cell lines against rotavirus. Sci. Data 4, 170021. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2017.21
- Yasumura, Y., Kawakita, Y., 1963. The research for the SV40 by means of tissue culture technique. Nippon rinsho 21, 1201–1219.
- Yokomizo, A.Y., Antoniazzi, M.M., Galdino, P.L., Azambuja, N., Jorge, S.A.C., Pereira, C.A., 2004.
 Rabies Virus Production in High Vero Cell Density Cultures on Macroporous Microcarriers. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 85, 506–515. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.10917
- Yuk, I.H., Lin, G.B., Ju, H., Sifi, I., Lam, Y., Cortez, A., Liebertz, D., Berry, J.M., Schwartz, R.M., 2006. A serum-free Vero production platform for a chimeric virus vaccine candidate. Cytotechnology 51, 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-006-9030-7

Preface to Chapter 2

The previous chapter has highlighted recent advances in bioprocess development using the Vero cell line for the production of viral vectors and vaccines. With regard to the overall objective of my PhD, to further develop the Vero cell line as an efficient and scalable platform for viral vector manufacturing, rVSV was chosen as a model virus. Before tackling the bioprocess development challenges outlined in chapter 1, analytical techniques needed to be developed to assess potential progress in bioprocess development in terms of improved virus productivity.

To determine virus production yields, many different analytical techniques are available to measure virus concentration. Depending on the assay, it is possible to quantify the number of infectious viral particles (e.g. tissue culture infectious dose assays, plaque assays, laser force cytology), the number of viral genomes (e.g. quantitative PCR, digital PCR), the number of viral antigens (e.g. enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, hemagglutination assay for influenza, single radial immunodiffusion assay) or the number of total viral particles (transmission electron microscopy, tunable resistive pulse sensing, flow cytometry, highperformance liquid chromatography). Each method has their own advantages and constraints, which can be labor intensity, time to perform the assay, the requirement for highly advanced instruments or the need of specialized assay ingredients (e.g. antiserum).

In the following chapter, two methods are described to quantify the concentration of rVSV: a Tissue Culture Infectious Dose (TCID₅₀) assay to determine the infectious titer and a digital polymerase chain reaction (dPCR) assay to assess the total number of viral particles. The TCID₅₀ assay is a standard method in virology. It relies on basic end-point dilution assay and the determined infectious particle concentration of the virus is a very important value for viral vaccine development. The advantage is its robustness and simplicity. It can be performed in most microbiology laboratories and results are comparable between different operators. However, it takes up to seven days to receive results. In contrast, the dPCR method is much faster and results can be obtained within eight hours. The assay determines the total number of viral genomes, which can be used to estimate the number of total viral particles. Together, TCID₅₀ and dPCR are used to characterize the ratio of total particles to infectious units for monitoring process robustness and product quality attributes.

Chapter 2

Titration methods for rVSV-based vaccine manufacturing

Authors:	Jean-François Gélinas ^{a,1,2} , Sascha Kiesslich ^{a,1} , Rénald Gilbert ^{a,b} , Amine
	A. Kamen ^{a,*}
Author affiliation :	^a Department of Bioengineering, McGill University, 3480 University,
	Montréal, Québec H3A 0E9, Canada
	^b Human Health Therapeutics, National Research Council Canada,
	Montreal, QC, Canada a
Notes:	¹ These authors contributed equally.
	² Current address: Division of Hematology-Oncology, Hôpital
	Maisonneuve-Rosemont Research Center, Université de Montréal,
	Montreal, Canada.
	* Corresponding author.
Journal:	MethodsX (Elsevier)
Year:	2020
Volume:	7
DOI:	10.1016/j.mex.2020.100806
Status:	Published
Article history:	Received 17 September 2019; Accepted 22 January 2020; Available
	online 20 February 2020

Abstract

The recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus (rVSV) is an emerging platform for viral vector-based vaccines. Promising results have been reported in clinical trials for the rVSV-ZEBOV vaccine for Ebola virus disease prevention. In this study, we describe the titration tools elaborated to assess the titre of rVSV-ZEBOV production.

- A streamlined Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose (TCID₅₀) assay to determine the infectious titer of this vaccine was established.
- A digital polymerase chain reaction (dPCR) assay to assess the total number of viral particles present in cell-free culture supernatants of rVSV productions was developed.
- These assays are used to titre rVSV-ZEBOV samples and characterize the ratio of total particles to infectious units for monitoring process robustness and product quality attributes and can be used to titre samples generated in the production of further rVSV vectors.

Keywords

rVSV-ZEBOV, Ebola, rVSV-HIV, HIV, dPCR, TCID₅₀

Background

The recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus (rVSV) platform is a replication-competent vaccine that has been shown to generate both cell-mediated and humoral immunity to expressed foreign antigens (Garbutt et al., 2004) and is being developed to target several infectious diseases and cancers (Zemp et al., 2018). One of these targets, the Ebola virus disease, is an urgent international priority, hence there is intensive research activity surrounding the development of a safe and efficacious vaccine. Recently, the Ebola virus vaccine Ervebo has been approved by the FDA (US Food And Drug Administration, 2019), prequalified by the World Health Organization and granted a conditional marketing by the European Commission (Mahase, 2019). This vaccine is based on the rVSV-ZEBOV, an

attenuated, replication-competent rVSV pseudotyped with the Ebola Zaire glycoprotein (Jones et al., 2005).

Replication-competent vaccine titres can be quantified by a functional titre, an enumeration of the infectious virus particles, and/or by a particle titre, an enumeration of the number of particles present in a volume of vaccine. The combination of a functional assay with a total particle assay through their ratio (functional particles over total particles) is a critical quality attribute for the characterization of the candidate rVSV-based vaccine as defective interfering rVSV particles have been shown to modulate virulence (Cave et al., 1985).

The endpoint dilution assay (TCID₅₀) (Ramsburg et al., 2004) is a measure of the functional titre of samples as it quantifies the number of transducing particles required to produce a cytopathic effect in 50 % of inoculated tissue culture cells. TCID₅₀ and plaque-forming units (pfu) are reliable techniques and routinely used to titre vaccine preparations (Monath et al., 2019).

The total particle count is usually established using quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). Specific fluorescent labelling is used to measure the progress of PCR in real time and allows for quantification of the DNA template. A standard curve generated from a serial dilution of DNA standard of known concentration is used to evaluate the qPCR result. In contrast, the digital PCR (dPCR) method is a relatively novel tool that can be used to obtain a total particle count without the need for a standard curve (Coudray-Meunier et al., 2015; Pinheiro-de-Oliveira et al., 2018). Here, around 20,000 water-oil emulsion droplets are generated from one sample and during the PCR step, specific DNA amplification is carried out within each droplet. The method takes advantage of this template DNA separation to partition the sample and to enable individual droplet analysis following the PCR. By counting positive and negative reactions, the method determines the value of viral genomes per mL. Because of this absolute quantification, no standard curve is required, and the workflow is simplified (Hindson et al., 2011). Recently, dPCR has been directly compared to qPCR indicating higher precision and reproducibility in the case of dPCR (Taylor et al., 2017). Further, dPCR has shown better intra- and inter-assay precision than qPCR without the issues related to the use of plasmids as DNA reference material in the case of quantification of the number of total genomes for rAAV vectors (Furuta-Hanawa et al., 2019; Lock et al., 2014).

Here we describe a TCID₅₀ method as well as a dPCR method for titration of rVSV samples. Certain aspects that can affect the variability of these assays are explored and the dPCR method is tested against three different variants of rVSV vectors.

Method details

Cells

HEK 293A cells (Graham et al., 1977) (American Type Culture Collection, Manassas, VA, USA) were maintained in cell culture dishes (Greiner Bio-One, Kremsmünster, Austria), in a humidified incubator (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at 5% CO₂ and 37 °C in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Thermo Fisher Scientific), supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine and 5% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (GE Healthcare) without antibiotics. Cells were passaged twice a week. The confluent cells were detached using a cell scraper, centrifuged at 500 × g for 5 minutes, resuspended in fresh medium and seeded at a 1:10 dilution.

Viruses

The generation of rVSV-EboGP B6 (rVSV-ZEBOV) (Gélinas et al., 2019; Wong and Qiu, 2016) and rVSV-GFP (Elahi et al., 2019) samples has been described previously. Sample generation for rVSV-EboGP B6-NL4.3Env/SIVtm (rVSV-HIV) will be described in detail in upcoming publications. Briefly, the genome plasmid used for the production of rVSV-ZEBOV was modified to include the Env sequence of NL4.3 with an SIV transmembrane domain. The generation of the lentiviral vector (LV) used to validate the rVSV primers has been described previously (Manceur et al., 2017).

Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose (TCID₅₀)

The endpoint dilution assay (Reed and Muench, 1938) was used as a measure of the functional titre of virus samples as it quantifies the number of transducing particles required to produce a cytopathic effect in 50% of inoculated tissue culture cells. rVSV titration on HEK

57

293A was previously shown to give similar results as titration on Vero cells (Elahi et al., 2019). HEK 293A cells were seeded at $\sim 5 \times 10^4$ live cells per mL in 96 well plates (Greiner Bio-One, Kremsmünster, Austria), referred to as the TCID₅₀ plates, with 100 µL per well one day before initiating the titration. Virus dilution series of twelve times 1:5 were prepared in separate 96 V bottom well plates (Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany), referred to as the dilution plates, using 50 µL in 200 µL of HyClone HyCell TransFx H. Eight dilution series were performed per dilution plate. Using a multichannel pipette, 20 µL per well of each individual dilution series were transferred into each of the eight rows of a single TCID₅₀ plate. The TCID₅₀ plates were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Cytopathic effect was observed after at least 7 days incubation and scored by standard light microscopy. The TCID₅₀/mL value was calculated by the Spearman & Kärber algorithm (Kärber, 1931; Spearman, 1908) as described previously (Hierholzer and Killington, 1996).

Digital Polymerase Chain Reaction (dPCR)

To estimate the total number of viral particles present in cell-free culture supernatants, the copy number of viral genomes was assessed by dPCR. Viral RNA was extracted using the High Pure Viral Nucleic Acid Kit (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The input-volume was kept at 200 μ L for all samples, and purified RNA was eluted into 50 µL elution buffer. This kit has been shown to have better recovery rate than others in a side-by-side comparison of five different nucleic acid extraction kits on a different DNA virus (Hepatitis B virus) possibly because of the use of a proteolytic enzyme in addition to the chemical denaturants (Read, 2001). The viral RNA was then reverse transcribed using the iScript Select cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories) according to the manufacturer's instructions and using gene-specific primers targeted towards the viral L-protein (polymerase) amplifying a 114 base pair fragment. The primer sequence for the forward primer was [5'-CTGCTGTCCGGAATCAGGTT-3'] and for the reverse primer [5'-GCCGTCTCCACAACTCAAGA-3'] (Integrated DNA Technologies, Inc., Coralville, IA, USA). The cDNA reaction mix consisted of 4 μ L of 5x iScript reaction mix, 0.5 μ L of each primer at a concentration of 10 µM, 2 µL of GSP enhancer solution, 2 µL of purified RNA from the extraction, 1 µL of reverse transcriptase, and 10 µL of purified and nuclease-free water. The dPCR was performed using the QX200[™] Droplet Digital[™] PCR System with the EvaGreen

Supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories) following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the dPCR reaction mix consisted of 10 µL EvaGreen Supermix, 0.5 µL of each primer at a concentration of 10 µM, 5 µL of cDNA from the reverse transcription step, and 4 µL of purified and nuclease-free water. Using the droplet generator and the corresponding cartridges, the $20 \,\mu\text{L}$ reaction mix was combined with 65 μL of EvaGreen droplet generation oil to generate droplets. The droplets were then transferred to dPCR 96-well plates where the dPCR reaction took place. Thermocycling conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes followed by 35 cycles at 95 °C for 30 s, 57 °C for 60 s, and 72 °C for 30 s, followed by a final extension at 72 °C for 5 minutes. The annealing temperature of 57 °C was established in a preliminary temperature gradient experiment. An internal virus reference standard, consisting of a new vial taken from a viral seed stock generated as described previously (Gélinas et al., 2019), was run in every assay alongside to ensure repeatability of the whole assay including RNA extraction. In addition, a non-template control was included in each run to rule out the contamination of the PCR reagents. The analysis of the droplet read after dPCR-amplification resulted in a value which, after correction for the dilution factor, gave the number of copies of viral genomes, which contain the selected sequence, present in the original sample with the unit of VG/mL.

To demonstrate the trueness of the assay, the plasmid pATX.V2.Full, which was used to generate the rVSV-ZEBOV (Gélinas et al., 2019), was analyzed by ddPCR using the protocol above. The resulting gene copy number was compared to the gene copy number determined via spectrophotometry. The amount of DNA in the plasmid sample was determined using a ND-2000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop, Thermo Fisher Scientific). The plasmid copy number was then calculated using the formula:

number of copies (molecules) =
$$\frac{X ng \times 6.022 \times 10^{23} \frac{molecules}{mol}}{N \times 10^9 \frac{ng}{g} \times 650 \frac{g}{mol}}$$

where *X* = amount of DNA in the plasmid sample, *N* = length of the pATX.V2.B6.Full plasmid (14086 base pairs), and 650 g/mol = average mass per base pairs.

To show specificity of the dPCR method towards rVSV, a lentiviral vector (LV) was titrated using the method developed for rVSV. Viral RNA of the LV was extracted using the same method as for rVSV while reverse transcription was performed using a random primer mix supplied with the cDNA kit. dPCR was performed in triplicates using the same cDNA. The LV-specific primer sequences for the dPCR were: forward primer [5'-GTCCTTTCCATGGCTGCTC -3'] and reverse primer [5'-GCCGTCTCCACAACTCAAGA-3'] (Integrated DNA Technologies).

Statistical analysis

Mean and standard deviations, represented as error bars in figures, as well as unpaired Welch's t-tests were calculated using Prism 8.2.0 (GraphPad, La Jolla, CA, USA). Statistical power was evaluated using the G*Power 3.1.9.2 software (University of Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany) (Faul et al., 2007) using an *a priori* t test to determine the required sample size to observe the difference between two independent means with an α error probability of 0.05.

Results

Variability of titration using TCID₅₀

To evaluate the repeatability of rVSV-ZEBOV titration using this method, twelve parallel TCID₅₀ evaluations of a single sample of an rVSV-ZEBOV seed stock were performed using the same procedure, operator, measuring system, operating conditions and location. The functional titre of that production batch was evaluated to be 1.23×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL (standard deviation: 4.88×10^6) (**Figure 1A**). The intermediate precision was also assessed by titration of the same sample on twelve different days over months (**Figure 1B**). As expected, intermediate precision was shown to be more variable than the assay's repeatability with an average titre of 1.43×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL and a standard deviation of 9.10×10^6 . When performing an unpaired Welch's test between the results from the replicate titrations and the repeat titrations, a significant difference (p<0.0499) was found between the variances. The intermediate precision of this assay has been reported before in the titration of filovirus where the range was approximately 1.5 log (Smither et al., 2013). Hence, each of the samples

presented in the same figure should be titrated on the same day to avoid the added impact of interday variability. To further reduce variability, an automated process could be developed and would limit operator variability.

The repeatability of virus production was also assessed to determine its impact on the evaluation of the titre of a sample as well as the number of replicates necessary to have sufficient power to observe statistical significance in production experiments where different parameters are evaluated. The production of rVSV-ZEBOV was evaluated in multiple independent infections using two 6 well plates seeded with HEK 293SF cells and again using the same procedure, operator, measuring system, operating conditions and location. These were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.001 and left to incubate with agitation for 2 days at 34 °C. The functional viral titre for each of the 12 independent cultures, as determined by $TCID_{50}$, is shown in **Figure 1C** (mean of twelve wells: 3.13×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL, standard deviation: 1.59×10^7). Using these data, to model future studies incorporating three replicates, statistical power analysis demonstrated that a minimum of a 2.26-fold increase in functional titre would be necessary to observe a statistical difference with 80% power using triplicates and accounting for the variability of the TCID₅₀ assay if performed for all samples on the same day.



Figure 1. Production and titration variability using TCID₅₀. Functional titres were measured by TCID₅₀. Bars represent the mean of the twelve samples \pm standard deviation. A) Titration repeatability. Independent titration by TCID₅₀ in 12 replicates on the same day of a single production sample. B) Titration intermediate precision. Independent titrations by TCID₅₀ repeated on 12 separate days for aliquots of the same production. C) Production repeatability. Production yields for 12 independent infections with rVSV-ZEBOV at MOI 0.001 of two 6 well plates containing 1×10^6 cells/mL in 2 mL per well.

Variability of titration using dPCR

For any given sample to be analyzed by dPCR, the cDNA needs to be diluted appropriately prior to the run for the purpose of achieving clear peak resolution of dPCR events and so that the resulting dPCR signal falls within the linear dynamic range of analysis for accurate measurements according to the manufacturer's instructions. A histogram of the dPCR analysis of a dilution series of a cDNA sample extracted from rVSV-ZEBOV is shown in **Figure 2**. As expected, the least diluted samples showed almost only positive events due to the abundance of gene copies. The more the sample got diluted, the less positive and the more negative events occurred. The most diluted sample showed only a few positive events and mostly negative events. The histogram from the sample with 1:3,200 dilution (sample C03) is individually shown in **Figure 3** and shows a clear peak resolution of dPCR events without

significant amount of rain. Positive events typically peaked at around 20,000 to 25,000, whereas negative events peaked between 5,000 and 8,000.



Figure 2. Histogram of dPCR analysis of a dilution series of cDNA extracted from rVSV-ZEBOV. The extracted cDNA was diluted in a 1:2 dilution series starting from 1:100 (sample F02) to 1:102,400 sample (H03). Sample A04 consisted of a non-template control. Channel 1 amplitude is given in arbitrary fluorescent units. Positive events are marked in blue, negative events in grey.

To demonstrate that the developed dPCR method is measuring the correct amount of gene copies, a plasmid containing the VSV polymerase gene sequence was analyzed via dPCR and the gene copy number was verified via spectrophotometry. The amount of DNA in the plasmid sample was measured by spectrophotometry and was $371 \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$. Using the formula stated in the methods, the resulting number of gene copies was determined to be 2.44×10^{13} per mL. In comparison, the number of gene copies determined via dPCR was 3.48×10^{13} per mL, indicating an appropriate correlation between the two methods.



Figure 3. Histogram of dPCR analysis of rVSV-ZEBOV. This exemplary histogram shows the data of an rVSV-ZEBOV sample at a cDNA dilution resulting in a clear peak resolution of dPCR events. Channel 1 amplitude is given in arbitrary fluorescent units. Positive events (blue) typically peaked around 20,000 to 25,000 and negative events (grey) peaked between 5,000 and 8,000.

To estimate the repeatability of the dPCR assay, the number of viral genomes in the rVSV-ZEBOV seed stock was quantified in 3 different approaches. To evaluate the total variability of the assay, twelve separate RNA extractions were performed on the same sample. Each extraction was then reverse transcribed into cDNA and analyzed by dPCR. The average titre was 6.01×10^9 VG/mL (standard deviation: 2.06×10^9) (**Figure 4A**).

To evaluate which step led to the most variability, one RNA extraction sample from the previous experiment was used and, reverse transcription was carried out 12 times resulting in 12 separate cDNA batches. Each of these cDNA batches was analyzed individually by dPCR. Here, the average titre was 9.61×10^9 VG/mL (standard deviation: 4.62×10^8) (**Figure 4B**). When performing an unpaired Welch's test between the results from the replicate RNA extraction and the replicate reverse transcription, a significant difference (p<0.0001) was found between the variances, indicating that the RNA extraction step leads to a significantly greater variance compared to the RNA transcription step with regard to the final dPCR titer. Finally, from one of the cDNA batches, twelve dPCR were performed separately. The average titre was 1.05×10^{10} VG/mL (standard deviation: 5.23×10^8) (**Figure 4C**). An unpaired Welch's test between the results from the replicate dPCR from the same cDNA found no significant difference between the variances (p=0.6884). Hence, the main source of error of the dPCR assay was found to be the step of viral RNA

extraction. Whereas reverse transcription and dPCR are one step reactions, the RNA extraction involved multiple steps including viral particle disruption, RNA binding to the membrane, inhibitor removal, washing and elution of the extracted RNA. Besides, viral RNA is relatively unstable compared to DNA.



Figure 4. Titration variability of rVSV-ZEBOV using dPCR. Viral genome copy number was measured by dPCR. Bars represent the mean of the twelve samples ± standard deviation. A) Total assay variability. dPCR analysis of the same sample with 12 independent RNA extractions. B) Combined reverse transcription and dPCR variability. dPCR analysis of the same RNA extract with 12 independent reverse transcriptions. C) dPCR variability. dPCR analysis was performed 12 times of the same cDNA.

Titration using dPCR for other strains of rVSV

In addition to the titration of rVSV-ZEBOV, the method was further tested by titrating two other significant rVSV strains: rVSV-GFP and rVSV-HIV. rVSV-HIV is currently being studied as a promising vaccine candidate against human immunodeficiency virus infection where the glycoprotein of VSV has been replaced by HIV's Env glycoprotein (Racine et al., 2017). rVSV-GFP is taking advantage of GFP expression to study, for example, the viral life cycle, but still expresses the wild-type glycoprotein (VSV-G) (Elahi et al., 2019; Stojdl et al., 2003). TCID₅₀ was performed in triplicate on a single rVSV-HIV and rVSV-GFP sample. The functional titres of these samples were 8.07 ×10⁷ (standard deviation: 3.78×10^7) and 4.03 ×10⁹ (standard deviation: 1.28×10^9) respectively. Viral RNA from rVSV-HIV and rVSV-GFP was extracted and reverse transcribed as before. In both cases, the dPCR was performed in triplicates using the same cDNA. The genomic titre of the sample of rVSV-HIV was determined to be 2.67×10^{10} VG/mL (standard deviation: 3.06×10^8) and 1.86×10^{10} VG/mL (standard deviation: 9.24×10^8) for the rVSV-GFP sample.

To show specificity of the dPCR method towards rVSV, a lentiviral vector (LV) was titrated using the method developed for rVSV. LV showed no PCR amplification when using rVSV-specific primers for the dPCR step. As a control, LV showed PCR amplification when using LV-specific primers. In contrast, cDNA of rVSV-ZEBOV generated as in **Figure 2** did not show dPCR amplification using these LV-specific primers.

Conclusion

In this work, we described an assay to determine the functional titre of rVSV vectors (TCID₅₀) as well as an assay to determine the number of viral genomes (dPCR). The later can be used to estimate the total number of viral particles. Together, these assays provide reliable methods to determine significant values in viral vaccine bioprocess development.

Depending on the rVSV strain, the TCID₅₀ assay can require up to seven days before reading of the cytopathic effect. Immunoperoxidase staining could help improve and speed up the process of distinguishing positive and negative wells. It is however important to note that, because of a strong cytopathic effect in the case of rVSV-ZEBOV, positive wells show no surviving cells after a few days while in negative wells cells are completely intact. An alternative method to quantify the infectious viral titer of VSV has been recently published which uses laser force cytology (Hebert et al., 2018). This method has the advantage of reducing the time required until the titer can be determined. It still needs to be demonstrated that this method can be applied to other recombinant strains of VSV with similar reduction in assay time. However, the benefit of the TCID₅₀ assay is its simplicity which can be carried out in standard equipped laboratories without the need for complex instruments.

In contrast, the dPCR assay can be completed within one day and can, therefore, be used as a preliminary estimation of the viral titre if necessary. Nevertheless, like other vectors,

66

rVSV typically produces a variety defective interfering particles during infection (Frensing, 2015; Meier et al., 1984). In this study, only one methodology was used to determine each, the infectious and the total particle count, respectively, to get analytical data that can be used in the development of the upstream bioprocess. To more accurately determine the number and molecular diversity of the defective interfering particles that are created during the rVSV-ZEBOV vaccine production process, further analytical methods would be required. This would allow for additional insights into the biological complexity of rVSV production, further enabling bioprocess improvements. For example, the dPCR method developed in this work targets only those particles which contain the sequence of the VSV polymerase gene. The method does not consider defective particles lacking this gene sequence. A physicochemical approach to determine the number of total particles, for example via HPLC, could be a valuable extension of the analytical methods tool box for rVSV total viral particle quantification.

Despite these limitations, the developed method to estimate the number of total particles can still generate very useful data. For example, following the production step, dPCR would allow the confirmation of a successful production of vectors as well as the number of total viral particles which is useful to proceed with the downstream processing of viral vectors with an appropriate concentration step. Since both the number of infectious particles and total particles are expected to change throughout the purification process, the dPCR assay can be a sufficient quantification method enabling continuation to the next step with the benefit of reducing the required time for process analytics in between the upstream and downstream steps. We further demonstrated that these assays are applicable to rVSV-ZEBOV, a very relevant candidate vaccine and that the dPCR can be used for other recombinant strains of VSV. Different pseudotyped rVSV are currently being investigated as vaccine candidates, and further, as possible oncolytic viruses. In particular, rVSV-HIV and rVSV-GFP were successfully titrated using the same dPCR method as used for rVSV-ZEBOV. Since the primers used in the dPCR assay are targeting a sequence of the VSV polymerase (Lgene), this assay can serve as a universal method to determine the number of viral genomes of other rVSV as long as the L-protein sequence remains wild-type. It has been further demonstrated that the developed dPCR method is specific for rVSV vectors and does not result in dPCR amplification of other viral vectors.

Acknowledgements

We thank Gary P. Kobinger for providing a sample of rVSV-HIV. This research was funded by Canadian Institutes of Health Research Grant OVV 152411 awarded to Gary P. Kobinger (Nominated Principal Applicant). JFG is funded by a Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) postdoctoral fellowship. SK is funded by a doctoral scholarship from the Fonds de Recherche du Québec – Santé (FRQS). The funding sources had no involvement in the study design, in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data, in the writing of the report or in the decision to submit the article for publication.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The Authors confirm that there are no conflicts of interest.

Supplementary materials

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at https://doi:10.1016/j.mex.2020.100806.

References

- Cave, D.R., Hendrickson, F.M., Huang, A.S., 1985. Defective Interfering Virus Particles Modulate Virulence. J. Virol. 55, 366–373.
- Coudray-Meunier, C., Fraisse, A., Martin-Latil, S., Guillier, L., Delannoy, S., Fach, P., Perelle, S., 2015. A comparative study of digital RT-PCR and RT-qPCR for quantification of Hepatitis A virus and Norovirus in lettuce and water samples. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 201, 17–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.02.006
- Elahi, S.M., Shen, C.F., Gilbert, R., 2019. Optimization of Production of Vesicular Stomatitis Virus (VSV) in suspension serum-free culture medium at high cell density. J. Biotechnol. 289, 144–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2018.11.023
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.G., Buchner, A., 2007. G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behav. Res. Methods 39, 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146

- Frensing, T., 2015. Defective interfering viruses and their impact on vaccines and viral vectors. Biotechnol. J. 10, 681–689. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201400429
- Furuta-Hanawa, B., Yamaguchi, T., Uchida, E., 2019. Two-Dimensional Droplet Digital PCR as a Tool for Titration and Integrity Evaluation of Recombinant Adeno-Associated Viral Vectors. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 30, 127–136. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2019.031
- Garbutt, M., Liebscher, R., Wahl-jensen, V., Jones, S., Wagner, R., Volchkov, V., Klenk, H., 2004.
 Properties of Replication-Competent Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vectors Expressing
 Glycoproteins of Filoviruses and Arenaviruses Properties of Replication-Competent
 Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vectors Expressing Glycoproteins of Filoviruses and
 Arenaviruses. J. Virol. 78, 5458–5465. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.78.10.5458
- Gélinas, J.-F., Azizi, H., Kiesslich, S., Lanthier, S., Perdersen, J., Chahal, P.S., Ansorge, S., Kobinger, G., Gilbert, R., Kamen, A.A., 2019. Production of rVSV-ZEBOV in serum-free suspension culture of HEK 293SF cells. Vaccine 37, 6624–6632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.09.044
- Graham, F.L., Smiley, J., Russell, W.C., Nairn, R., 1977. Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. J. Gen. Virol. 36, 59–72. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-36-1-59
- Hebert, C.G., DiNardo, N., Evans, Z.L., Hart, S.J., Hachmann, A.B., 2018. Rapid quantification of vesicular stomatitis virus in Vero cells using Laser Force Cytology. Vaccine 36, 6061– 6069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.09.002
- Hierholzer, J., Killington, R., 1996. Virus Isolation and Quantitation. Virol. methods Man.
- Hindson, B.J., Ness, K.D., Masquelier, D.A., Belgrader, P., Heredia, N.J., Makarewicz, A.J., Bright,
 I.J., Lucero, M.Y., Hiddessen, A.L., Legler, T.C., Kitano, T.K., Hodel, M.R., Petersen, J.F.,
 Wyatt, P.W., Steenblock, E.R., Shah, P.H., Bousse, L.J., Troup, C.B., Mellen, J.C., Wittmann,
 D.K., Erndt, N.G., Cauley, T.H., Koehler, R.T., So, A.P., Dube, S., Rose, K.A., Montesclaros, L.,
 Wang, S., Stumbo, D.P., Hodges, S.P., Romine, S., Milanovich, F.P., White, H.E., Regan, J.F.,
 Karlin-Neumann, G.A., Hindson, C.M., Saxonov, S., Colston, B.W., 2011. High-throughput
 droplet digital PCR system for absolute quantitation of DNA copy number. Anal. Chem.
 83, 8604–8610. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac202028g

- Jones, S.M., Feldmann, H., Ströher, U., Geisbert, J.B., Fernando, L., Grolla, A., Klenk, H.D., Sullivan, N.J., Volchkov, V.E., Fritz, E.A., Daddario, K.M., Hensley, L.E., Jahrling, P.B., Geisbert, T.W., 2005. Live attenuated recombinant vaccine protects nonhuman primates against Ebola and Marburg viruses. Nat. Med. 11, 786–790. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1258
- Kärber, G., 1931. Beitrag zur kollektiven Behandlung pharmakologischer Reihenversuche. Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol. 162, 480–483. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01863914
- Lock, M., Alvira, M.R., Chen, S.J., Wilson, J.M., 2014. Absolute determination of single-stranded and self-complementary adeno-associated viral vector genome titers by droplet digital PCR. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 25, 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2013.131
- Mahase, E., 2019. Ebola is now "preventable and treatable," says WHO after approving vaccine in record time. BMJ 367. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.l6505
- Manceur, A.P., Kim, H., Misic, V., Andreev, N., Dorion-Thibaudeau, J., Lanthier, S., Bernier, A., Tremblay, S., Gélinas, A.M., Broussau, S., Gilbert, R., Ansorge, S., 2017. Scalable Lentiviral Vector Production Using Stable HEK293SF Producer Cell Lines. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 28, 330–339. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2017.086
- Meier, E., Harmison, G.G., Keene, J.D., Schubert, M., 1984. Sites of copy choice replication involved in generation of vesicular stomatitis virus defective-interfering particle RNAs. J. Virol. 51, 515–21.
- Monath, T.P., Fast, P.E., Modjarrad, K., Clarke, D.K., Martin, B.K., Fusco, J., Nichols, R., Heppner, D.G., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A.A., Robertson, J.S., Gray Heppner, D., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A.A., Robertson, J.S., 2019. rVSVΔG-ZEBOV-GP (also designated V920) Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Pseudotyped with Ebola Zaire Glycoprotein: Standardized Template with Key Considerations for a Risk/Benefit Assessment. Vaccine X 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvacx.2019.100009
- Pinheiro-de-Oliveira, T.F., Fonseca, A.A., Camargos, M.F., Laguardia-Nascimento, M., de Oliveira, A.M., Cottorello, A.C.P., Goes-Neto, A., Barbosa-Stancioli, E.F., 2018. Development of a droplet digital RT-PCR for the quantification of foot-and-mouth virus RNA. J. Virol. Methods 259, 129–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2018.06.015

- Racine, T., Kobinger, G.P., Arts, E.J., 2017. Development of an HIV vaccine using a vesicular stomatitis virus vector expressing designer HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins to enhance humoral responses. AIDS Res. Ther. 14, 2–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12981-017-0179-2
- Ramsburg, E., Rose, N.F., Marx, P.A., Mefford, M., Nixon, D.F., Moretto, W.J., Montefiori, D., Earl,
 P., Moss, B., Rose, J.K., 2004. Highly Effective Control of an AIDS Virus Challenge in
 Macaques by Using Vesicular Stomatitis Virus and Modified Vaccinia Virus Ankara
 Vaccine Vectors in a Single-Boost Protocol 78, 3930–3940.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/IVI.78.8.3930
- Read, S.J., 2001. Recovery efficiencies of nucleic acid extraction kits as measured by quantitative LightCyclerTM PCR. J. Clin. Pathol. - Mol. Pathol. 54, 86–90. https://doi.org/10.1136/mp.54.2.86
- Reed, L.J., Muench, H., 1938. A simple method of estimating fifty per cent endpoints. Am. J. Epidemiol. 27, 493–497.
- Smither, S.J., Lear-Rooney, C., Biggins, J., Pettitt, J., Lever, M.S., Olinger, G.G., 2013. Comparison of the plaque assay and 50% tissue culture infectious dose assay as methods for measuring filovirus infectivity. J. Virol. Methods 193, 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.05.015
- Spearman, C., 1908. The method of "right and wrong cases"('constant stimuli') without Gauss's formulae. Br. J. Psychol. 1904-1920. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295.1908.tb00176.x
- Stojdl, D.F., Lichty, B.D., TenOever, B.R., Paterson, J.M., Power, A.T., Knowles, S., Marius, R., Reynard, J., Poliquin, L., Atkins, H., Brown, E.G., Durbin, R.K., Durbin, J.E., Hiscott, J., Bell, J.C., 2003. VSV strains with defects in their ability to shutdown innate immunity are potent systemic anti-cancer agents. Cancer Cell 4, 263–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00241-1
- Taylor, S.C., Laperriere, G., Germain, H., 2017. Droplet Digital PCR versus qPCR for gene expression analysis with low abundant targets: From variable nonsense to publication quality data. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02217-x
- US Food And Drug Administration, 2019. First FDA-approved vaccine for the prevention of Ebola virus disease, marking a critical milestone in public health preparedness and
response [WWW Document]. Press Announc. URL https://www.fda.gov/newsevents/press-announcements/first-fda-approved-vaccine-prevention-ebola-virusdisease-marking-critical-milestone-public-health (retrieved 2020-01-06)

- Wong, G., Qiu, X., 2016. Designing Efficacious Vesicular Stomatitis Virus-Vectored Vaccines Against Ebola Virus, in: Vaccine Design. Humana Press, New York, pp. 245–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3387-7_12
- Zemp, F., Rajwani, J., Mahoney, D.J., 2018. Rhabdoviruses as vaccine platforms for infectious disease and cancer. Biotechnol. Genet. Eng. Rev. 34, 122–138. https://doi.org/10.1080/02648725.2018.1474320

Preface to Chapter 3

Chapter 3 of this thesis is studying bioprocess development of adherent Vero cell cultures. As outlined in chapter 1, traditional viral vaccine manufacturing processes are still using roller bottle processes. This technology has several drawbacks, for example limited scalability, risk of contamination and higher labor intensity. Even the recently approved Ebola virus vaccine (rVSV-ZEBOV) is using this process. To advance the knowledge in manufacturing technology, the next chapter is developing bioreactor processes to propose a new and more efficient way of rVSV-ZEBOV manufacturing and to overcome process limitations. Using the analytical methods developed in chapter 2, the first experiments are studying process parameters such as multiplicity of infection and temperature at small scale in tissue culture plates of rVSV-ZEBOV replication. Since a working suspension culture adapted Vero cell line was not readily available at this time, the production is scale-up and two different production systems for adherent Vero cell culture, i.e. microcarrier and fixed-bed bioreactors, are compared.

Chapter 3

Serum-free production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells: microcarrier bioreactor versus scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed

Authors:	Sascha Kiesslich, José Pedro Vila-Chã Losa, Jean-François Gélinas ¹ ,
	Amine A. Kamen*
Author affiliation :	Department of Bioengineering, McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada
Notes:	¹ Current address: Department of Medicine, Université de Montréal,
	Montreal, Canada.
	* Corresponding author.
Journal:	Journal of Biotechnology (Elsevier)
Year:	2020
Volume:	310
DOI:	10.1016/j.jbiotec.2020.01.015
Status:	Published
Article history:	Received 6 October 2019; Received in revised form 12 December 2019;
	Accepted 28 January 2020; Available online 30 January 2020

Abstract

Ebola virus disease outbreaks have repeatedly occurred on the African continent over the last decades, with more serious outbreaks in recent years. Being highly transmissible and associated to high fatality rates, it constitutes a serious threat to public health. Vaccination, however, may allow for efficient control of its propagation. The most promising Ebola vaccine candidate to date, rVSV-ZEBOV, relies on a recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus construct, in which the native viral glycoprotein is replaced by the glycoprotein of Ebola virus (Zaire). However, its cell-based manufacturing process is still lengthy and cumbersome, thus urging the implementation of a new and more efficient bioprocess.

To address these issues, serum-free production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells has been studied with the aim to test an alternative target upstream process. Until viable options of suspension cell culture are available, Vero cell cultures still rely on adherent bioprocesses and have thus been developed in this work. Particularly, a bioprocess developed with standard microcarrier bioreactor technology was successfully transferred to the novel single-use scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed.

Keywords

rVSV-ZEBOV, Vero cell, Serum-free, Bioreactor, Microcarrier, Fixed-bed

Abbreviations

dPCR, digital polymerase chain reaction; EVD, Ebola virus disease; HEK, Human Embryonic Kidney cells; hpi, hours post-infection; MOI, multiplicity of infection; PET, polyethylene terephthalate; PFU, plaque forming units; rVSV, recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus; rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV genetically engineered to express the glycoprotein of a Zaire Ebolavirus

Introduction

The recent 2014-2016 Ebola virus disease (EVD) outbreak in West Africa has caused the death of more than 11,000 people and marks the most devastating EVD outbreak to date

(World Health Organization, 2016). Another severe outbreak in the Democratic Republic of the Congo is currently ongoing (World Health Organization, 2019a), and, consequently, a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC) has been declared by the World Health Organization (WHO) (World Health Organization, 2019b). Among many research efforts to develop a vaccine against this disease, the recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) genetically engineered to express the glycoprotein of a Zaire Ebolavirus (rVSV-ZEBOV) is one of the most promising candidates. Originally developed by the Public Health Agency of Canada (Regules et al., 2015), this replication-competent virus has been demonstrated to be safe to administer to humans (Agnandji et al., 2016). Further, the interim results of a ring vaccination phase 3 efficacy trial carried out in Guinea have indicated very high protective efficacy of this vaccine candidate (Henao-Restrepo et al., 2015). The final analysis was conducted in a follow-up study, supporting the previous results (Henao-Restrepo et al., 2017).

With a potential vaccine against the EVD on the horizon, the need for a robust, efficient and affordable manufacturing process is increasing. However, information on the replication of rVSV-ZEBOV in cell culture and on bioprocess development efforts is limited. Recent studies investigated the production of rVSV-GFP (Elahi et al., 2019) and rVSV-ZEBOV (Gélinas et al., 2019) using human cell lines in serum-free suspension cultures. However, one study indicated the advantage of using Vero cells over other mammalian or avian cell lines regarding the infection efficiency of rVSV expressing the Ebola Reston glycoprotein (Takada et al., 1997). Furthermore, the Vero cell line has a long history of being used for the production of viral vaccines with over 40 years of experience. This includes the development and production of vaccines against dengue fever, influenza, Japanese encephalitis, polio, rabies, rotavirus and smallpox (Ammerman et al., 2008; Barrett et al., 2009).

Despite a favorable regulatory environment for using the Vero cell line, the current method for large-scale production of rVSV-ZEBOV employs roller bottles to grow Vero cells under animal-component free conditions (Monath et al., 2019). Owing to the known limitations of a roller bottle manufacturing process, such as scalability or labor intensity (Merten, 2015), the present study was investigating alternative methods such as bioreactors for the production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells.

Although recent advances have been made in the suspension adaptation of Vero cells (Shen et al., 2019), doubling times remain above 40 hours and suspension cultures are still complex and laborious. Therefore, Vero cell bioprocess development predominantly relies on adherent cultures. In this context, the use of microcarriers has been widely adopted for the production of viruses (Mattos et al., 2015; Rourou et al., 2007; Thomassen et al., 2014; Trabelsi et al., 2014) and scalability of up to 6,000 L has been demonstrated (Barrett et al., 2009). Still, the scale-up of such a complex technology can be challenging. In addition, to meet the oxygen demand of the cells at larger scales, sparging is required and can cause increased foaming and shear stress on the cells. Besides, the impellers of stirred-tank bioreactors are introducing additional shear stress (Merten, 2015).

These burdens can be overcome by the application of packed or fixed-bed bioreactors. Recently, several commercial bioreactors of varying configurations have been developed and used for viral vector production. Examples include the basket-type BioFlo (Eppendorf) employing Fibra-Cel® disks (McCarron et al., 2019) or the iCellis bioreactor (Pall) using polyethylene terephthalate (PET) microfiber macrocarriers (Emmerling et al., 2016; Lesch et al., 2015; Powers et al., 2016; Valkama et al., 2018). In addition, the scale-X[™] system from Univercells offers single-use, fixed-bed bioreactors of different sizes, ranging from bench-top (2.4 m² of surface area) to industrial scale (600 m² and above). The support matrix for cell growth consists of spiral-wound, non-woven PET layers. In contrast with conventional microcarrier systems, these reactors are characterized by low-shear stress that the cells are exposed to due to linear velocity of culture liquid, steric protection inside the carriers, as well as the inexistence of abrasion between carriers (Ozturk and Hu, 2005).

The aim of this work was to investigate specific process parameters for the production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells, such as MOI, temperature and harvest time. The findings were then applied to the development of a microcarrier bioprocess. Additionally, this work compares results of a microcarrier run to the results obtained by producing rVSV-ZEBOV in the scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed bioreactor.

Materials and methods

Cell lines and culture media

The adherent Vero cell line originated from ATCC CCL-81.5. Vero cells were maintained in static culture using VP-SFM medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) supplemented with 4 mM GlutaMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ in a humidified incubator (Infors HT, Switzerland). Cells were passaged twice weekly using TrypLE Express (Thermo Fisher Scientific) as dissociation reagent. HEK 293A cells used in this study were kindly provided by the National Research Council of Canada (Human Health Therapeutics, Montreal, QC, Canada). The cells were cultivated in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Wisent, Canada) supplemented with 4 mM L-glutamine (GE Healthcare, USA) and 5 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Corning, USA) without antibiotics. Both Vero and HEK 293A cell concentration and viability from static cultures were determined via the Vi-CELL XR cell counter (Beckman Coulter, USA).

Virus

Original rescue and initial amplification of rVSV-ZEBOV has been described previously (Gélinas et al., 2019). The viral seed stock used in this work was generated in adherent HEK 293A. In brief, HEK 293A cells were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV originating from the initial amplification at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.01. The supernatant was harvested 48 hours post-infection (hpi), aliquoted and stored at –80 °C. For each subsequent experiment, a new aliquot of this rVSV-ZEBOV stock was used to avoid freeze-thaw of the virus.

6-well plate virus studies

To study the infection kinetics of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells, preliminary experiments were performed in 6-well plate format (Sarstedt, Germany). Cells were seeded at around 30,000 cells per well and infected the next day with rVSV-ZEBOV at different MOIs. Further, the influence of a temperature shift to 34 °C during the virus production phase was investigated. Samples taken from the cell culture supernatant were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200 × g to remove cellular debris, aliquoted and stored at –80 °C until further analysis.

Microcarrier cultures in bioreactors

Bioreactor cultures were performed in a 1 L bioreactor (Applikon Biotechnology, The Netherlands) equipped with a marine impeller, pH sensor, temperature sensor, and dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration sensor. Cytodex 1 microcarriers (GE Healthcare) were prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions. The microcarrier concentration in the bioreactor was 2 g/L. The medium VP-SFM was supplemented with 4 mM L-glutamine (GE Healthcare) to enable monitoring of L-glutamine consumption as well as with 0.1 % poloxamer 188 (Sigma, Germany) which was shown to reduce shear stress and to improve Vero cell growth on microcarriers (Kilburn and Webb, 1968; Rourou et al., 2009a). Vero cells were collected from static culture and the bioreactor was inoculated at a cell density of 2×10^5 cells/mL in 850 mL working volume. The culture was agitated at 90 rpm and kept at 37 °C. The DO concentration was kept at 50 % air-saturation by continuous surface aeration of 5 mL/min air and injection of pure oxygen when required. The pH was set to 7.2 and regulated by injection of CO₂ into the headspace or addition of NaHCO₃ (90 g/L) (Sigma, USA). Samples were taken once or twice daily, depending on the progress of the culture, to subsequently determine viable cell density, metabolite concentration and virus titer. To determine the number of viable cells grown on microcarriers, nuclei were counted as described elsewhere (Trabelsi et al., 2005). Samples for metabolite analysis and virus titration were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200 × g to remove cellular debris, aliquoted and stored at -80 °C. The glucose concentration was estimated once daily and if required adjusted to 2 g/L by feeding glucose (Sigma) concentrate (180 g/L). In addition, L-glutamine was maintained at a minimum concentration of 2 mM. For virus production, Vero cells were infected with rVSV-ZBOV at an MOI of 0.01 once the desired cell density was reached and the temperature was shifted to 34 °C during the virus production phase.

Fixed-bed bioreactor cultivation

Fixed-bed cultivations were carried out in the single-use scale-X[™] hydro bioreactor (Univercells, Gosselies, Belgium) with an available surface area of 24,000 cm². The system was equipped with a pH sensor, temperature sensor, and DO concentration sensor. The medium VP-SFM was supplemented with 4 mM L-glutamine but no poloxamer 188 was

added as no significant shear stress on the cells was expected according to the manufacturer. Vero cells were collected from static culture and the fixed-bed was inoculated at a cell density of around 22,700 cells/cm² to be consistent with the seeding density per area of the microcarrier bioreactors. The initial working volume was 700 mL during the cell attachment phase. After 4 hours, a bottle containing 2000 mL of fresh media was connected to the system and recirculation of culture liquid between the fixed-bed unit and the media bottle was set to 10 mL/min.

The culture was maintained at 37 °C, dissolved oxygen was set to 50 % air-saturation by continuous surface aeration of 30 mL/min air and regulated by injection of pure oxygen when required. The pH was kept between 7.2 and 7.4, regulated by injection of CO₂ into the headspace or addition of NaOH (0.5 M) (VWR, USA). Sampling, feeding and virus infection was done as described for the microcarrier bioreactor. Additionally, recirculation of the culture liquid between the fixed-bed unit and the media bottle was stopped right before virus infection and turned back on again after 4 hours to enhance cell-virus interaction during the initial infection phase.

To determine the number of viable cells grown during fixed-bed bioreactor cultivations, a sample carrier was aseptically extracted from the fixed-bed and processed according to the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, cells growing on the sample carrier were lysed using the Reagent A100 lysis buffer (Chemometec, Denmark), nuclei were stained and counted using a Neubauer improved hemocytometer (BRAND GmbH & Co. KG, Germany). When the medium exchange was carried out, the whole medium was replaced with pre-heated fresh medium, supplemented as before.

To evaluate the overall cell distribution and the cell homogeneity within the fixed-bed, a cell distribution analysis was performed. At the end of the cultivation, the fixed-bed was dismantled and from each of the two spiral wound cell support layers, 9 squares of approximately 1 cm² were cut out. Here, samples were taken from 3 different bed heights (i.e. 1 cm, 5 cm and 9 cm starting from the bottom of the bed). Further, at each bed height, samples were taken from 3 different vertical locations of the bed layer (i.e. 20 cm, 72 cm and 155 cm starting from the outside end of the spiral wound layer) corresponding to different radial distances of the wound fixed-bed. Then, cells were counted as described above for the sample carriers.

Median tissue culture infectious dose (TCID₅₀)

The TCID₅₀ assay was used to determine the infectious titer of virus samples as follows: on day 1, HEK 293A cells were seeded into 96-well plates at 15,000 cells/well. On day 2, the medium was aspirated and a serial dilution of the virus sample in fresh growth medium was added to the plate. After at least 7 days, the cells were assessed for cytopathic effect via microscope observation. The TCID₅₀/mL value was calculated according to the method by Spearman–Kärber (Kärber, 1931). An internal virus reference standard was run in every assay alongside to ensure reproducibility of the assay. rVSV titration on HEK 293A was previously shown to give similar results as titration on Vero cells (Elahi et al., 2019).

Digital PCR

The number of viral genomes was quantified by digital PCR (dPCR) using the QX200^M ddPCR^M system (Bio-Rad, USA) with specific primers (5'-CTGCTGTCCGGAATCAGGTT-3' and 5'-GCCGTCTCCACAACTCAAGA-3') (Integrated DNA Technologies, Inc., USA) as described in MethodsX (Gélinas et al., 2020). The resulting genomic titer was expressed in the number of viral genomes (VG/mL) and can be related to the number of viral particles containing a genome.

Metabolite analysis

During cell culture cultivations, the glucose concentration was estimated using the D-Fructose/D-Glucose Assay Kit (Megazyme, Ireland). More extensive metabolite analysis was performed offline via Bioprofile 400 (Nova Biomedical, USA) from samples that were stored at –80 °C. In addition, these samples were incubated at 65 °C for 5 minutes to inactivate the virus prior to metabolite analysis.

Statistical analysis

Where stated, statistically significant differences between two group means were determined by a Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test using Prism software (version 8, GraphPad, La Jolla, CA, USA).

Results and discussion

rVSV-ZEBOV infection kinetics in Vero cells in 6-well plates

To first study the effect of MOI on rVSV-ZEBOV production, Vero cells grown in triplicate 6-well plates were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV at different MOIs. rVSV-ZEBOV production in Vero cells initially occurred exponentially (**Figure 5**). It was further observed that the higher the initial MOI, the shorter the time it took to reach the maximum titer. Although in all cases maximum titers in the same range have been obtained, the highest overall titers observed were 2.28×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL at an MOI of 0.01 after 36 hpi and 3.82×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL at an MOI of 0.0001 after 60 hpi. Once the maximum titer had been reached, infectivity declined. This could be attributed to the instability of the virus at production temperature (37 °C). Similarly, it has been indicated that VSV-GFP produced in BHK21 cells lost infectivity over time when exposed to this temperature (Zimmer et al., 2013).

Compared to similar MOI screening experiments for the production of rVSV-ZEBOV in HEK 293SF cells, titers are slightly lower but similar production kinetics with regard to varying MOIs have been observed (Gélinas et al., 2019). Nevertheless, the said study used suspension cell cultures with a more than 10 times higher initial cell density as well as a lower production temperature of 34 °C.



Figure 5. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of Vero cells at different MOIs ranging from 0.0001 to 1 in 6-well plates. Infectious viral titers expressed as $TCID_{50}/mL$ are plotted against the time post-infection. Bars represent the mean of the three independent samples ± standard deviation.

Besides a high infectious viral titer, another important aspect of any bioprocess development is to increase the viral yield. When comparing the initial amount of virus used to infect the cells with the maximum resulting titer, the fold-increase was around 21 and 242 at MOI 1 and 0.1, respectively. In contrast, the fold-increase was superior at lower MOIs with around 5182, 48,235 and 867,424 at MOI 0.01, 0.001 and 0.0001, respectively.

Besides viral titer and viral yield, the quality in terms of infectivity per particle of the product is another critical aspect. With this in mind, the ratio of the viral genome copy number (VG/mL) to the infectious viral titer (TCID₅₀/mL) was used to determine the quality of the product, considering the number of viral genomes is correlated to the total (infectious and non-infectious) number of viral particles containing a genome. In this case, a lower ratio of VG/TCID₅₀ is desired since it indicates a better quality of the viral product in terms of infectivity per particle. **Figure 6** shows, for the previous experiment, the ratio of VG/TCID₅₀ for each MOI at their respective peak of infectious titer. With 94 VG/TCID₅₀, the most infectious viral particles were produced at an MOI of 0.01.



Figure 6.Viral genome copy number (VG/mL) per infectious viral titer (TCID₅₀/mL) at peak titers for each MOI investigated. Ratios were determined for each MOI at their respective peak of infectious titer in the 6-well experiment, i.e. 60, 48, 36, 24 and 12 hpi for MOI of 0.0001, 0.001, 0.01, 0.1 and 1, respectively. Bars represent the mean of the three independent sample ratios \pm standard deviation

Focusing on the run performed at MOI of 0.01, **Figure 7** compares the accumulation of infectious viral particles and of viral genomes throughout the production run. As already shown in **Figure 5**, the infectious viral titer reached a plateau after which it started to decline. In contrast, the number of viral genomes did not decline after reaching a plateau. Since the number of viral genomes can be linked to the number of viral particles containing a genome, this effect can be attributed to a loss of viral infectivity over time whereas the total viral particles count remained constant. This results in a lower quality of the product during the late stage of production as a higher ratio of infectious to total particles is desired. Consequently, the virus should be harvested right at the time of peak production to avoid losing infectivity of the final product.



Figure 7. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of Vero cells at MOI of 0.01 in 6-well plates comparing infectious titers and genomic titers. Infectious viral titers expressed as $TCID_{50}/mL$ and the number of viral genomes expressed as VG/mL are plotted against the time post-infection. Bars represent the mean of the three independent samples \pm standard deviation, however, the standard deviation of the genomic titer is too low to be visible on the logarithmic scale.

Based on the data of this preliminary experiment, it was decided to use an MOI of 0.01 for all subsequent experiments. Despite a much higher fold increase in the infectious viral titer at an MOI of 0.0001, the better quality of the product (higher ratio of infectious to total viral particles) and the shorter production timeline (peak production at 36 hpi compared to 60 hpi) were crucial.

Reduced temperature during virus production increases titer in 6-well plates

Next, the influence of a temperature shift on rVSV-ZEBOV production was studied in 6well plates. Lowering the temperature of the culture to 34 °C at the time of infection has been reported to increase infectious titers of rVSV-GFP and rVSV-ZEBOV in HEK 293SF cells (Elahi et al., 2019; Gélinas et al., 2019). Hence, this temperature shift was compared to a parallel virus production at 37 °C. **Figure 8** shows the progression of rVSV-ZEBOV production over time. The maximum titer of 8.79×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL was reached at 36 hpi at 34 °C. Compared to the parallel production at 37 °C with otherwise identical conditions, this represents a 2.5-fold increase at this time point. There was a statistically significant difference (p = 0.0156) between the two group means as determined by a Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test. In agreement, a 3.3-fold and 6-fold increase during production of rVSV-GFP and rVSV-ZEBOV, respectively, have been reported (Elahi et al., 2019; Gélinas et al., 2019). Of interest, the infectious titer did not decline as rapidly as at 37 °C, possibly indicating higher virus stability at lower temperatures. Moreover, the ratio of viral genomes to the infectious titer was $20.5 \pm 2.5 \text{ VG/TCID}_{50}$ at $34 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ and $54.7 \pm 8.1 \,\text{VG/TCID}_{50}$ at $37 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$, and therefore more favorable at the lower temperature.



Figure 8. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of Vero cells at different temperatures in 6-well plates. Cells were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV at an MOI of 0.01 and virus production was carried out at either 34 °C or 37 °C. Infectious viral titers expressed as $TCID_{50}/mL$ are plotted against the time post-infection. Bars represent the mean of the three independent samples ± standard deviation, however, the standard deviation of some values is too low to be visible on the logarithmic scale. There was a statistically significant difference (p = 0.0156) between the two group means as determined by a Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test.

Microcarrier bioprocess of rVSV-ZEBOV production in Vero cells

To evaluate the scalability potential of rVSV-ZEBOV production in adherent Vero cells and to have better control over process parameters, the process was operated at bioreactorscale. Thus, a bioprocess using microcarriers was operated with similar cell growth conditions as previously described (Rourou et al., 2007).

Vero cells were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV after 3 days of initiating the culture. The temperature was lowered to 34 °C just before infecting the culture, following the results of the previous 6-well plate temperature study.

As shown in **Figure 9**, the Vero cell density did not continue to increase after virus infection. A slower cell growth rate at 34 °C can be linked to the preferred growth temperature of 37 °C of Vero cells. Moreover, VSV infections typically lead to the rounding of cells, cell detachment from surfaces and, finally, to cell death decreasing the viable cell density as observed during the virus production phase (Lichty et al., 2004).

Virus production peaked at 36 hpi, reaching 1.42×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL. As seen before, the infectious titer declined thereafter. Compared to the 6-well plate experiments, similar kinetics were obtained. However, 6-times lower infectious titers were reached. In addition, the ratio of viral genomes to infectious particles at peak production was, with a value of 1130 VG/TCID₅₀, more than 55-fold higher than at 34 °C in 6-well plates. Taken together these observations suggest that, while more total viral particles were produced in the bioreactor at 34 °C, a significant fraction of the virus is either defective or unstable under these bioprocess conditions. Further, with regard to the maximum cell density, a ratio of 7.6 TCID₅₀/cell and 8557 VG/cell has been obtained at peak production, supporting the argument that the productivity of infectious particles per cell could be improved.



Figure 9. Vero cell growth and rVSV-ZEBOV production in a 1 L bioreactor with temperature reduction to 34 °C during the virus production phase. Cells were grown on Cytodex 1 microcarriers and infected with rVSV-ZEBOV at an MOI of 0.01 after 3 days of cultivation.

Comparing Vero cell growth on microcarriers versus fixed-bed

The scale-X[™] hydro is a novel fixed-bed bioreactor system from Univercells with the purpose of creating a high cell density environment that could be exploited for, amongst other things, viral vector production. First, Vero cell growth alone in the fixed-bed bioreactor was compared to its cultivation on microcarriers. In both cases, the same supplemented serum-free medium was used, omitting only the poloxamer 188 in the case of the fixed-bed. In addition, the bioprocesses were maintained at the same parameters (pH, DO, temperature, working volume to surface area ratio) to achieve comparable results.

Figure 10 shows the growth profile of Vero cells in these two bioreactors as well as the metabolite concentration of the main substrates. Despite a lower initial cell seeding density in the case of the fixed-bed bioreactor (11,458 cells/cm²) compared to the microcarrier process (22,700 cells/cm²), similar cell growth patterns were obtained, reaching maximum cell densities of 240,000 cells/cm² on microcarriers and 271,605 cells/cm² in the fixed-bed, which is in agreement with prior data obtained in similar fixed-bed bioreactors (Valkama et al., 2018) and likewise consistent with data from microcarrier cultivations mentioned in the literature (Mendonça et al., 2002; Rourou et al., 2007). Besides, the consumption of glucose and L-glutamine was comparable, underlining similar cell growth kinetics.



Figure 10. Vero cell growth was compared between a microcarrier bioreactor and the scale-X[™] hydro fixedbed bioreactor. Cell growth in the fixed-bed is lagging behind the microcarrier process due to a lower cell seeding density. Concentrations of the main metabolic substrates indicate similar growth kinetics in the two systems.

At the end of the fixed-bed bioreactor cultivation (192 h), a cell distribution analysis was carried out. As shown in **Figure 11**, Vero cells were homogeneously distributed within the fixed-bed in both, axial and radial direction. The overall cell count average between all 18 samples resulted in 265,226 \pm 60,138 cells/cm². However, the cell count determined from the sample strip at this time point was only 185,185 cells/cm² indicating a slight underestimation of the cell count by the sample strip method.



Figure 11. Vero cell distribution within the fixed-bed cell support layers. From each of the 2 layers, 9 samples were taken at different axial (bed height) and radial positions. Error bars indicate standard deviation between the two layers.

Fixed-bed bioreactor production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells

To compare rVSV-ZEBOV production in Vero cells in the scale-X^M hydro to the microcarrier bioreactor run at 34 °C (see **Figure 9**), cells were seeded at similar cell densities in the fixed-bed (22,708 cells/cm²) compared to the previous microcarrier bioreactor (22,727 cells/cm²) and the bioprocess was carried out in a similar way, maintaining process parameters at the same setpoints. Cells were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV at an MOI of 0.01 after the same cell cultivation time of 3 days. Cell growth was slightly slower in the fixed-bed, reaching 152,263 cells/cm² at the time of infection (**Figure 12**), where the microcarrier cell density was at 209,091 cells/cm². As seen for the microcarrier bioprocess at 34 °C, the cell density did not continue to increase after infection, however, it did not decline as sharply in the fixed-bed bioreactor for the first 24 hpi.

The maximum infectious titer of 1.95×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL was reached after 24 hpi, indicating faster reaction kinetics while infectious viral titers were comparable. Faster reaction kinetics can be due to the fact that the cells were more tightly packed within the fixed-bed compared to the microcarrier system, making it potentially more likely for a virus to attach to a cell within this space. In addition, for the first 4 hours after infection, the

recirculation of the culture liquid between the fixed-bed unit and the media bottle was suspended. This led to a 2.8-fold higher volumetric concentration of the virus during this time compared to the microcarrier bioreactor, while maintaining the same MOI, further increasing the likelihood of virus-to-cell attachment.

Moreover, at this time point, the ratio of viral genomes to the infectious titer was only 101 VG/TCID₅₀ implying a better quality of the produced virus compared to 1130 VG/TCID₅₀ at the peak production during the microcarrier process. Nevertheless, this also indicates a lower titer in total viral particles produced. With regard to the maximum cell density, a ratio of 14.4 TCID₅₀/cell and 1459 VG/cell has been obtained at peak production in the fixed-bed bioreactor. This represents a 1.9-fold increase of the cell-specific productivity of infectious particles compared to the microcarrier system, but also a 5.9-fold decrease in the productivity of total viral particles per cell.



Figure 12. Vero cell growth and rVSV-ZEBOV production in the scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed bioreactor. Cells were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV at an MOI of 0.01 after 3 days of cultivation. The temperature was lowered to 34 °C during the virus production phase.

In the following experiment, another scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed bioreactor was inoculated with Vero cells as previously described. The aim was to investigate if a higher cell density at the time of infection would impact virus production. Hence, the whole medium was exchanged after 3 days and again after 6 days, to promote Vero cell growth during prolonged

cultivation time. On day 6 of the process, cells were infected right after the medium exchange with the same MOI of 0.01 as before. **Figure 13** shows the profile of Vero cell growth and virus production of this experiment. Vero cell numbers continued to increase for an additional 12 hpi after which cell density sharply declined. Like the previous run, rVSV-ZEBOV production peaked after 24 hpi, reaching $2.59 \times 10^7 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}$. Although maximum infectious titers were not significantly increased compared to the previous run, the ratio of viral genomes to the infectious titer was with 31 VG/TCID₅₀ even lower than before and comparable to those obtained at 34 °C in 6-well plates. Whether this improvement in product quality can be attributed to the higher cell density or the medium exchanges needs to be verified in future experiments. However, the cell specific productivity of infectious particles was with 11.2 TCID₅₀/cell 1.3-fold lower than in the previous fixed-bed bioreactor run.

In direct comparison to rVSV-ZEBOV production in HEK 293SF suspension cultures, where a bioreactor production led to 1.19×10^8 TCID₅₀/mL, production in Vero cells resulted in lower infectious yields. In the case of HEK 293SF cultures, a different media was selected, likely contributing to the different results. In addition, cells continued to grow for the first 24 hpi despite a temperature shift to 34 °C. Moreover, the cell specific yield was only 11.2 TCID₅₀/cell in Vero compared to 103 in HEK 293SF. Similarly, the genomic titer fell short with 7.90×10⁸ VG/mL in Vero at 24 hpi, compared to 5.95 × 10⁹ VG/mL in HEK 293SF at 36 hpi, at their respective peak of infectious titer (Gélinas et al., 2019).

In either case, this fixed-bed run produced 2412 vaccine dose equivalents, considering that each vaccine dose corresponds to 2×10^7 PFU (Henao-Restrepo et al., 2017). Infectious viral titers are lower compared to the roller bottle manufacturing process of this vaccine candidate, where titers of up to 8 – 9 log10 PFU/mL have been reported (Monath et al., 2019). In contrast to this process, however, which employs the parallel usage of around 300-400 roller bottles, bioprocess operation using bioreactors could reduce the amount of manual labor and hence the risk of contamination.



Figure 13. Vero cell growth and rVSV-ZEBOV production in the scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed bioreactor with extended cell growth phase and two media exchanges. Cells were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV at an MOI of 0.01 after 6 days of cultivation. The temperature was lowered to 34 °C during the virus production phase. A complete medium exchange was performed on day 3 and again on day 6, immediately before infection.

Conclusion

In this study, rVSV-ZEBOV production in Vero cells was investigated. At first, experiments in 6-well plate format were used to determine process parameters such as MOI and temperature during the virus production phase. To determine the best conditions for optimized titer and yield, a cell-based assay (TCID₅₀) and a droplet PCR assay were utilized to scrutinize the infectious viral titer and the number of total viral particles. Following this optimization study, the bioprocess was developed in a microcarrier bioreactor and additionally in a novel fixed-bed bioreactor system.

Based on the 6-well plate experiments, it was found that using a MOI range of 0.01 to 0.0001 resulted in the best combinations of high infectious titer and viral yield. Moreover, to achieve efficient production timelines and to obtain the best quality product possible, the viral product should be harvested as early as possible, ideally at the peak of the infectious titer. In addition, the results provide further indication that production at 34 °C enables higher maximum infectious titers as shown previously (Gélinas et al., 2019), as well as a lower ratio of VGs to infectious units of the product.

Scale-up of the bioprocess to bench-scale using microcarrier technology resulted in slightly lower infectious viral titers compared to the 6-well plates with otherwise consistent viral kinetics. The scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed bioreactor produced similar infectious titers than the microcarrier run but achieved in shorter production timelines. Additionally, the fixed-bed bioreactor produced rVSV-ZEBOV at a lower ratio of viral genomes to the infectious titer and a higher cell-specific productivity of infectious viral particles

Importantly, the findings of this study could be rapidly applied to current manufacturing processes of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells to optimize the bioprocess and to ultimately lower the cost for Ebola virus vaccine manufacturing.

Future experiments should explore the potential of bioprocess improvements such as fed-batch and perfusion cultures for both, microcarrier and fixed-bed processes. Further, scalability of this process within the scale-X[™] portfolio needs to be demonstrated.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Sascha Kiesslich: Conceptualization, Investigation, Formal analysis, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. José Pedro Vila-Chã Losa: Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Jean- François Gélinas: Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing. Amine A. Kamen: Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by Canadian Institutes of Health Research Grant OVV 152411. SK is funded by a doctoral scholarship from the Fonds de Recherche du Québec – Santé (FRQS). JFG is funded by a Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) postdoctoral fellowship. The funding sources had no involvement in the study design, in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data, in the writing of the report or in the decision to submit the article for publication. Univercells provided the scale-X[™] hydro fixed-bed bior- eactor system free of charge. Pratik Gajjar, from Univercells contributed to the first bioreactor set up and operation. Univercells had no input in the redaction of this manuscript.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2020.01.015.

References

- Agnandji, S.T., Huttner, A., Zinser, M.E., Njuguna, P., Dahlke, C., Fernandes, J.F., Yerly, S., Dayer, J.J.-A., Kraehling, V., Kasonta, R., Adegnika, A. a., Altfeld, M., Auderset, F., Bache, E.B., Biedenkopf, N., Borregaard, S., Brosnahan, J.S., Burrow, R., Combescure, C., Desmeules, J., Eickmann, M., Fehling, S.K., Finckh, A., Goncalves, A.R., Grobusch, M.P., Hooper, J.W., Jambrecina, A., Kabwende, A.L., Kaya, G., Kimani, D., Lell, B., Lemaître, B., Lohse, A.W., Massinga-Loembe, M., Matthey, A., Mordmüller, B., Nolting, A., Ogwang, C., Ramharter, M., Schmidt-Chanasit, J., Schmiedel, S., Silvera, P., Stahl, F.R., Staines, H.M., Strecker, T., Stubbe, H.C., Tsofa, B., Zaki, S., Fast, P., Moorthy, V., Kaiser, L., Krishna, S., Becker, S., Kieny, M.-P., Bejon, P., Kremsner, P.G., Addo, M.M., Siegrist, C.-A., 2016. Phase 1 Trials of rVSV Ebola Vaccine in Africa and Europe. N. Engl. J. Med. 347, 1647–60. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1502924
- Ammerman, N.C., Beier-Sexton, M., Azad, A.F., 2008. Growth and Maintenance of Vero Cell Lines. Curr Protoc Microbiol 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780471729259.mca04es11
- Barrett, P.N., Mundt, W., Kistner, O., Howard, M.K., 2009. Vero cell platform in vaccine production: moving towards cell culture-based viral vaccines. Expert Rev. Vaccines 8, 607–618. https://doi.org/10.1586/erv.09.19
- Elahi, S.M., Shen, C.F., Gilbert, R., 2019. Optimization of Production of Vesicular Stomatitis
 Virus (VSV) in suspension serum-free culture medium at high cell density. J. Biotechnol.
 289, 144–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2018.11.023
- Emmerling, V. V., Pegel, A., Milian, E.G., Venereo-Sanchez, A., Kunz, M., Wegele, J., Kamen, A.A., Kochanek, S., Hoerer, M., 2016. Rational plasmid design and bioprocess optimization to

enhance recombinant adeno-associated virus (AAV) productivity in mammalian cells. Biotechnol. J. 11, 290–297. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201500176

- Gélinas, J.-F., Azizi, H., Kiesslich, S., Lanthier, S., Perdersen, J., Chahal, P.S., Ansorge, S., Kobinger, G., Gilbert, R., Kamen, A.A., 2019. Production of rVSV-ZEBOV in serum-free suspension culture of HEK 293SF cells. Vaccine 37, 6624–6632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.09.044
- Henao-Restrepo, A.M., Camacho, A., Longini, I.M., Watson, C.H., Edmunds, W.J., Egger, M., Carroll, M.W., Dean, N.E., Diatta, I., Doumbia, M., Draguez, B., Duraffour, S., Enwere, G., Grais, R., Gunther, S., Gsell, P.-S., Hossmann, S., Watle, S.V., Kondé, M.K., Kéïta, S., Kone, S., Kuisma, E., Levine, M.M., Mandal, S., Mauget, T., Norheim, G., Riveros, X., Soumah, A., Trelle, S., Vicari, A.S., Røttingen, J.-A., Kieny, M.-P., 2017. Efficacy and effectiveness of an rVSV-vectored vaccine in preventing Ebola virus disease: final results from the Guinea ring vaccination, open-label, cluster-randomised trial (Ebola Ça Suffit!). Lancet 389, 505–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32621-6
- Henao-Restrepo, A.M., Longini, I.M., Egger, M., Dean, N.E., Edmunds, W.J., Camacho, A., Carroll, M.W., Doumbia, M., Draguez, B., Duraffour, S., Enwere, G., Grais, R., Gunther, S., Hossmann, S., Kondé, M.K., Kone, S., Kuisma, E., Levine, M.M., Mandal, S., Norheim, G., Riveros, X., Soumah, A., Trelle, S., Vicari, A.S., Watson, C.H., Kéïta, S., Kieny, M.P., Røttingen, J.A., 2015. Efficacy and effectiveness of an rVSV-vectored vaccine expressing Ebola surface glycoprotein: interim results from the Guinea ring vaccination cluster-randomised trial. Lancet 386, 857–866. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61117-5
- Kärber, G., 1931. Beitrag zur kollektiven Behandlung pharmakologischer Reihenversuche. Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol. 162, 480–483. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01863914
- Kilburn, D.G., Webb, F.C., 1968. The Cultivation of Animal Cells at Controlled Dissolved
 Oxygen Partial Pressure. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 10, 801–814.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260100607
- Lesch, H.P., Heikkilä, K.M., Lipponen, E.M., Valonen, P., Müller, A., Räsänen, E., Tuunanen, T., Hassinen, M.M., Parker, N., Karhinen, M., Shaw, R., Ylä-Herttuala, S., 2015. Process Development of Adenoviral Vector Production in Fixed-bed Bioreactor: From Bench to Commercial Scale. Hum. Gene Ther. 26, 560–71. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2015.081

- Lichty, B.D., Power, A.T., Stojdl, D.F., Bell, J.C., 2004. Vesicular stomatitis virus: Re-inventing the bullet. Trends Mol. Med. 10, 210–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2004.03.003
- Mattos, D.A., Silva, M. V., Gaspar, L.P., Castilho, L.R., 2015. Increasing Vero viable cell densities for yellow fever virus production in stirred-tank bioreactors using serum-free medium. Vaccine 33, 4288–4291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.050
- McCarron, A., Donnelley, M., McIntyre, C., Parsons, D., 2019. Transient Lentiviral Vector Production Using a Packed-Bed Bioreactor System. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 30, 93– 101. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2019.038
- Mendonça, R.Z., Arrózio, S.J., Antoniazzi, M.M., Ferreira, J.M.C., Pereira, C.A., 2002. Metabolic active-high density VERO cell cultures on microcarriers following apoptosis prevention by galactose/glutamine feeding. J. Biotechnol. 97, 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1656(02)00048-2
- Merten, O.W., 2015. Advances in cell culture: Anchorage dependence. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 370. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0040
- Monath, T.P., Fast, P.E., Modjarrad, K., Clarke, D.K., Martin, B.K., Fusco, J., Nichols, R., Gray Heppner, D., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A., Robertson, J.S., 2019. rVSVΔG-ZEBOV-GP (also designated V920) Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Pseudotyped with Ebola Zaire Glycoprotein: Standardized Template with Key Considerations for a Risk/Benefit Assessment. Vaccine X 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvacx.2019.100009
- Ozturk, S., Hu, W.S., 2005. Cell culture technology for pharmaceutical and cell-based therapies. CRC Press.
- Powers, A.D., Piras, B.A., Clark, R.K., Lockey, T., Meagher, M.M., 2016. Development and optimization of AAV hFIX particles by transient transfection in an iCELLis® fixed bed bioreactor. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 27, 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2016.021
- Regules, J.A., Beigel, J.H., Paolino, K.M., Voell, J., Castellano, A.R., Hu, Z., Muñoz, P., Moon, J.E.,
 Ruck, R.C., Bennett, J.W., Twomey, P.S., Gutiérrez, R.L., Remich, S.A., Hack, H.R.,
 Wisniewski, M.L., Josleyn, M.D., Kwilas, S.A., Van Deusen, N., Mbaya, O.T., Zhou, Y., Stanley,
 D.A., Jing, W., Smith, K.S., Shi, M., Ledgerwood, J.E., Graham, B.S., Sullivan, N.J., Jagodzinski,

L.L., Peel, S.A., Alimonti, J.B., Hooper, J.W., Silvera, P.M., Martin, B.K., Monath, T.P., Ramsey, W.J., Link, C.J., Lane, H.C., Michael, N.L., Davey, R.T., Thomas, S.J., Bliss, R.L., Cebrik, D., Smith, K.S., Shi, M., Ledgerwood, J.E., Graham, B.S., Sullivan, N.J., Jagodzinski, L.L., Peel, S.A., Alimonti, J.B., Hooper, J.W., Silvera, P.M., Martin, B.K., Monath, T.P., Ramsey, W.J., Link, C.J., Lane, H.C., Michael, N.L., Davey, R.T., Thomas, S.J., rVSVΔG-ZEBOV-GP Study Group, 2015. A Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Ebola Vaccine. N. Engl. J. Med. 376, 330–341. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1414216

- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., Majoul, S., Trabelsi, K., Van Der Velden, T., Kallel, H., 2009. A novel animal-component-free medium for rabies virus production in Vero cells grown on Cytodex 1 microcarriers in a stirred bioreactor. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 85, 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-009-2064-y
- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., van der Velden, T., Kallel, H., 2007. A microcarrier cell culture process for propagating rabies virus in Vero cells grown in a stirred bioreactor under fully animal component free conditions. Vaccine 25, 3879–3889. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.086
- Shen, C.F., Guilbault, C., Li, X., Elahi, S.M., Ansorge, S., Kamen, A., Gilbert, R., 2019. Development of suspension adapted Vero cell culture process technology for production of viral vaccines. Vaccine. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.07.003
- Takada, A., Robison, C., Goto, H., Sanchez, A., Murti, K.G., Whitt, M.A., Kawaoka, Y., 1997. A system for functional analysis of Ebola virus glycoprotein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94, 14764–9.
- Thomassen, Y.E., Rubingh, O., Wijffels, R.H., van der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2014. Improved poliovirus D-antigen yields by application of different Vero cell cultivation methods. Vaccine 32, 2782–2788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.02.022
- Trabelsi, K., Majoul, S., Rourou, S., Kallel, H., 2014. Process intensification for an enhanced replication of a newly adapted RM-65 sheep pox virus strain in Vero cells grown in stirred bioreactor. Biochem. Eng. J. 90, 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2014.06.001
- Trabelsi, K., Rourou, S., Loukil, H., Majoul, S., Kallel, H., 2005. Comparison of various culture modes for the production of rabies virus by Vero cells grown on microcarriers in a 2-l bioreactor. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 36, 514–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2004.11.008

- Valkama, A.J., Leinonen, H.M., Lipponen, E.M., Turkki, V., Malinen, J., Heikura, T., Ylä-Herttuala, S., Lesch, H.P., 2018. Optimization of lentiviral vector production for scale-up in fixed-bed bioreactor. Gene Ther. 25, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2017.91
- World Health Organization, 2019a. Ebola Virus Desease. Democratic Republic of the Congo:ExternalSituationReport38.https//apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/312080/SITREP-EVD-DRC-20192404-eng.pdf?ua=1 (retrieved 25 April 2019).
- World Health Organization, 2019b. Statement on the meeting of the International Health Regulations (2005) Emergency Committee for Ebola virus disease in the Democratic Republic of the Congo on 17 July 2019. https://www.who.int/ihr/procedures/statement-emergency-committee-ebola-drcjuly-2019.pdf?ua=1.
- World Health Organization, 2016. Situation Report: Ebola Virus Disease 10 June 2016. http//apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/208883/1/ebolasitrep_10Jun2016_eng.pdf? ua=1 (retrieved 25 April 2019).
- Zimmer, B., Summermatter, K., Zimmer, G., 2013. Stability and inactivation of vesicular stomatitis virus, a prototype rhabdovirus. Vet. Microbiol. 162, 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.08.023

Preface to Chapter 4

The final chapter of this thesis is studying bioprocess development of suspension adapted Vero cell cultures for rVSV production. This work is a direct continuation of the previous chapter. As described in the first chapter, suspension cell culture systems are considered the optimal substrate for virus production. Adaptation of the Vero cell line to grow in suspension culture has a long history and only recently studies proposed a working suspension cell line. Despite intense adaptation efforts in our laboratory, a working cell bank was not established. Therefore, we obtained a Vero suspension cell line from a collaborator.

At first, small scale experiments are looking at important process parameters such as multiplicity of infection and cell density. In addition, the use of different media is compared. rVSV-ZEBOV production is scaled-up to the bioreactor and productions between previously described microcarrier and fixed-bed bioreactors are compared. In addition, the bioreactor process is transferred to an rVSV-based vaccine candidate against HIV.

In the context of the recent COVID-19 pandemic, we received another strain or rVSV which expresses the SARS-CoV-2-S protein on its surface and is currently in pre-clinical trials to assess the safety and efficacy as a COVID-19 vaccine candidate. Based on the process of rVSV-ZEBOV, we demonstrate the applicability of this system to the production of an urgently needed vaccine candidate.

Chapter 4

Bioreactor production of rVSV-based vectors in Vero cell suspension cultures

Authors:	Sascha Kiesslich ¹ , Gyoung Nyoun Kim ² , Chun Fang Shen ³ , C. Yong
	Kang ² , Amine A. Kamen ^{1,*}
Author affiliation :	¹ Department of Bioengineering, McGill University, 817 Sherbrooke
	Street West, Montreal, Quebec H3A 0C3, Canada
	² Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Schulich School of
	Medicine and Dentistry, The University of Western Ontario, London,
	Ontario N6G 2V4, Canada
	³ Human Health Therapeutics Research Center, National Research
	Council of Canada, 6100 Royalmount Ave, Montreal, Quebec H4P 2R2,
	Canada
Notes:	* Corresponding author.
Status:	Submitted for publication to the Journal Biotechnology &
	Bioengineering (Wiley)

Abstract

The Vero cell line is the most used continuous cell line in viral vaccine manufacturing. This adherent cell culture platform requires the use of surfaces to support cell growth, typically roller bottles or microcarriers. We have recently compared the production of rVSV-ZEBOV on Vero cells between microcarrier and fixed-bed bioreactors. However, suspension cultures are considered superior with regard to process scalability. Therefore, we further explore the Vero suspension system for rVSV-vectored vaccine production. Previously, this suspension cell line was only able to be cultivated in proprietary medium. Here, we show the adaptation and bioreactor cultivation in a commercial medium. Following small scale optimization and screening studies, we demonstrate the bioreactor production of highly relevant vaccines and vaccine candidates against Ebola virus disease, HIV and COVID-19 in the Vero suspension system. rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV and rVSVInd-*msp*-SF-*Gtc* can replicate to high titers in the bioreactor, reaching 3.87×10⁷ TCID₅₀/mL, 2.12×10⁷ TCID₅₀/mL and 3.59×10⁹ TCID₅₀/mL, respectively. Further, we compare cell specific productivities, and take an in-depth look at the quality of the produced viruses by determining the ratio of total viral particles to infectious viral particles.

Keywords

Vero suspension culture, Viral vaccine bioprocess, Bioreactor production, rVSV-ZEBOV HIV, COVID-19

Abbreviations

COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019; DIP, defective interfering particle; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; hpi, hours post-infection; MOI, multiplicity of infection; TOI, time of infection; rVSV, recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus

Introduction

Recombinant vectored vaccines produced in cell culture are receiving increased attention in the fight against infectious diseases. More and more vaccines are available that are based on this technology and research efforts to develop new vaccines or to improve current manufacturing processes have intensified over the last years (Ura et al., 2020). One such system is based on the recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV). In addition to its use as a vaccine vector, VSV has been used extensively in many areas of research, for example as an oncolytic virus or as a gene delivery tool (Lichty et al., 2004; Munis et al., 2020).

VSV is a replication-competent virus with a single-stranded, negative-sense RNA genome. The native glycoprotein, VSV-G, is responsible for viral entry into the cell. When genetically engineered to express the glycoprotein of another virus instead, rVSV can be used as a vaccine vector by delivering foreign antigens (Munis et al., 2020). The advantage of such a vectored vaccine is the increased safety during manufacturing, since the production of live-attenuated or inactivated vaccines of highly pathogenic viruses (e.g. HIV, Ebola) would require stringent biosafety standards. The recent success story of the EMA and FDA-approved Ebola vaccine rVSV-ZEBOV showcases the potential of the rVSV platform (Henao-Restrepo et al., 2017). rVSV-ZEBOV is a replication competent virus in which VSV-G was replaced by a Zaire Ebolavirus glycoprotein (ZEBOV), which is the main antigen of the Ebolavirus. Several rVSV-based vaccines are in development, for example against measles, Lassa fever and Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) (Henao-Restrepo et al., 2020; Munis et al., 2020).

In the light of the progress achieved with rVSV-ZEBOV, three novel rVSV constructs have been described recently, which carry different glycoproteins of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) (Mangion et al., 2020). These HIV-vaccine candidates were produced in adherent Vero cells in tissue culture plates and it was demonstrated that they induced an HIV gp140-specific antibody response when administered to mice. The rVSV-B6-A74Env(PN6)/SIVtm construct was selected for further studies in non-human primates.

In the current race for a COVID-19 vaccine, recombinant vectored vaccines produced in cell culture are amongst the most promising (Ura et al., 2020). For example, ChAdOx1 nCoV-19, developed by the University of Oxford, is based on a chimpanzee adenovirus-vectored

vaccine expressing the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein (Folegatti et al., 2020) and its safety, efficacy, and immunogenicity is being assessed in a phase III clinical trial (NCT04516746). Further, the Oxford–AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine has been authorized by several national agencies, for example in the United Kingdom, and has been given WHO Emergency Use Listing (EUL) (World Health Organization, 2021).

Besides, several rVSV-based COVID-19 vaccine candidates expressing the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein are being evaluated in preclinical trials (University of Manitoba, Canada; University of Western Ontario, Canada; Aurobindo Pharma, India; Israel Institute for Biological Research/Weizmann Institute of Science, Israel; FBRI SRC VB VECTOR, Russia) and a phase I clinical trial (Merck Sharp & Dohme/IAVI; NCT04569786) (World Health Organization, 2020b). The COVID-19 vaccine candidate rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc*, is a temperature-sensitive construct. It is based on a recombinant VSV_{Ind}(GML), and shows reduced cytopathic effect *in vitro* at 37 °C, but replicates well at 31 °C (Kim et al., 2015). This attenuation was used as a strategy to further increase the safety of rVSV for its use as a human vaccine. rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* is expressing the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein gene, the honeybee melittin signal peptide gene and the VSV-G protein transmembrane domain gene.

Currently, the rVSV-ZEBOV vaccine is manufactured under serum-free conditions in adherent Vero cells using the roller bottle technology (Monath et al., 2019). To improve manufacturing cost-effectiveness, more scalable bioprocesses involving microcarrier bioreactors and fixed-bed bioreactors have been studied recently (Kiesslich et al., 2020). However, these adherent cell processes still have scale-up limitations, for example the cell expansion steps during the seed train operation require cell detachment from and reattachment to surfaces, usually involving enzymatic solutions such as trypsin. Suspension cell systems are considered superior with regard to process scale-up, since the transfer of cells to successively larger bioreactor vessels is straightforward.

Adherently growing Vero cells are the most used continuous cell line in viral vaccine manufacturing. For example, vaccines against Ebola, influenza, Japanese encephalitis, polio, rabies, rotavirus and smallpox are available on the market and vaccines against other infectious diseases are under development, using this cell line. The many advantages of this cell line are its broad susceptibility to many viruses, the long-term experience in cell culture

and the regulatory portfolio associated with vaccine manufacturing organization and health authorities worldwide (Kiesslich and Kamen, 2020).

Adaptation of the Vero cell line to grow in suspension culture to significantly improve this cell culture manufacturing platform has been of interest for many years (Litwin, 1992; Paillet et al., 2009). Lately, studies have reported the successful adaptation using proprietary media (Rourou et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2019). Shen et al. showed that Vero cells can grow in suspension culture in serum-free batch and perfusion bioreactors, and successfully applied their system to the production of rVSV-GFP, which uses the native glycoprotein VSV-G for viral entry into the cell.

In this work, we further explore the Vero suspension system described previously (Shen et al., 2019), and demonstrate its applicability to relevant rVSV-based vaccine candidates. Using rVSV-ZEBOV as a model for rVSV, we focus on small scale experiments to optimize the multiplicity of infection (MOI) and investigate effects of different cell densities. Next, we compare the production of rVSV-ZEBOV in this system to the production in Vero cells that were adapted to grow in suspension culture in a commercially available medium. In addition, we show the production of newly developed candidate vaccines against HIV (rVSV-HIV) and COVID-19 (rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc*). Based on these results, we demonstrate production in batch bioreactor for all three rVSV variants.

Materials & Methods

Cell line and culture media

The suspension adapted Vero cell line was provided by the National Research Council of Canada, Montreal, Canada, and its adaptation process has been described previously (Shen et al., 2019). For routine passaging, the cells from the late exponential growth phase were harvested by centrifugation for 5 minutes at 500 g and the cell pellet was resuspended in fresh medium to a seeding cell density of $2.5-5 \times 10^5$ cells/mL in 125 mL polycarbonate shake flasks (TriForest Enterprises, USA) and maintained at 37 °C, 135 rpm and 5% CO₂ in an humified Multitron orbital shaker (Infors HT, Switzerland). The cells were cultivated in 20 mL working volume of either IHM03 medium, provided by the National Research Council

of Canada, Montreal, Canada, or in MDXK medium (Xell AG, Germany), supplemented with 4 mM GlutaMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA).

Viruses

Origin and viral seed stock amplification of rVSV-ZEBOV and rVSV-B6-A74Env(PN6)/SIVtm (hereafter referred to as rVSV-HIV) have been described previously (Kiesslich et al., 2020) (Mangion et al., 2020). The viral seed stock of rVSV-ZEBOV had a titer of 1.49 × 107 TCID50/mL and 2.80 × 109 VG/mL, whereas rVSV-HIV had a titer of 7.14 × 106 TCID50/mL and 3.13 × 1010 VG/mL, respectively

The recombinant COVID-19 vaccine candidate rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* was constructed as follows: Codon-optimized full-length spike protein gene of SARS-CoV-2 (GenBank: JX869059.2) was purchased from Genscript USA Inc (Pscataway, NJ, USA), cloned into an avirulent Indiana serotype of vesicular stomatitis virus [VSV_{Ind}(GML)] as has been described previously (Kim et al., 2015). The honeybee melittin signal peptide (*msp*) was inserted at the NH₂-terminus and the transmembrane domain and cytoplasmic tail (Gtc) of the S protein was substituted by the Gtc of VSV_{Ind} G protein at the COOH-terminus. In addition, the VSV transgenic sequences were added in front of the spike protein gene in order to provide the transcription terminal signal, polyadenylation signal, and the transcription re-initiation signal. The modified SARS-CoV-2 spike protein gene was inserted into the G and L gene junction of the VSV_{Ind}(GML) at *Pme I* and *Mlu I* sites. Recombinant rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* virus was recovered by VSV reverse genetics as has been described previously (Kim et al., 2015). The recombinant virus was purified by three consecutive plaque picking, and a stock virus was prepared by infecting BHK₂₁ cells. The viral seed stock of rVSVInd-msp-SF-Gtc had a titer of 1.43 × 108 TCID50/mL and 4.64 × 109 VG/mL.

Shake flask virus studies

For virus infection studies in shake flasks, suspension adapted Vero cells from the late exponential growth phase were harvested, if required pooled, and seeded at the indicated cell density in fresh medium. Vero cells were infected with rVSV at the indicated MOI and the temperature was shifted to either 34 °C (rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV) or 31 °C (rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-

Gtc). Samples for virus titration were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200 × g to remove cellular debris, aliquoted and stored at –80 °C.

Bioreactor cultures

Bioreactor cultures were performed in a 1 L bioreactor (Applikon Biotechnology, The Netherlands) equipped with a marine impeller, pH sensor, temperature sensor, and dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration sensor. MDXK medium was supplemented 4 mM L-glutamine (GE Healthcare, USA) instead of GlutaMAX to enable monitoring of L-glutamine consumption. Vero cell seed cultures were grown in progressively larger polycarbonate shake flasks (TriForest Enterprises, USA), harvested by centrifugation and resuspended in fresh medium before inoculation. The bioreactor was inoculated at a cell density of 2.5×10^5 cells/mL in 850 mL working volume. The culture was agitated at 100 rpm and kept at 37 °C. The DO concentration was kept at 50 % air-saturation by continuous surface aeration of 5 mL/min air and injection of pure oxygen through the sparger when required. The pH was set to 7.2 and regulated by injection of CO₂ into the headspace or addition of NaHCO₃ (90 g/L) (Sigma, USA). Samples were taken once or twice daily, depending on the progress of the culture, to subsequently determine viable cell density, metabolite concentration and virus titer. Samples for metabolite analysis and virus titration were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200 × g to remove cellular debris, aliquoted and stored at -80 °C.

For virus production, Vero cells were infected with rVSV at an MOI of 0.01 once the desired cell density was reached and the temperature was shifted to 34 °C or 31 °C, respectively, during the virus production phase. The glucose concentration was estimated once daily and if required adjusted to 2 g/L by feeding glucose (Sigma) concentrate (180 g/L). In addition, L-glutamine was maintained at a minimum concentration of 2 mM.

Analytical Methods

Vero cell concentration and viability were determined via the Vi-CELL XR cell counter (Beckman Coulter, USA). The Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose (TCID₅₀) assay and digital PCR assay used in this work to quantify the infectious titer and the number of viral genomes, respectively, have been described previously (Gélinas et al., 2020; Kiesslich et al.,
2020). For rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc*, the TCID₅₀ plates were incubated at 31 °C, due to the temperature sensitivity of this construct.

Metabolite analysis

During cell culture cultivations, the glucose concentration was estimated using the D-Fructose/D-Glucose Assay Kit (Megazyme, Ireland). More extensive metabolite analysis was performed offline via Bioprofile 400 (Nova Biomedical, USA) from samples that were stored at –80 °C.

Results and Discussion

Cell growth of Vero cells in suspension cultures

Screening for commercial media

Suspension adapted Vero cells grew well in shake flasks in IHM03 medium up to a cell density of around 2 × 10⁶ cells/mL and with doubling times of around 48 h as previously reported (Shen et al., 2019). IHM03 is an in-house medium developed and produced in small batches by the National Research Council, Montreal, Canada, supporting the growth and virus production of Vero suspension cultures. As reported by Shen et al. and Rourou et al., media composition is critical for successfully generating a suspension adapted Vero cell line and no commercial media was able to support Vero cell adaptation so far (Rourou et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2019). Despite these recently reported adaptation successes with in-house media, establishing a process using commercial media could reduce the risk of lot-to-lot variations and would make the platform more amenable to work under standard conditions when media supply is assured.

Therefore, efforts have been dedicated to assessing different commercial media. After 20 passages of adaptation in shake flasks, with gradual media replacement during the first five passages, a Vero cell line was obtained that was able to grow in MDXK medium (Xell AG) supplemented with 4 mM Glutamax and which exhibited cell doubling times of around 48-72 h (data not shown). Other commercial media that were tested, but did not support growth of Vero cells in suspension culture included VP-SFM, OptiPRO, FreeStyle 293 (Thermo Fisher

Scientific, USA), HyClone HyCell TransFx-H (GE Healthcare, USA), HEK GM (Xell AG, Germany) and ProVeroTM -1 serum free medium (SFM) (Lonza, Switzerland).

Despite slightly slower growth rates in MDXK than in IHM03 in shake flasks, the cells were able to grow to similar cell densities in batch shake flasks with less formation of cell aggregates. Compared to other mammalian suspension cell lines, like derivatives of HEK293 or CHO with cell doubling times of 24 h, there is still great potential to develop media that can support similar growth rates. With a suspension Vero cell line available, further research can use novel analytical techniques such as transcriptomics and metabolomics to facility media development specifically geared towards this cell line.

Cell growth in batch bioreactor

The suspension adapted Vero cells showed similar growth in IHM03 medium in 1L batch bioreactors as previously reported, reaching 1.78×10^6 cells/mL after 6 days (Shen et al., 2019). Cell viability was above 99 % during the whole run. The doubling time was around 51 hours for the entire batch process duration between cell seeding and peak in maximum cell density, and around 40 hours for the exponential cell growth phase taking place between cell seeding up until 96 hours. During the exponential growth phase, the cell growth rate was 0.0174 h^{-1} (**Figure 14** A). The substrates glucose and glutamine were almost depleted at the end of the culture. Ammonia was produced throughout and stayed below concentrations of 4 mM. Lactate production reached a concentration of 24.48 mM after 96 hours, but declined thereafter which can be explained by an uptake of lactate by the cells as previously reported (Quesney et al., 2003).

Cell growths in MDXK medium was slightly slower and only reached 1.45×10^6 cells/mL after 7 days. In MDXK, the doubling time was around 65 hours for the entire batch process duration between cell seeding and peak in maximum cell density. During the exponential cell growth phase between cell seeding up until 96 hours, the cell doubling time was 52 hours, resulting in a cell growth rate of 0.0132 h^{-1} (**Figure 14** B). However, in contrast to the shake flask experiments, Vero cells in MDXK medium showed a higher degree of aggregate formation in the bioreactor compared to cells in IHM03. This could have led to an underestimation of the cell count, which is also indicated by a higher glucose consumption rate in MDXK. Cell viability again was above 99 % throughout the process. As opposed to the

previous run, glucose and glutamine were depleted earlier and required feeding, adjusting glucose to 2 g/L and glutamine to 2 mM once daily starting on day 2 for glutamine and day 6 for glucose. Ammonia production was similar than before, never exceeding concentrations of 4 mM. Lactate production, however, was considerably higher and surpassed 50 mM at the end of the culture. Lactate was not consumed by the cells in MDXK medium indicating significant differences in the cell metabolism in the two media.

A drawback of the current procedure for cell passaging and bioreactor seed preparation is the need for centrifugation. Due to long cell doubling times, it is necessary to exchange spent medium at the end of each passage instead of diluting the culture with fresh medium. Further, the resuspension of the cell pellet after centrifugation breaks apart the majority of loosely aggregated cell clumps. While this procedure works well for small shake flask cultures, scale-up to larger volumes such as those in bioreactor vessels at the manufacturing stage can be challenging. Further studies will investigate the use of perfusion technologies to achieve higher cell densities, so that culture dilution can be applied instead of centrifugation when passaging. In addition, media optimization will be carried out to increase cell growth rates and to reduce cell adherence and aggregation.



Figure 14. Cell growth of suspension adapted Vero cells in IHM03 (A) and MDXK (B) medium in a 1 L bioreactor in batch mode. The concentration of the main metabolic substrates (glucose, L-glutamine) and by-products (lactate, ammonia) are given in mM or g/L.

rVSV-ZEBOV production in shake flask

rVSV-ZEBOV production experiments were initially carried out at a smaller scale in shake flasks to test multiple conditions simultaneously. In particular, the effects of varying multiplicities of infection (MOI), which is the ratio of infectious particles to the number of cells at the time of infection (TOI), as well as infections at different cell densities and in different growth media were screened. During the late stages of the cultivation when cell densities exceeded 1×10^6 cells/mL, cells started to adhere to the surface of the shake flask and cell aggregates were formed, which made it quite difficult to accurately determine the cell count. Therefore, initial experiments to investigate the infection kinetics of rVSV-ZEBOV in suspension adapted Vero cells, were carried out by seeding a single cell culture in fresh medium at a cell density of 1×10^6 cells/mL and cells were infected immediately thereafter.

Previous studies of rVSV-ZEBOV in adherent Vero cells and suspension cultures of HEK293 cells have shown that infection at a reduced temperature of 34 °C led to higher infectious titers compared to 37 °C (Kiesslich et al., 2020)(Gélinas et al., 2019). Based on these studies, the temperature was lowered to 34 °C after infection in all experiments of this work involving rVSV-ZEBOV.

Multiplicity of infection

Vero cells grown in IHM03 were infected with rVSV-ZEBOV at different MOIs and samples were taken every 12 hours to determine infection kinetics (Figure 15). For the selected range of MOI, peak production of rVSV-ZEBOV occurred between 24 and 36 hours post infection (hpi) and the titers were in the same range with $1.10 \times 10^7 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}$, $1.05 \times$ $10^7 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}$ and $1.58 \times 10^7 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}$ at an MOI of 0.001, 0.01 and 0.1, respectively. In all cases, the infectivity declined after the maximum titer had been reached. Similar kinetics have been observed for adherent growing Vero cells, however, the titers were more than eight times higher in adherent cell experiments in 6-well tissue culture plates, for example 8.79×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL at an MOI of 0.01 at 36 hpi (Kiesslich et al., 2020). Further, the cell density at the time of infection was more than three times higher for the suspension cultures than for the adherent cell cultures in the reported study, indicating even lower virus production per cell. Compared to rVSV-ZEBOV studies in suspension cultures of HEK293-SF, where cells were also seeded at 1×10^6 cells/mL, infected at an MOI of 0.001 and incubated at 34 °C, titers were almost ten times higher in HEK293-SF at 48 hpi with 1.00 × 10⁸ TCID₅₀/mL (Gélinas et al., 2019). It is to mention that adherent Vero as well as HEK239-SF cells were cultivated in commercially available media, optimized for cell growth and production.

rVSV infections of adherent Vero cells typically lead to a very distinct cytopathic effect, where cells become round shaped and eventually lift off from the surface. Of note, since suspension cells are already round shaped and not attached to a surface, the cytopathic effect induced by rVSV infections was less noticeable in the early stages of infection and only became more apparent when the cell diameter increased due to viral replication and when cells started to die from lysis caused by viral release.

Nevertheless, based on these experiments and in accordance with our previous work, it was decided to continue all subsequent rVSV experiments at an MOI of 0.01.



Figure 15. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of suspension adapted Vero cells at different MOIs ranging from 0.001 to 0.1 in 125 mL shake flask in IHM03 medium at a cell density of 1×10^6 cells/mL. Infectious viral titers expressed as TCID₅₀/mL are plotted against the time post-infection. Bars represent the mean of the samples from three independent shake flask replicates ± standard deviation.

Cell density

rVSV-ZEBOV replication in Vero cells grown in IHM03 and seeded at different cell densities was investigated to evaluate the effect of varying cell densities and to assess if the production yield was affected by the media capacity at the time of infection. **Figure 16** shows rVSV-ZEBOV infection at 1×10^6 cells/mL, 2×10^6 cells/mL and 4×10^6 cells/mL. The viral infection kinetics were slower compared to the previous experiments and infectious titers peaked at 48 hpi for all cases, indicating considerable variation between experiments when comparing the data to the experiment presented in **Figure 15**. Additionally, maximum

infectious titers were around three times higher for the run at 1×10^6 cells/mL, reaching 3.28×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL. To reduce variations and improve repeatability, cells from similar passages should be used. Further, cell density estimations, especially when the cultures contain aggregates, need to be carried out very careful since small errors can affect MOI calculations significantly.

Throughout the time curse of the experiment, titers were even higher at 2×10^6 cells/mL, but the maximum infectious titer was not significantly elevated at 48 hpi. For the run with a seeding cell density of 4×10^6 cells/mL, infectious titers of rVSV-ZEBOV were significantly higher, reaching 1.32×10^8 TCID₅₀/mL, exceeding infectious titers obtained from adherent Vero studies in 6-well plates (Kiesslich et al., 2020). A similar study carried out in HEK293-SF obtained two to three times higher titers with 2.92×10^8 TCID₅₀/mL and 2.36×10^8 TCID₅₀/mL, at 2.5×10^6 cells/mL and 5×10^6 cells/mL, respectively, compared to infection at 1×10^6 cells/mL (Gélinas et al., 2019). Furthermore, for rVSV-GFP produced in suspension cell cultures of Vero cells at different cell densities in a similar experiment, 3.8 times higher virus titers were obtained at 2.5×10^6 cells/mL compared to 0.87×10^6 cells/mL (Shen et al., 2019). But a further increase in cell density from 2.5×10^6 cells/mL to 5×10^6 cells/mL did not result in higher infectious titers, comparable to the results obtained in HEK293-SF. This cell density effect has also been observed for the production of other viruses. For example during poliovirus production, a higher cell density lead to lower cell specific poliovirus D-antigen levels (Thomassen et al., 2014).

These results indicate that suspension cultures of Vero cells could be a viable alternative if high cell density processes of suspension cultures can be achieved at larger scale, but further research is necessary to investigate effects of high cell density in more detail. One advantage though is that suspension cultures are not limited by the surface area, as is the case for adherent cell cultures using microcarriers, roller bottles or fixed-bed bioreactors, which is the prevalent mode of virus production in Vero cells. Nevertheless, these results need to be carefully evaluated since it is not feasible to seed bioreactors in fresh medium at high cell density. In this context, shake flask studies in HEK293-SF cells found that if the cultures were grown to high cell densities and infected without medium exchange, the infectious titer of rVSV-ZEBOV could not be enhanced by increasing the cell density above 2×10^6 cells/mL (Gélinas et al., 2019).



Figure 16. rVSV-ZEBOV infection of suspension adapted Vero cells at different cell densities ranging from 1×10^6 to 4×10^6 cells/mL in 125 mL shake flask in IHM03 medium. Infectious viral titers expressed as TCID50/mL are plotted against the time post-infection. Bars represent the mean of the samples from three independent shake flask replicates ± standard deviation.

rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV, and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* shake flask production in different media

Next, the kinetics of three variants, namely rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV, and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-SF-*Gtc* were compared and the effect of different media on rVSV production were studied. Based on temperature study results of rVSV-ZEBOV infections in Vero cells, rVSV-HIV infections were carried out at 34 °C in a recent study and this condition was adopted for this work as well (Mangion et al., 2020). The rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-SF-*Gtc* construct, however, is temperature sensitive and therefore all infections were carried out at 31 °C.

The IHM03 and MDXK adapted cell lines were infected with rVSV to compare the virus production capacities of both media. Despite higher titers obtained at higher cell densities (**Figure 16**), these experiments were carried out at a seeding cell density of 1 × 10⁶ cells/mL to avoid cell aggregation. **Figure 17** shows rVSV-ZEBOV (A), rVSV-HIV (B) and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-SF-*Gtc* (C) replication in the MDXK adapted cell line at an MOI of 0.01 in comparison to the corresponding experiment conducted on IHM03.

rVSV-ZEBOV replication in MDXK medium reached slightly higher titers than in IHM03 medium (**Figure 17** A). Where the infectious titer reached a maximum at 24 hpi in IHM03, the titer in MDXK was with 2.63×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL around 2.5 times higher. Otherwise, almost identical infection kinetics were observed.

rVSV-HIV replicated better in IHM03 with a higher maximum titer of $9.59 \times 10^6 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}$ reached in a shorter period of time (24 hpi) compared to $2.08 \times 10^6 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}$ in MDXK after 36 hpi (**Figure 17** B). Titers of rVSV-HIV were lower in both media than rVSV-ZEBOV and the infectivity declined faster than for rVSV-ZEBOV. Besides, rVSV-HIV produced in adherent Vero cells reached up to $3.91 \times 10^7 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}$ at MOI of 0.01. However, the peak was reached significantly later at 96 hpi (Mangion et al., 2020).

In contrast to these two strains, $rVSV_{Ind}$ -*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* reached significantly higher titers (**Figure 17** C). In MDXK, 5.19×10^8 TCID₅₀/mL were reached at 36 hpi. In IHM03, almost two-fold higher titers with 1.17×10^9 TCID₅₀/mL were reached. However, it took additional 24 hours to reach this number, which aligns with the beginning of the replication phase being delayed. In addition to higher infectious titers compared to rVSV-ZEBOV and rVSV-HIV, the infectivity of viral particles did not decline significantly over the following sample time points.

Differences in replication kinetics between the three rVSV-variants can be attributed in part to the use of different glycoproteins. The Ebola virus glycoprotein (Moller-tank and Maury, 2015), the HIV envelope glycoprotein (Klasse, 2012) and the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein (S) (Hoffmann et al., 2020), which are responsible for cell entry of the corresponding rVSV used in this work, all use different types of cell receptors and entry mechanisms. Further, the formation of these proteins during intracellular replication of the virus and the final assembly of the viral particles are unique. These mechanisms have their own rate limiting steps and efficiencies, resulting in different amounts of functional rVSV particles and different ratios of infectious to total particles.

Higher infectious titers of rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* in Vero cells could also be linked more specifically to the use of different transmembrane domains. Whereas rVSV-ZEBOV and rVSV-HIV use Ebola GP or SIV transmembrane domains (Mangion et al., 2020), rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* is expressing the native VSV-G protein transmembrane domain gene. It has been shown that

the stem region of the VSV-G glycoprotein was important for efficient virus assembly, and viruses with shortened sequences were replicated up 20-fold less (Robison and Whitt, 2000). More research investigating the use of different transmembrane domains with the same extracellular domain could reveal interesting aspects on virus replication rates and identify new targets to improve the rVSV platform. Nevertheless, it might be more appropriate to compare replication of rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* to rVSV-GFP production, which also uses the native VSV-G protein transmembrane domain, and where titers of up to 8.93×10^9 TCID₅₀/mL have been obtained in shake flask experiments.

Besides, the lower process temperature of 31 °C is likely affecting the infectivity. For example, the infectivity of this strain was not declining over the following 36 h after the peak titer had been reached thus potentially stabilizing infectivity and preventing virus degradation. Though for rVSV-ZEBOV, an optimal production temperature of 34 °C was determined in adherent Vero cells (Kiesslich et al., 2020), rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* is based on VSV_{Ind}(GML) which was adapted to replicate well at the lower temperature of 31 °C (**Figure 17** C).

Another reason for differences in production titers between the three rVSV variants could be linked to defective interfering particles (DIPs) and the quality of the viral seed stocks (Ziegler and Botten, 2020). The ratios of total viral particles to infectious particles for rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* are 188 VG/TCID₅₀, 4384 VG/TCID₅₀, and 32 VG/TCID₅₀, respectively. Especially the high ratio of VG/TCID₅₀ of the rVSV-HIV stock indicates a lower quality of this virus stock and could have led to DIPs influencing the production process.



Figure 17. rVSV-ZEBOV (A), rVSV-HIV (B) and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* (C) infections of suspension adapted Vero cells cultivated in either IHM03 or MDXK medium at an MOI of 0.01, in 125 mL shake flask at a cell density of 1×10^6 cells/mL. The rVSV-ZEBOV and rVSV-HIV infections were carried out at 34 °C, whereas the rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* infection was carried out at 31 °C. Infectious viral titers expressed as TCID₅₀/mL are plotted against the time post-infection. Bars represent the mean of the samples from three independent shake flask replicates ± standard deviation.

Bioreactor processes of suspension adapted Vero cells

Bioreactor production of rVSV-ZEBOV

Two bioreactors of Vero cells were infected at a cell density of 1.37×10^6 cells/mL and 1.02×10^6 cells/mL after cells grew for 4 days in IHM03 and MDXK medium, respectively (Figure 18). The cell growth phase corresponded well to the data shown in Figure 14. Despite a lower cell density at the TOI, maximum infectious titers where with $3.87 \times 10^7 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}$ more than one log higher than in IHM03, where only 3.55×10^6 TCID₅₀/mL were obtained. In addition, replication was faster in MDXK, were peak production occurred at 24 hpi compared to 36 hpi, respectively. The MDXK bioreactor also exhibited an almost 15-times higher cell specific productivity with 37.9 TCID₅₀/cell compared to 2.6 TCID₅₀/cell. Moreover, the ratio of total viral particles to infectious particles was lower in MDXK (282 VG/TCID₅₀) than in IHM03 (817 VG/TCID₅₀), further indicating a better quality of the final product if harvested at the time of peak infectious titer. As a result, MDXK medium appears better suited for rVSV-ZEBOV production in the bioreactor than IHM03. As shown in **Figure 14**, the main substrates glucose and glutamine were not at limiting concentrations at the TOI. However, differences in media compositions such as nutrient profile and concentration, could have affected rVSV-ZEBOV production and other metabolites which were not quantified could have been at limiting or inhibiting concentrations.

Compared to the shake flask experiments, rVSV-ZEBOV replication in MDXK medium reached similar maximum infectious titer, indicating a successful scale-up. For IHM03, titers were three times lower than in shake flask and the peak was reached 12 hours later.

Further, in comparison to adherent Vero bioreactor productions of rVSV-ZEBOV, the production using suspension adapted Vero cells in MDXK appears elevated. The infectious titer and the cell specific productivities were slightly higher compared the production in a microcarrier bioreactor $(1.42 \times 10^7 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}, 7.6 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{cell})$ and a fixed-bed bioreactor $(2.59 \times 10^7 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{mL}, 11.2 \text{ TCID}_{50}/\text{cell})$. The ratio of total viral particles to infectious particles was four times lower than in the microcarrier but nine times higher compared to the fixed-bed process (Kiesslich et al., 2020). Overall, the suspension Vero system resembles

a viable alternative to the current Vero manufacturing system carried out in roller bottles for this Ebola virus disease vaccine (Monath et al., 2019).

When set side by side to a suspension bioreactor production of rVSV-ZEBOV in HEK293-SF, where a maximum of 1.19×10^8 TCID₅₀/mL was reached, production in Vero cells in MDXK was 3 times lower. However, it can be expected that future media development, bioprocess and cell line engineering of suspension Vero can lead to significantly higher titers comparable to HEK293-SF (Gélinas et al., 2019).



Figure 18. Comparison of the production of rVSV-ZEBOV in suspension adapted Vero cells cultivated in either IHM03 or MDXK medium in a 1 L bioreactor in batch mode. Infectious viral titers expressed as TCID₅₀/mL and the number of viral genomes in VG/mL are plotted against the time post-infection.

Bioreactor production of rVSV-HIV

In the next experiment, two bioreactors were prepared as before, and Vero cell growth phase in IHM03 and MDXK medium was consistent with the data from **Figure 14** and **Figure 18**. The two cultures were infected with rVSV-HIV after 4 days (**Figure 19**). In contrast to the previous experiment, virus production was favoured in IHM03 over MDXK. In IHM03, rVSV-HIV reached a maximum titer of 2.12×10^7 TCID₅₀/mL, which was 25-times higher than in MDXK. However, production kinetics of viral genomes were almost identical. This is supported by a lower ratio of 143 VG/TCID₅₀ (IHM03) compared to 7041 VG/TCID₅₀

(MDXK). Additionally, the fact that the cell specific productivity in MDXK was 0.9 TCID₅₀/cell implies that the rVSV-HIV/MDXK system failed to scale-up and is not an adequate production system.

Besides, the shake flask experiment (**Figure 17** B) already indicated the suitability of IHM03 for rVSV-HIV replication. Moreover, bioreactor production of rVSV-HIV in IHM03 exceeded titers from the smaller scale, whereas bioreactor titers in MDXK subsided the small scale.

Differences between the two media were already seen for bioreactor production of rVSV-ZEBOV. Here, IHM03 appears to be favoured for rVSV-HIV production. However, the production of total rVSV-HIV particles, estimated from the number of viral genomes, is comparable between the two media. Therefore, one reason of a higher titer of rVSV-HIV in IHM03 could be that this medium is better suited to stabilize the HIV glycoprotein and to maintain the viral infectivity.



Figure 19. Comparison of the production of rVSV-HIV in suspension adapted Vero cells cultivated in either IHM03 or MDXK medium in a 1 L bioreactor in batch mode. Infectious viral titers expressed as TCID₅₀/mL and the number of viral genomes in VG/mL are plotted against the time post-infection.

Bioreactor production of rVSV_{Ind}-msp-S_F-Gtc

Finally, rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* production in bioreactors of Vero suspension cell cultures was studied (**Figure 20**). Again, the cell growth phase was comparable to the previous runs, and cells were infected after 4 days. Infectious titers of rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* peaked in both media at 48 hpi. The beginning of the replication phase was delayed in IHM03, as already seen in the shake flask experiments. Nevertheless, titers were similar with 2.38×10^9 TCID₅₀/mL in IHM03 and 3.59×10^9 TCID₅₀/mL in MDXK. Thus, results from the shake flask experiment were exceeded by two-fold and seven-fold, respectively. The quality in terms of total viral particles to infectious particles was with 3.0 VG/TCID₅₀ comparable in IHM03 to that in MDXK, where this value was 6.0 VG/TCID₅₀. In addition, the cell specific productivity was in the same range in MDXK compared to IHM03, with 3670 TCID₅₀/cell and 1803 TCID₅₀/cell, respectively.

In comparison, rVSV-ZEBOV and rVSV-HIV productions in the bioreactor peaked earlier. However, the number of viral genomes continued to increase in those experiments even when the infectious titer declined. Therefore, the rate of viral degradation is higher than the viral production rate after the corresponding peak was reached in the case of these two strains, potentially due to the higher process temperature of 34 °C versus 31 °C and its impact on viral stability.

Overall, the scale-up of rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* production to the bioreactor was successful, exceeding small scale results. In addition, this strain appears to replicate to much higher titers, with a superior cell specific productivity and an improved ratio of VG/TCID₅₀ as compared to rVSV-ZEBOV and rVSV-HIV. **Table 4** shows a summary of the six bioreactor runs, comparing results for the three strains in two different culture media.



Figure 20. Comparison of the production of $rVSV_{ind}$ -*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* in suspension adapted Vero cells cultivated in either IHM03 or MDXK medium in a 1 L bioreactor in batch mode. Infectious viral titers expressed as $TCID_{50}/mL$ and the number of viral genomes in VG/mL are plotted against the time post-infection.

	rVSV-ZEBOV		rVSV-HIV		rVSV _{Ind} -msp-S _F -Gtc	
Medium	IHM03	MDXK	IHM03	MDXK	IHM03	MDXK
Peak infectious titer	36 hpi	24 hpi	24 hpi	36 hpi	48 hpi	48 hpi
Infectious titer (TCID50/mL)	3.55 × 10 ⁶	3.87 × 10 ⁷	2.12 × 10 ⁷	8.45 × 10 ⁵	2.38 × 10 ⁹	3.59 × 10 ⁹
Genomic titer (VG/mL)	2.9 × 10 ⁹	1.09×10^{10}	3.30 × 10 ⁹	5.95 × 10 ⁹	7.15 × 10 ⁹	2.13 × 10 ¹⁰
Ratio VG/TCID50	817	282	143	7041	3.0	6.0
Cell specific titer (TCID50/cell)	3	38	15	1	1803	3670

Table 4: Comparison of bioreactor productions of rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV and rVSVInd-msp-SF-Gtc

Conclusion

In this work, we have demonstrated the feasibility and applicability of suspension adapted Vero cell cultures for the production of highly relevant rVSV-based vaccines and vaccine candidates. For three rVSV strains, namely rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-SF-*Gtc*, production was successfully scaled-up to the bioreactor scale. Further, proof-of-concept is provided that rVSV-ZEBOV and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-SF-*Gtc* can be produced in commercially available media in suspension adapted Vero cells.

Previously, the suspension adapted Vero cell line was tested for tumorigenicity at passage 163 (Shen et al., 2019). Since the experiments with the Vero cell line in commercial MDXK medium were carried out at a higher passage number, this cell line would also require testing for tumorigenicity to ensure its safety as a substrate for the production of vaccines.

Process parameters developed in suspension Vero and previously in adherent Vero cells for rVSV-ZEBOV (Kiesslich et al., 2020), have been shown to be applicable to other strains. This is an important observation as rVSV-ZEBOV can thus serve as a model virus for other rVSV strains. More, this can be of significant value for the production of future rVSV-based vaccine candidates against emerging infectious diseases.

Moreover, the production of rVSV-ZEBOV was shown to be elevated compared to previously developed adherent processes in microcarrier and fixed-bed bioreactors (Kiesslich et al., 2020). Due to the better scalability, the suspension Vero system can serve as a viable alternative to the current Ebola virus disease vaccine manufacturing using roller bottles.

Production of rVSV-ZEBOV was leading to higher infectious titers in suspension cultures of HEK293-SF (Gélinas et al., 2019). However, this system used commercially available media and bioprocesses developed with years of experience. The commercially available MDXK medium has only been on the market for a short period of time. Hence, there is great potential for optimization of Vero suspension media and bioprocesses specifically for virus production.

In the context of the current COVID-19 pandemic, this work shows relevant advancement in the field of bioprocess development for urgently needed vector-based vaccine candidates. Given that rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* grows to titers that are around 100-fold higher than titers of

rVSV-ZEBOV in the same system, and given that rVSV-ZEBOV produced in conventional roller bottle processes has been approved as a vaccine candidate by regulatory affairs, the herein presented bioprocess using suspension adapted Vero cells can serve as a highly efficient system for accelerated and scalable manufacturing of a COVID-19 vaccine candidate. Further, the quality of the produced viruses in terms of the ratio total particles to infectious particles is better, potentially leading to facilitated downstream processes and ultimately very economical manufacturing.

In the future, fed-batch and perfusion processes should be developed for high cell density bioreactors. As indicated in shake flask experiments and already demonstrated for VSV-GFP (Shen et al., 2019), these can be approaches to further push the boundaries and to increase virus productivities of the suspension Vero system.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgement

This research was funded by Canadian Institutes of Health Research Grant OVV 152411. SK is funded by a doctoral scholarship from the Fonds de Recherche du Québec – Santé (FRQS).

Author contributions

Sascha Kiesslich: Conceptualization, Investigation, Formal analysis, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - Review & Editing. Gyoung Nyoun Kim: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - Review & Editing. Chun Fang Shen: Investigation, Writing - Review & Editing. C. Yong Kang: Conceptualization, Writing - Review & Editing, Supervision. Amine A. Kamen: Conceptualization, Writing - Review & Editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition.

References

- Folegatti, P.M., Ewer, K.J., Aley, P.K., Angus, B., Becker, S., Belij-rammerstorfer, S., Bellamy, D., Bibi, S., Bittaye, M., Clutterbuck, E.A., Dold, C., Faust, S.N., Finn, A., Flaxman, A.L., Hallis, B., Heath, P., Jenkin, D., Lazarus, R., Makinson, R., Minassian, A.M., Pollock, K.M., Ramasamy, M., Robinson, H., Snape, M., Tarrant, R., Voysey, M., Green, C., Douglas, A.D., Hill, A.V.S., Lambe, T., Gilbert, S.C., Pollard, A.J., n.d. Safety and immunogenicity of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine against SARS-CoV-2: a preliminary report of a phase 1/2, single-blind, randomised controlled trial 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31604-4
- Gélinas, J.-F., Azizi, H., Kiesslich, S., Lanthier, S., Perdersen, J., Chahal, P.S., Ansorge, S., Kobinger, G., Gilbert, R., Kamen, A.A., 2019. Production of rVSV-ZEBOV in serum-free suspension culture of HEK 293SF cells. Vaccine 37, 6624–6632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.09.044
- Gélinas, J., Kiesslich, S., Gilbert, R., Kamen, A.A., 2020. Titration methods for rVSV-based vaccine manufacturing. MethodsX 7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2020.100806
- Henao-Restrepo, A.M., Camacho, A., Longini, I.M., Watson, C.H., Edmunds, W.J., Egger, M., Carroll, M.W., Dean, N.E., Diatta, I., Doumbia, M., Draguez, B., Duraffour, S., Enwere, G., Grais, R., Gunther, S., Gsell, P.-S., Hossmann, S., Watle, S.V., Kondé, M.K., Kéïta, S., Kone, S., Kuisma, E., Levine, M.M., Mandal, S., Mauget, T., Norheim, G., Riveros, X., Soumah, A., Trelle, S., Vicari, A.S., Røttingen, J.-A., Kieny, M.-P., 2017. Efficacy and effectiveness of an rVSV-vectored vaccine in preventing Ebola virus disease: final results from the Guinea ring vaccination, open-label, cluster-randomised trial (Ebola Ça Suffit!). Lancet 389, 505–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32621-6
- Kiesslich, S., Kamen, A.A., 2020. Vero cell upstream bioprocess development for the production of viral vectors and vaccines. Biotechnol. Adv. 44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2020.107608
- Kiesslich, S., Losa, J.P.V., Gélinas, J., Kamen, A.A., 2020. Serum-free production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells: Microcarrier bioreactor versus scale-X [™] hydro fixed-bed. J. Biotechnol. 310, 32–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2020.01.015

- Kim, G.N., Wu, K., Hong, J.P., Awamleh, Z., Kang, C.Y., 2015. Creation of Matrix Protein Gene Variants of Two Serotypes of Vesicular Stomatitis Virus as Prime-Boost Vaccine Vectors. J. Virol. 89, 6338–6351. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00222-15
- Lichty, B.D., Power, A.T., Stojdl, D.F., Bell, J.C., 2004. Vesicular stomatitis virus: Re-inventing the bullet. Trends Mol. Med. 10, 210–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2004.03.003
- Litwin, J., 1992. The growth of Vero cells as suspended aggregates in serum-free medium, Animal Cell Technology. Butterworth-Heinemann. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-7506-0421-5.50096-9
- Mangion, M., Gélinas, J.F., Bakhshi Zadeh Gashti, A., Azizi, H., Kiesslich, S., Nassoury, N., Chahal, P.S., Kobinger, G., Gilbert, R., Garnier, A., Gaillet, B., Kamen, A., Bakhshi, A., Gashti, Z., Azizi, H., Kiesslich, S., Nassoury, N., Chahal, P.S., Kobinger, G., Gilbert, R., Garnier, A., Gaillet, B., Kamen, A., 2020. Evaluation of novel HIV vaccine candidates using recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus vector produced in serum-free Vero cell cultures. Vaccine 38, 7949–7955. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.10.058
- Monath, T.P., Fast, P.E., Modjarrad, K., Clarke, D.K., Martin, B.K., Fusco, J., Nichols, R., Heppner, D.G., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A.A., Robertson, J.S., Gray Heppner, D., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A.A., Robertson, J.S., 2019. rVSVΔG-ZEBOV-GP (also designated V920) Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Pseudotyped with Ebola Zaire Glycoprotein: Standardized Template with Key Considerations for a Risk/Benefit Assessment. Vaccine X 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvacx.2019.100009
- Munis, A.M., Bentley, E.M., Takeuchi, Y., 2020. A tool with many applications: vesicular stomatitis virus in research and medicine. Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 00, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/14712598.2020.1787981
- Paillet, C., Forno, G., Kratje, R., Etcheverrigaray, M., 2009. Suspension-Vero cell cultures as a platform for viral vaccine production. Vaccine 27, 6464–6467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.06.020
- Quesney, S., Marc, A., Gerdil, C., Gimenez, C., Marvel, J., Richard, Y., Meignier, B., 2003. Kinetics and metabolic specificities of Vero cells in bioreactor cultures with serum-free medium. Cytotechnology 42, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026185615650

- Robison, C.S., Whitt, M.A., 2000. The Membrane-Proximal Stem Region of Vesicular Stomatitis Virus G Protein Confers Efficient Virus Assembly. J. Virol. 74, 2239–2246. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.74.5.2239-2246.2000
- Rourou, S., Ben Zakkour, M., Kallel, H., 2019. Adaptation of Vero cells to suspension growth for rabies virus production in different serum free media. Vaccine 37, 6987–6995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.05.092
- Shen, C.F., Guilbault, C., Li, X., Elahi, S.M., Ansorge, S., Kamen, A.A., Gilbert, R., 2019.
 Development of suspension adapted Vero cell culture process technology for production of viral vaccines. Vaccine 37, 6996–7002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.07.003
- Ura, T., Yamashita, A., Mizuki, N., Okuda, K., Shimada, M., 2020. New vaccine production platforms used in developing SARS-CoV-2 vaccine candidates. Vaccine. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.11.054
- World Health Organization, 2020. DRAFT landscape of COVID-19 candidate vaccines 19 October [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/draftlandscape-of-covid-19-candidate-vaccines (accessed 10.20.20).

General Discussion & Conclusion

The work presented in this thesis has contributed to the field of vaccine bioprocess engineering with the main objective of this work being the development of the Vero cell line as an efficient platform for rVSV vector manufacturing through cell culture engineering and bioprocess optimization, to overcome limitations of low virus productivity and to develop more scalable processes.

Vaccines are biologically or genetically engineered antigens. They can consist of proteins, genetic material, killed or weakened pathogens. Vaccines are intended to stimulate the immune system of the person that was vaccinated to produce specific antibodies against a pathogen. This antigenic action of the vaccine induces an immune response in the vaccinated person through so-called active vaccination, which consists not only of antibodies but also of specialized T helper cells. The achieved immunity protects the person against the respective disease. Depending on the pathogen, this protection can last for a number of years, even for a lifetime.

Viral vaccines, which protect against infectious diseases caused by viral infections, can be produced in different ways, for example using chicken eggs, primary cell lines or continuous cell lines as substrate. What is common is that the substrate is infected with a defined amount of a viral seed stock. The virus then replicates within the cells and after a certain period of time, when the virus has been multiplied by a significant amount with respect to the inoculation amount, it is harvested, purified and formulated to constitute the vaccine (Aubrit et al., 2015).

Traditionally, viral vaccines have been produced in chicken eggs and primary cell lines. In addition to ethical concerns of using these substrates, there are many advantages to use continuous cell lines instead, for example the minimization of cross-contamination and allergy reactions, as well as independency from the supply of chicken eggs. However, there are several challenges of this technology, including the high cost of vaccine production, the need to establish standardized manufacturing platforms and stringent regulatory guidelines to ensure vaccine safety (Rodrigues et al., 2015).

Together, cell culture systems are a very complex technology which requires keeping up with current trends and training of highly skilled personnel. Innovation progresses rather

slow in this field. For example, the majority of influenza vaccine doses is still produced in chicken eggs (Sharon et al., 2020). Besides, only a few cell lines have been established as viral vaccine producer cell lines and are accepted by regulatory agencies worldwide (Genzel, 2015). When continuous cell lines are being used, the manufacturing involves typically only conventional process technologies, such as decade old adherent cell cultures employing roller bottles or microcarriers.

In this context, the Vero cell line is the most used continuous cell line for the production of viral vaccines and historically the first that was approved by the WHO. This cell line is the main subject of this work and the motivation was to develop improved viral vector production technologies for an already established and by regulatory agencies accepted cell line that have an immediate impact on creating more efficient and cost-effective manufacturing processes. Better cost-effectiveness could be achieved for example through processes with higher cell density which, assuming higher viral yields, could lower capital investments into the production facility by using smaller bioreactor systems. Since vaccines are considered the single most effective way to prevent infectious diseases, advancements in the field of bioprocess development research can contribute to lowering the prices for vaccines and making them available worldwide.

Chapter 1 of this thesis is a literature research study and reviewed the prevailing literature on Vero cell bioprocess development for the production of viral vectors and vaccines. We aimed to assess recent advances in bioprocess development and to describe the bottlenecks to improve the Vero cell platform.

In this chapter, we illustrate the importance of the Vero cell line. After a brief history of this cell line, we give examples of past and recent viral vaccines that have been produced using this cell substrate. We discuss trends in cell line engineering to increase the cell-specific virus productivity, for example by using novel technologies such as CRISPR, and point out that future work needs to focus on the full annotation of the Vero genome to enable a breakthrough of these technologies when applied to the Vero cell line.

The main aspect of this work, however, focusses on bioprocess development. In detail, we analyze the prevailing literature of microcarrier bioreactors using adherent Vero cell cultures. We emphasize which advances in bioprocess development were able to improve the cell expansion phase to yield high cell density processes and what has been done to achieve enhanced virus production processes.

As a conclusion, we critically underline the need for further research activities in this field. In the light that successful microcarrier process scale-up still requires a high level of technical expertise and know-how, especially linear scalable systems such as fixed-bed bioreactor systems or highly scalable suspension cell cultures could make processes more robust, streamlined and cost-effective. Overall, this review gives the scientific community a good overview of recent progress in the field of Vero cell upstream bioprocess development and highlights implications for the manufacturing of viral vectors and vaccines caused by current technological trends as well as global health care needs.

With regard to the overall objective of my PhD, we chose rVSV as a model virus. Following the first chapter, which highlighted recent advances in bioprocess development using the Vero cell line, and before tackling the challenges outlined therein, it was crucial to develop analytical techniques to assess potential progress in bioprocess development in terms of improved rVSV productivity.

Since rVSV is gaining momentum as a vectored vaccine platform (Munis et al., 2020), highly accurate and dependable analytical techniques are required to ensure its product quality and safety. In addition, sophisticated quantification methods are important to monitor production processes to guarantee batch to batch consistency. Further, refined analytical techniques are invaluable in facilitating bioprocess development, for example by reducing the time-to-market for a new product or by assuring regulatory agencies that newly developed processes are sound and reliable.

Ideally, such analytical methods should be inexpensive, rapid, highly accurate and dependable over a long period of time. Moreover, they need to lead to comparable results when carried out by different operators or at different institutions.

For highly complex analytes such as viruses, a combination of analytical techniques is necessary to cover their range of characteristics. For instance, measurements of the number of infectious particles, number of total particles, number of viral genomes and number of viral antigens should be considered.

Chapter 2 of this thesis describes two analytical methods. The first one is a cell culturebased end-point dilution assay to quantify the number of viral particles in a given sample,

called Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose (TCID₅₀) assay. This method is widely used due to its robustness and simplicity. In this work, we apply the TCID₅₀ assay to quantify the infectious particle count of rVSV-ZEBOV as a representative of the rVSV platform. Additionally, we analyze production and titration variability with statistical tests. Within a larger collaboration, this method has already been successfully used in different lab groups and contributed to three published journal articles (Gélinas et al., 2019; Kiesslich et al., 2020; Mangion et al., 2020). Moreover, we have demonstrated that this assay can be applied to other strains of rVSV, such as rVSV-HIV (Mangion et al., 2020) and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc*, a COVID-19 vaccine candidate studied in chapter 4 of this thesis.

The second method developed in this work is a digital polymerase chain reaction (dPCR) assay to assess the total number of viral particles. This assay determines the total number of viral genomes, which we have already used to estimate the number of total viral particles in three published journal articles (Gélinas et al., 2019; Kiesslich et al., 2020; Mangion et al., 2020) as well as in the manuscript of chapter 4 of this work. More, in chapter 2 we investigate the titration variability of each assay steps, including RNA extraction, cDNA reverse transcription and digital PCR by applying statistical tests. Similarly to the TCID₅₀ assay, the dPCR assay can be used as a universal method to quantify the total number of genomes for any given rVSV under the condition that it contains the wild-type polymerase gene, as demonstrated in our work for rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-GFP, rVSV-HIV and rVSV_{Ind}-msp-S_F-Gtc. Altogether, TCID₅₀ and dPCR can not only be used to determine their respective process characteristics, but in combination they can serve as a tool to characterize the ratio of total particles to infectious units for sophisticated monitoring process robustness and product quality attributes. We have demonstrated that these techniques can be applied to several strains of rVSV, making them highly appropriate as standard quantification method for the rVSV vaccine platform.

In the future, it would be of interest to develop a faster method for the quantification of infectious viral particles, to be able to analyze samples at-line and not off-line with delays of several days. Further, it would be valuable to extend the analytical toolbox for rVSV total viral particle quantification by developing a physicochemical method, for example using an HPLC approach. A universal assay to enumerate the number of viral antigens, for instance in

a monoclonal antibody-based ELISA, cannot be applied to the rVSV platform as a whole but would have to be developed individually for each strain expressing a different antigen.

With the tools developed in chapter 2, the bioprocess challenges outlined in chapter 1 were tackled by developing bioreactor processes for the Vero cell line and applying them to the rVSV-vaccine platform.

In chapter 3, we develop adherent Vero cell bioreactor processes for rVSV-ZEBOV, a representative of the rVSV platform and vaccine against Ebola virus disease. At first, small-scale experiments were used to determine optimal process parameters such as MOI and temperature during the virus production phase. Then, the process was scaled-up to two bioreactor systems, microcarrier and fixed-bed. We compare both systems in terms of the yield of infectious particles, cell specific productivities as well as ratio of total to infectious particles, Next to identifying these critical process and product characteristics, the optimal time of harvest is determined, were viral titer and quality are at their respective peak.

As pointed out in chapter 1, these more scalable processes, as compared to the current mode employing roller bottles, can be used to improve virus productivity, therefore directly addressing the objectives of the thesis work.

Nevertheless, suspension cell culture bioreactors are considered superior in terms of scalability when compared to microcarrier and fixed-bed bioreactors. Therefore, we further developed a Vero suspension cell line, which was provided by a collaborator, as a platform for rVSV production. Previously, this cell line has been used to produce rVSV-GFP in proprietary medium (Shen et al., 2019). To reduce the risk of lot-to-lot variants and potentially make the platform more amenable to work under standard conditions, the cell line was successfully adapted to grow in a commercially available medium. In bench-scale bioreactors, we demonstrate the applicability of the Vero suspension system by developing processes for rVSV-ZEBOV, rVSV-HIV and rVSV_{Ind}-*msp*-S_F-*Gtc* production.

These three strains of rVSV are vaccine and vaccine candidates against Ebola virus disease, HIV and COVID-19, respectively. These infectious diseases are responsible for some of the most prominent epidemics and pandemics in recent history. Finding effective vaccines against such diseases is one of the greatest challenges this generation has to face.

The work presented in this thesis contributed to the advancement of knowledge in the field of vaccine manufacturing. Overall, significant progress was made that can have direct and immediate impact within the field. For example, the TCID₅₀ and dPCR assay, developed for rVSV quantification, can be used for a wide range of rVSVs. Such a universal assay can be a very valuable tool considering that rVSV is becoming an important vaccine platform. Further, process optimization of rVSV-ZEBOV production was carried out in adherent Vero cells, contributing to the goal of achieving a more efficient bioprocess. It was also demonstrated that rVSV-ZEBOV can be produced in scalable bioreactors, and this scale-up approach has many advantages over scale-out. In particular, the bioprocesses developed herein can alleviate production bottlenecks due to their higher scalability and productivity, leading to more cost-effective production.

In addition, other research groups are also developing rVSV-based vaccine candidates, for example against Marburg virus disease (rVSV-MARV) or Lassa fever (rVSV-LASV) (Geisbert and Feldmann, 2011) which could also be produced in scalable microcarrier, fixed bed or suspension cell bioreactors of Vero cell cultures as developed in this thesis.

Furthermore, the development and combination of two platform technologies, the Vero cell system and the rVSV-based vaccine system, is of significant value for the fight against future infectious diseases. The use of established platforms will accelerate vaccine manufacturing, providing life-saving health care in a more rapid manner. In addition, it can lower the drug prices, making vaccines available worldwide, which is especially important in low-income countries.

Building on the work of this thesis, future research activities are necessary to further improve the Vero cell production system and to establish it as a platform that is accepted by industrial and regulatory players as the standard in viral vector manufacturing.

For instance, Vero suspension cell densities in batch mode have not exceeded concentrations of 2×10^6 cells/mL. Increasing the cell density can increase virus production yields, since more substrate is available. Media development can investigate improvements in formulation to sustain higher cell densities, and in particular for the Vero cell suspension culture, higher cell growth rates. Fed-batch or perfusion technologies can be used to achieve processes with higher cell densities, as has been shown for suspension Vero cell cultures in a recent study (Shen et al., 2019). Nevertheless, more research is necessary to screen for

feeding agents and to optimize parameters such as perfusion or feed flow rate. Advanced analytical technologies, such as online monitoring of substrate and metabolite concentrations combined with direct control via feeding or perfusion rate adjustment can help to intensify these processes. Higher cell densities have been obtained for adherent Vero cell cultures, i.e. 3.6×10^6 cells/mL in a batch and even up to 10×10^6 cells/mL in perfusion microcarrier bioreactors as previously reported (Trabelsi et al., 2006). However, for adherent cell processes, the cell density is mainly limited by the surface area, therefore these processes face different challenges to further increase the cell density.

Another aspect, future research should be focused on, is to increase the cell growth rate and cell specific virus productivity. Here, advanced analytical technologies can perform indepth studies such as metabolomics, transcriptomics and proteomics to improve cell growth and virus production phase conditions. Extensive characterization studies can for example directly compare cell growth of adherent Vero strains and suspension adapted Vero strains to determine targeted improvement strategies. Further, large-scale CRISPR screens can be conducted with the goal to screen for factors that either increase cell growth rate or virus productivity. However, in the context of knockout screens, more efforts with regard to genome annotation are required.

Finally, this work investigated the Vero cell system by using rVSV as a model virus. When for example studying the Vero suspension cell platform or fixed-bed bioreactors using adherent Vero cells, the efficient production of other relevant viruses needs to be demonstrated. Applying advanced and more efficient bioprocess technologies to the manufacturing of established vaccines against infectious diseases such as polio and rabies virus can decrease costs and, for instance in the case of seasonal influenza, reduce production timelines.

Literature

- Abbate, T., Dewasme, L., Vande Wouwer, A., 2018. Variable selection and parameter estimation of viral amplification in vero cell cultures dedicated to the production of a dengue vaccine. Biotechnol. Prog. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.2687
- Agnandji, S.T., Huttner, A., Zinser, M.E., Njuguna, P., Dahlke, C., Fernandes, J.F., Yerly, S., Dayer, J.J.-A., Kraehling, V., Kasonta, R., Adegnika, A. a., Altfeld, M., Auderset, F., Bache, E.B., Biedenkopf, N., Borregaard, S., Brosnahan, J.S., Burrow, R., Combescure, C., Desmeules, J., Eickmann, M., Fehling, S.K., Finckh, A., Goncalves, A.R., Grobusch, M.P., Hooper, J.W., Jambrecina, A., Kabwende, A.L., Kaya, G., Kimani, D., Lell, B., Lemaître, B., Lohse, A.W., Massinga-Loembe, M., Matthey, A., Mordmüller, B., Nolting, A., Ogwang, C., Ramharter, M., Schmidt-Chanasit, J., Schmiedel, S., Silvera, P., Stahl, F.R., Staines, H.M., Strecker, T., Stubbe, H.C., Tsofa, B., Zaki, S., Fast, P., Moorthy, V., Kaiser, L., Krishna, S., Becker, S., Kieny, M.-P., Bejon, P., Kremsner, P.G., Addo, M.M., Siegrist, C.-A., 2016. Phase 1 Trials of rVSV Ebola Vaccine in Africa and Europe. N. Engl. J. Med. 347, 1647–60. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1502924
- Ammerman, N.C., Beier-Sexton, M., Azad, A.F., 2008. Growth and Maintenance of Vero Cell Lines. Curr Protoc Microbiol 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780471729259.mca04es11
- Arifin, M.A., Mel, M., Abdul Karim, M.I., Ideris, A., 2010. Production of newcastle disease virus by vero cells grown on cytodex 1 microcarriers in a 2-litre stirred tank bioreactor. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2010. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/586363
- Aubrit, F., Perugi, F., Léon, A., Guéhenneux, F., Champion-Arnaud, P., Lahmar, M., Schwamborn, K., 2015. Cell substrates for the production of viral vaccines. Vaccine 33, 5905–5912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.06.110
- Barrett, P.N., Mundt, W., Kistner, O., Howard, M.K., 2009. Vero cell platform in vaccine production: moving towards cell culture-based viral vaccines. Expert Rev. Vaccines 8, 607–618. https://doi.org/10.1586/erv.09.19
- Barrett, P.N., Terpening, S.J., Snow, D., Cobb, R.R., Kistner, O., 2017. Vero cell technology for rapid development of inactivated whole virus vaccines for emerging viral diseases. Expert Rev. Vaccines 16, 883–894. https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2017.1357471

Berrie, D.M., Waters, R.C., Montoya, C., Chatel, A., Vela, E.M., 2020. Development of a high-

yield live-virus vaccine production platform using a novel fixed-bed bioreactor. Vaccine 38, 3639–3645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.03.041

- Berry, J.M., Barnabé, N., Coombs, K.M., Butler, M., 1999. Production of reovirus type-1 and type-3 from vero cells grown on solid and macroporous microcarriers. Biotechnol.
 Bioeng. 62, 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290(19990105)62:1<12::AID-BIT2>3.0.CO;2-G
- Blaney, J.E., Sathe, N.S., Hanson, C.T., Firestone, C.Y., Murphy, B.R., Whitehead, S.S., 2007. Vaccine candidates for dengue virus type 1 (DEN1) generated by replacement of the structural genes of rDEN4 and rDEN4Δ30 with those of DEN1. Virol. J. 4, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-4-23
- Burgener, A., Coombs, K., Butler, M., 2006. Intracellular ATP and total adenylate concentrations are critical predictors of reovirus productivity from vero cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 94, 667–679. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20873
- Butler, M., Burgener, A., Patrick, M., Berry, M., Moffatt, D., Huzel, N., Barnabé, N., Coombs, K.,
 2000. Application of a serum-free medium for the growth of Vero cells and the production of reovirus. Biotechnol. Prog. 16, 854–858. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp000110+
- Cave, D.R., Hendrickson, F.M., Huang, A.S., 1985. Defective Interfering Virus Particles Modulate Virulence. J. Virol. 55, 366–373.
- Chan, J.F.W., Chan, K.H., Choi, G.K.Y., To, K.K.W., Tse, H., Cai, J.P., Yeung, M.L., Cheng, V.C.C., Chen, H., Che, X.Y., Lau, S.K.P., Woo, P.C.Y., Yuen, K.Y., 2013. Differential cell line susceptibility to the emerging novel human betacoronavirus 2c EMC/2012: Implications for disease pathogenesis and clinical manifestation. J. Infect. Dis. 207, 1743–1752. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jit123
- Chen, A., Poh, S.L., Dietzsch, C., Roethl, E., Yan, M.L., Ng, S.K., 2011. Serum-free microcarrier based production of replication deficient Influenza vaccine candidate virus lacking NS1 using Vero cells. BMC Biotechnol. 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-11-81
- Cheval, J., Muth, E., Gonzalez, G., Coulpier, M., Beurdeley, P., Cruveiller, S., Eloit, M., 2019. Adventitious Virus Detection in Cells by High-Throughput Sequencing of Newly Synthesized RNAs: Unambiguous Differentiation of Cell Infection from Carryover of Viral Nucleic Acids. mSphere 4, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1128/msphere.00298-19

- Choi, Y., Ahn, C.J., Seong, K.M., Jung, M.Y., Ahn, B.Y., 2003. Inactivated Hantaan virus vaccine derived from suspension culture of Vero cells. Vaccine 21, 1867–1873. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00005-7
- Chu, C., Lugovtsev, V., Golding, H., Betenbaugh, M.J., Shiloach, J., 2009. Conversion of MDCK cell line to suspension culture by transfecting with human siat7e gene and its application for influenza virus production. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 14802–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0905912106
- Coudray-Meunier, C., Fraisse, A., Martin-Latil, S., Guillier, L., Delannoy, S., Fach, P., Perelle, S., 2015. A comparative study of digital RT-PCR and RT-qPCR for quantification of Hepatitis A virus and Norovirus in lettuce and water samples. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 201, 17–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.02.006
- Dee, K.U., Shuler, M.L., 1997. Optimization of an assay for baculovirus titer and design of regimens for the synchronous infection of insect cells. Biotechnol. Prog. 13, 14–24. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp960086t
- El-Wajgali, A., Esteban, G., Fournier, F., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2013. Impact of microcarrier coverage on using permittivity for on-line monitoring high adherent Vero cell densities in perfusion bioreactors. Biochem. Eng. J. 70, 173–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2012.11.001
- Elahi, S.M., Shen, C.F., Gilbert, R., 2019. Optimization of Production of Vesicular Stomatitis Virus (VSV) in suspension serum-free culture medium at high cell density. J. Biotechnol. 289, 144–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2018.11.023
- Emeny, J.M., Morgan, M.J., 1979. Regulation of the interferon system: Evidence that vero cells have a genetic defect in interferon production. J. Gen. Virol. 43, 247–252. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-43-1-247
- Emmerling, V. V., Pegel, A., Milian, E.G., Venereo-Sanchez, A., Kunz, M., Wegele, J., Kamen, A.A., Kochanek, S., Hoerer, M., 2016. Rational plasmid design and bioprocess optimization to enhance recombinant adeno-associated virus (AAV) productivity in mammalian cells. Biotechnol. J. 11, 290–297. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201500176
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.G., Buchner, A., 2007. G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behav. Res. Methods 39, 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146

- Folegatti, P.M., Ewer, K.J., Aley, P.K., Angus, B., Becker, S., Belij-rammerstorfer, S., Bellamy, D.,
 Bibi, S., Bittaye, M., Clutterbuck, E.A., Dold, C., Faust, S.N., Finn, A., Flaxman, A.L., Hallis,
 B., Heath, P., Jenkin, D., Lazarus, R., Makinson, R., Minassian, A.M., Pollock, K.M.,
 Ramasamy, M., Robinson, H., Snape, M., Tarrant, R., Voysey, M., Green, C., Douglas, A.D.,
 Hill, A.V.S., Lambe, T., Gilbert, S.C., Pollard, A.J., 2020. Safety and immunogenicity of the
 ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine against SARS-CoV-2: a preliminary report of a phase 1/2,
 single-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 467–478.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31604-4
- Frazatti-Gallina, N.M., Paoli, R.L., Mourão-Fuches, R.M., Jorge, S.A.C., Pereira, C.A., 2001.
 Higher production of rabies virus in serum-free medium cell cultures on microcarriers.
 J. Biotechnol. 92, 67–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1656(01)00362-5
- Frensing, T., 2015. Defective interfering viruses and their impact on vaccines and viral vectors. Biotechnol. J. 10, 681–689. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201400429
- Fukumoto, H., Hishima, T., Hasegawa, H., Saeki, H., Kuroda, M., Katano, H., 2016. Evaluation of Vero-cell-derived simian endogenous retrovirus infection in humans by detection of viral genome in clinicopathological samples and commercialized vaccines and by serology of Japanese general population. Vaccine 34, 2700–2706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.04.031
- Furuta-Hanawa, B., Yamaguchi, T., Uchida, E., 2019. Two-Dimensional Droplet Digital PCR as a Tool for Titration and Integrity Evaluation of Recombinant Adeno-Associated Viral Vectors. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 30, 127–136. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2019.031
- Gallo–Ramírez, L.E., Nikolay, A., Genzel, Y., Reichl, U., 2015. Bioreactor concepts for cell culture-based viral vaccine production. Expert Rev. Vaccines 14, 1181–1195. https://doi.org/10.1586/14760584.2015.1067144
- Garbutt, M., Liebscher, R., Wahl-jensen, V., Jones, S., Wagner, R., Volchkov, V., Klenk, H., 2004.
 Properties of Replication-Competent Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vectors Expressing
 Glycoproteins of Filoviruses and Arenaviruses Properties of Replication-Competent
 Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vectors Expressing Glycoproteins of Filoviruses and
 Arenaviruses. J. Virol. 78, 5458–5465. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.78.10.5458

Geisbert, T.W., Feldmann, H., 2011. Recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus-based vaccines

against Ebola and marburg virus infections. J. Infect. Dis. 204, 1075–1081. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jir349

- Gélinas, J.-F., Azizi, H., Kiesslich, S., Lanthier, S., Perdersen, J., Chahal, P.S., Ansorge, S., Kobinger, G., Gilbert, R., Kamen, A.A., 2019. Production of rVSV-ZEBOV in serum-free suspension culture of HEK 293SF cells. Vaccine 37, 6624–6632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.09.044
- Gélinas, J., Kiesslich, S., Gilbert, R., Kamen, A.A., 2020. Titration methods for rVSV-based vaccine manufacturing. MethodsX 7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2020.100806
- Genzel, Y., 2015. Designing cell lines for viral vaccine production: Where do we stand? Biotechnol. J. 10, 728–740. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201400388
- Genzel, Y., Dietzsch, C., Rapp, E., Schwarzer, J., Reichl, U., 2010. MDCK and Vero cells for influenza virus vaccine production: A one-to-one comparison up to lab-scale bioreactor cultivation. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 88, 461–475. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2742-9
- Graham, F.L., Smiley, J., Russell, W.C., Nairn, R., 1977. Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. J. Gen. Virol. 36, 59–72. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-36-1-59
- Grein, T.A., Loewe, D., Dieken, H., Salzig, D., Weidner, T., Czermak, P., 2018. High titer oncolytic measles virus production process by integration of dielectric spectroscopy as online monitoring system. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 115, 1186–1194. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.26538
- Grein, T.A., Loewe, D., Dieken, H., Weidner, T., Salzig, D., Czermak, P., 2019. Aeration and Shear Stress Are Critical Process Parameters for the Production of Oncolytic Measles Virus. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 7, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00078
- Grein, T.A., Schwebel, F., Kress, M., Loewe, D., Dieken, H., Salzig, D., Weidner, T., Czermak, P., 2017. Screening different host cell lines for the dynamic production of measles virus. Biotechnol. Prog. 33, 989–997. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.2432
- Hebert, C.G., DiNardo, N., Evans, Z.L., Hart, S.J., Hachmann, A.B., 2018. Rapid quantification of vesicular stomatitis virus in Vero cells using Laser Force Cytology. Vaccine 36, 6061– 6069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.09.002

Henao-Restrepo, A.M., Camacho, A., Longini, I.M., Watson, C.H., Edmunds, W.J., Egger, M.,

Carroll, M.W., Dean, N.E., Diatta, I., Doumbia, M., Draguez, B., Duraffour, S., Enwere, G., Grais, R., Gunther, S., Gsell, P.-S., Hossmann, S., Watle, S.V., Kondé, M.K., Kéïta, S., Kone, S., Kuisma, E., Levine, M.M., Mandal, S., Mauget, T., Norheim, G., Riveros, X., Soumah, A., Trelle, S., Vicari, A.S., Røttingen, J.-A., Kieny, M.-P., 2017. Efficacy and effectiveness of an rVSV-vectored vaccine in preventing Ebola virus disease: final results from the Guinea ring vaccination, open-label, cluster-randomised trial (Ebola Ça Suffit!). Lancet 389, 505–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32621-6

- Henao-Restrepo, A.M., Longini, I.M., Egger, M., Dean, N.E., Edmunds, W.J., Camacho, A., Carroll, M.W., Doumbia, M., Draguez, B., Duraffour, S., Enwere, G., Grais, R., Gunther, S., Hossmann, S., Kondé, M.K., Kone, S., Kuisma, E., Levine, M.M., Mandal, S., Norheim, G., Riveros, X., Soumah, A., Trelle, S., Vicari, A.S., Watson, C.H., Kéïta, S., Kieny, M.P., Røttingen, J.A., 2015. Efficacy and effectiveness of an rVSV-vectored vaccine expressing Ebola surface glycoprotein: interim results from the Guinea ring vaccination cluster-randomised trial. Lancet 386, 857–866. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61117-5
- Hierholzer, J., Killington, R., 1996. Virus Isolation and Quantitation. Virol. methods Man.
- Hindson, B.J., Ness, K.D., Masquelier, D.A., Belgrader, P., Heredia, N.J., Makarewicz, A.J., Bright,
 I.J., Lucero, M.Y., Hiddessen, A.L., Legler, T.C., Kitano, T.K., Hodel, M.R., Petersen, J.F.,
 Wyatt, P.W., Steenblock, E.R., Shah, P.H., Bousse, L.J., Troup, C.B., Mellen, J.C., Wittmann,
 D.K., Erndt, N.G., Cauley, T.H., Koehler, R.T., So, A.P., Dube, S., Rose, K.A., Montesclaros, L.,
 Wang, S., Stumbo, D.P., Hodges, S.P., Romine, S., Milanovich, F.P., White, H.E., Regan, J.F.,
 Karlin-Neumann, G.A., Hindson, C.M., Saxonov, S., Colston, B.W., 2011. High-throughput
 droplet digital PCR system for absolute quantitation of DNA copy number. Anal. Chem.
 83, 8604–8610. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac202028g
- Hoeksema, F., Karpilow, J., Luitjens, A., Lagerwerf, F., Havenga, M., Groothuizen, M., Gillissen, G., Lemckert, A.A.C.A.C., Jiang, B., Tripp, R.A.A., Yallop, C., 2018. Enhancing viral vaccine production using engineered knockout vero cell lines A second look. Vaccine 36, 2093–2103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.03.010
- Jaluria, P., Betenbaugh, M.J., Konstantopoulos, K., Frank, B., Shiloach, J., 2007. Application of microarrays to identify and characterize genes involved in attachment dependence in HeLa cells. Metab. Eng. 9, 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2006.12.001

- Jiang, Y., van der Welle, J.E., Rubingh, O., van Eikenhorst, G., Bakker, W.A.M., Thomassen, Y.E.,
 2019. Kinetic model for adherent Vero cell growth and poliovirus production in batch bioreactors.
 Process
 Biochem.
 81,
 156–164.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2019.03.010
- Jones, S.M., Feldmann, H., Ströher, U., Geisbert, J.B., Fernando, L., Grolla, A., Klenk, H.D., Sullivan, N.J., Volchkov, V.E., Fritz, E.A., Daddario, K.M., Hensley, L.E., Jahrling, P.B., Geisbert, T.W., 2005. Live attenuated recombinant vaccine protects nonhuman primates against Ebola and Marburg viruses. Nat. Med. 11, 786–790. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1258
- Kärber, G., 1931. Beitrag zur kollektiven Behandlung pharmakologischer Reihenversuche. Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol. 162, 480–483. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01863914
- Kiesslich, S., Kamen, A.A., 2020. Vero cell upstream bioprocess development for the production of viral vectors and vaccines. Biotechnol. Adv. 44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2020.107608
- Kiesslich, S., Losa, J.P.V., Gélinas, J., Kamen, A.A., 2020. Serum-free production of rVSV-ZEBOV in Vero cells: Microcarrier bioreactor versus scale-X [™] hydro fixed-bed. J. Biotechnol. 310, 32–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2020.01.015
- Kilburn, D.G., Webb, F.C., 1968. The Cultivation of Animal Cells at Controlled Dissolved
 Oxygen Partial Pressure. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 10, 801–814.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260100607
- Kim, G.N., Wu, K., Hong, J.P., Awamleh, Z., Kang, C.Y., 2015. Creation of Matrix Protein Gene Variants of Two Serotypes of Vesicular Stomatitis Virus as Prime-Boost Vaccine Vectors. J. Virol. 89, 6338–6351. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00222-15
- Kistner, O., Barrett, N., Brühmann, A., Reiter, M., Mundt, W., Savidis-Dacho, H., Schober-Bendixen, S., Dorner, F., Aaskov, J., 2007. The preclinical testing of a formaldehyde inactivated Ross River virus vaccine designed for use in humans. Vaccine 25, 4845– 4852. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.103
- Kistner, O., Barrett, P.N., Mundt, W., Reiter, M., Schober-Bendixen, S., Dorner, F., 1998. Development of a mammalian cell (Vero) derived candidate influenza virus vaccine. Vaccine 16, 960–968. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(97)00301-0

- Kluge, S., Benndorf, D., Genzel, Y., Scharfenberg, K., Rapp, E., Reichl, U., 2015. Monitoring changes in proteome during stepwise adaptation of a MDCK cell line from adherence to growth in suspension. Vaccine 33, 4269–4280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.02.077
- Knop, D.R., Harrell, H., 2007. Bioreactor production of recombinant herpes simplex virus vectors. Biotechnol. Prog. 23, 715–721. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp060373p
- Kurokawa, M., Sato, S., 2011. Growth and poliovirus production of Vero cells on a novel microcarrier with artificial cell adhesive protein under serum-free conditions. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 111, 600–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2010.12.018
- Leinonen, H.M., Lipponen, E.M., Valkama, A.J., Hynynen, H., Oruetxebarria, I., Turkki, V., Olsson, V., Kurkipuro, J., Samaranayake, H., Määttä, A.M., Parker, N.R., Ylä-Herttuala, S., Lesch, H.P., 2019. Preclinical Proof-of-Concept, Analytical Development, and Commercial Scale Production of Lentiviral Vector in Adherent Cells. Mol. Ther. -Methods Clin. Dev. 15, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtm.2019.08.006
- Lesch, H.P., Heikkilä, K.M., Lipponen, E.M., Valonen, P., Müller, A., Räsänen, E., Tuunanen, T., Hassinen, M.M., Parker, N., Karhinen, M., Shaw, R., Ylä-Herttuala, S., 2015. Process Development of Adenoviral Vector Production in Fixed Bed Bioreactor: From Bench to Commercial Scale. Hum. Gene Ther. 26, 560–71. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2015.081
- Lichty, B.D., Power, A.T., Stojdl, D.F., Bell, J.C., 2004. Vesicular stomatitis virus: Re-inventing the bullet. Trends Mol. Med. 10, 210–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2004.03.003
- Lim, C.K., Takasaki, T., Kotaki, A., Kurane, I., 2008. Vero cell-derived inactivated West Nile (WN) vaccine induces protective immunity against lethal WN virus infection in mice and shows a facilitated neutralizing antibody response in mice previously immunized with Japanese encephalitis vaccine. Virology 374, 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2007.12.021
- Litwin, J., 1992. The growth of Vero cells as suspended aggregates in serum-free medium, Animal Cell Technology. Butterworth-Heinemann. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-7506-0421-5.50096-9
- Liu, C.C., Lee, S.C., Butler, M., Wu, S.C., 2008. High genetic stability of dengue virus propagated
in MRC-5 cells as compared to the virus propagated in vero cells. PLoS One 3. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001810

- Liu, C.C., Lian, W.C., Butler, M., Wu, S.C., 2007. High immunogenic enterovirus 71 strain and its production using serum-free microcarrier Vero cell culture. Vaccine 25, 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.06.083
- Liu, C.C., Wu, S.C., Wu, S.R., Lin, H.Y., Guo, M.S., Yung-Chih Hu, A., Chow, Y.H., Chiang, J.R., Shieh,
 D. Bin, Chong, P., 2018. Enhancing enterovirus A71 vaccine production yield by microcarrier profusion bioreactor culture. Vaccine 36, 3134–3139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.02.042
- Lock, M., Alvira, M.R., Chen, S.J., Wilson, J.M., 2014. Absolute determination of single-stranded and self-complementary adeno-associated viral vector genome titers by droplet digital PCR. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 25, 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2013.131
- Ma, H., Ma, Y., Ma, W., Williams, D.K., Galvin, T.A., Khan, A.S., 2011. Chemical Induction of Endogenous Retrovirus Particles from the Vero Cell Line of African Green Monkeys. J. Virol. 85, 6579–6588. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00147-11
- Ma, X., Ph, D., Wang, D., Ph, D., Xu, W., Wu, G., Gao, G.F., Phil, D., Tan, W., Ph, D., 2020. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019 727–733. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017
- Mahase, E., 2019. Ebola is now "preventable and treatable," says WHO after approving vaccine in record time. BMJ 367. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.l6505
- Manceur, A.P., Kim, H., Misic, V., Andreev, N., Dorion-Thibaudeau, J., Lanthier, S., Bernier, A., Tremblay, S., Gélinas, A.M., Broussau, S., Gilbert, R., Ansorge, S., 2017. Scalable Lentiviral Vector Production Using Stable HEK293SF Producer Cell Lines. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 28, 330–339. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2017.086
- Mangion, M., Gélinas, J.F., Gashti, A.B.Z., Azizi, H., Kiesslich, S., Nassoury, N., Chahal, P.S., Kobinger, G., Gilbert, R., Garnier, A., Gaillet, B., Kamen, A., 2020. Evaluation of novel HIV vaccine candidates using recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus vector produced in serum-free Vero cell cultures. Vaccine 38, 7949–7955. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.10.058
- Mattos, D.A., Silva, M. V., Gaspar, L.P., Castilho, L.R., 2015. Increasing Vero viable cell densities for yellow fever virus production in stirred-tank bioreactors using serum-free medium.

Vaccine 33, 4288–4291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.050

- McCarron, A., Donnelley, M., McIntyre, C., Parsons, D., 2019. Transient Lentiviral Vector Production Using a Packed-Bed Bioreactor System. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 30, 93– 101. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2019.038
- Mehrbod, P., Fotouhi, F., G, I.M., Mohammadpour, A., Farahmand, B., 2015. Comparison of Vero and MDCK cell lines transfected with human siat7e gene for conversion to suspension culture. Vaccine Res. 2, 69–73.
- Meier, E., Harmison, G.G., Keene, J.D., Schubert, M., 1984. Sites of copy choice replication involved in generation of vesicular stomatitis virus defective-interfering particle RNAs.
 J. Virol. 51, 515–21.
- Mendonça, R.Z., Arrózio, S.J., Antoniazzi, M.M., Ferreira, J.M.C., Pereira, C.A., 2002. Metabolic active-high density VERO cell cultures on microcarriers following apoptosis prevention by galactose/glutamine feeding. J. Biotechnol. 97, 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1656(02)00048-2
- Mendonca, R.Z., Ioshimoto, L.M., Mendonca, R.M.Z., De-Franca, M., Valentini, E.J.G., Becak, W., Raw, I., Pereira, C.A., 1993. Preparation of human rabies vaccine in VERO cell culture using a microcarrier system. Brazilian J. Med. Biol. Res. 26, 1305–1319.
- Mendonça, R.Z., Pereira, C.A., 1998. Cell metabolism and medium perfusion in VERO cell cultures on microcarriers in a bioreactor. Bioprocess Eng. 18, 213–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004490050433
- Mendonça, R.Z., Pereira, C.A., 1995. High density VERO cell culture on microcarriers in a cell bioreactor. Bioprocess Eng. 12, 279–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00369503
- Mendonça, R.Z., Prado, J.C.M., Pereira, C.A., 1999. Attachment, spreading and growth of VERO cells on microcarriers for the optimization of large scale cultures. Bioprocess Eng. 20, 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004490050630
- Merten, O.W., 2015. Advances in cell culture: Anchorage dependence. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 370. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0040
- Merten, O.W., Kierulff, J. V., Castignolles, N., Perrin, P., 1994. Evaluation of the new serumfree medium (MDSS2) for the production of different biologicals: Use of various cell lines. Cytotechnology 14, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00772195

Merten, O.W., Wu, R., Couvé, E., Crainic, R., 1997. Evaluation of the serum-free medium

MDSS2 for the production of poliovirus on Vero cells in bioreactors. Cytotechnology 25, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007999313566

- Mise-Omata, S., Obata, Y., Iwase, S., Mise, N., Doi, T.S., 2005. Transient strong reduction of PTEN expression by specific RNAi induces loss of adhesion of the cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 328, 1034–1042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.01.066
- Monath, T.P., Fast, P.E., Modjarrad, K., Clarke, D.K., Martin, B.K., Fusco, J., Nichols, R., Heppner, D.G., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A.A., Robertson, J.S., Gray Heppner, D., Simon, J.K., Dubey, S., Troth, S.P., Wolf, J., Singh, V., Coller, B.-A.A., Robertson, J.S., 2019. rVSVΔG-ZEBOV-GP (also designated V920) Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Pseudotyped with Ebola Zaire Glycoprotein: Standardized Template with Key Considerations for a Risk/Benefit Assessment. Vaccine X 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvacx.2019.100009
- Monath, T.P., Liu, J., Kanesa-Thasan, N., Myers, G.A., Nichols, R., Deary, A., McCarthy, K., Johnson, C., Ermak, T., Shin, S., Arroyo, J., Guirakhoo, F., Kennedy, J.S., Ennis, F.A., Green, S., Bedford, P., 2006. A live, attenuated recombinant West Nile virus vaccine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 6694–6699. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0601932103
- Montagnon, B.J., Fanget, B., Nicolas, A.J., 1981. The large-scale cultivation of VERO cells in micro-carrier culture for virus vaccine production. Preliminary results for killed poliovirus vaccine. Dev. Biol. Stand. 47, 55–64.
- Munis, A.M., Bentley, E.M., Takeuchi, Y., 2020. A tool with many applications: vesicular stomatitis virus in research and medicine. Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 00, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/14712598.2020.1787981
- Murray, J., Todd, K. V., Bakre, A., Orr-Burks, N., Jones, L., Wu, W., Tripp, R.A., 2017. A universal mammalian vaccine cell line substrate. PLoS One 12, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188333
- Nahapetian, A.T., Thomas, J.N., Thilly, W.G., 1986. Optimization of environment for high density Vero cell culture: effect of dissolved oxygen and nutrient supply on cell growth and changes in metabolites. J. Cell Sci. 81, 65–103.
- Ng, Y.C., Berry, J.M., Butler, M., 1996. Optimization of physical parameters for cell attachment and growth on macroporous microcarriers. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 50, 627–635. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290(19960620)50:6<627::AID-BIT3>3.0.CO;2-

Μ

- Nikolay, A., Castilho, L.R., Reichl, U., Genzel, Y., 2018. Propagation of Brazilian Zika virus strains in static and suspension cultures using Vero and BHK cells. Vaccine 36, 3140–3145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.03.018
- Osada, N., Kohara, A., Yamaji, T., Hirayama, N., Kasai, F., Sekizuka, T., Kuroda, M., Hanada, K., 2014. The Genome Landscape of the African Green Monkey Kidney-Derived Vero Cell Line. DNA Res. 21, 673–683. https://doi.org/10.1093/dnares/dsu029
- Ozturk, S., Hu, W.S., 2005. Cell culture technology for pharmaceutical and cell-based therapies. CRC Press.
- Paillet, C., Forno, G., Kratje, R., Etcheverrigaray, M., 2009. Suspension-Vero cell cultures as a platform for viral vaccine production. Vaccine 27, 6464–6467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.06.020
- Paillet, C., Forno, G., Soldano, N., Kratje, R., Etcheverrigaray, M., 2011. Statistical optimization of influenza H1N1 production from batch cultures of suspension Vero cells (sVero). Vaccine 29, 7212–7217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.07.016
- Pereira, R.C., Silva, A.N.M.R., Souza, M.C.O., Silva, M. V., Neves, P.P.C.C., Silva, A.A.M. V, Matos, D.D.C.S., Herrera, M.A.O., Yamamura, A.M.Y., Freire, M.S., Gaspar, L.P., Caride, E., 2015. An inactivated yellow fever 17DD vaccine cultivated in Vero cell cultures. Vaccine 33, 4261–4268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.03.077
- Petiot, E., Bernard-Moulin, P., Magadoux, T., Gény, C., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2010a. In situ quantification of microcarrier animal cell cultures using near-infrared spectroscopy. Process Biochem. 45, 1832–1836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2010.08.010
- Petiot, E., El-Wajgali, A., Esteban, G., Gény, C., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2012. Real-time monitoring of adherent Vero cell density and apoptosis in bioreactor processes. Cytotechnology 64, 429–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-011-9421-2
- Petiot, E., Fournier, F., Gény, C., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2010b. Rapid Screening of Serum-Free Media for the Growth of Adherent Vero Cells by Using a Small-Scale and Non-invasive Tool. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 160, 1600–1615. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-009-8674-0
- Petiot, E., Guedon, E., Blanchard, F., Gény, C., Pinton, H., Marc, A., 2010c. Kinetic characterization of Vero cell metabolism in a serum-free batch culture process.

Biotechnol. Bioeng. 107, 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.22783

- Pinheiro-de-Oliveira, T.F., Fonseca, A.A., Camargos, M.F., Laguardia-Nascimento, M., de Oliveira, A.M., Cottorello, A.C.P., Goes-Neto, A., Barbosa-Stancioli, E.F., 2018.
 Development of a droplet digital RT-PCR for the quantification of foot-and-mouth virus RNA. J. Virol. Methods 259, 129–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2018.06.015
- Powers, A.D., Piras, B.A., Clark, R.K., Lockey, T., Meagher, M.M., 2016. Development and optimization of AAV hFIX particles by transient transfection in an iCELLis® fixed bed bioreactor. Hum. Gene Ther. Methods 27, 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1089/hgtb.2016.021
- Quesney, S., Marc, A., Gerdil, C., Gimenez, C., Marvel, J., Richard, Y., Meignier, B., 2003. Kinetics and metabolic specificities of Vero cells in bioreactor cultures with serum-free medium. Cytotechnology 42, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026185615650
- Quesney, S., Marvel, J., Marc, A., Gerdil, C., Meignier, B., 2001. Characterization of Vero cell growth and death in bioreactor with serum-containing and serum-free media. Cytotechnology 35, 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017589526145
- Racine, T., Kobinger, G.P., Arts, E.J., 2017. Development of an HIV vaccine using a vesicular stomatitis virus vector expressing designer HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins to enhance humoral responses. AIDS Res. Ther. 14, 2–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12981-017-0179-2
- Rajendran, R., Lingala, R., Vuppu, S.K., Bandi, B.O., Manickam, E., Macherla, S.R., Dubois, S., Havelange, N., Maithal, K., 2014. Assessment of packed bed bioreactor systems in the production of viral vaccines. AMB Express 4, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-014-0025-z
- Ramsburg, E., Rose, N.F., Marx, P.A., Mefford, M., Nixon, D.F., Moretto, W.J., Montefiori, D., Earl,
 P., Moss, B., Rose, J.K., 2004. Highly Effective Control of an AIDS Virus Challenge in
 Macaques by Using Vesicular Stomatitis Virus and Modified Vaccinia Virus Ankara
 Vaccine Vectors in a Single-Boost Protocol 78, 3930–3940.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.78.8.3930
- Read, S.J., 2001. Recovery efficiencies of nucleic acid extraction kits as measured by quantitative LightCycler[™] PCR. J. Clin. Pathol. - Mol. Pathol. 54, 86–90. https://doi.org/10.1136/mp.54.2.86

- Reed, L.J., Muench, H., 1938. A simple method of estimating fifty per cent endpoints. Am. J. Epidemiol. 27, 493–497.
- Regules, J.A., Beigel, J.H., Paolino, K.M., Voell, J., Castellano, A.R., Hu, Z., Muñoz, P., Moon, J.E., Ruck, R.C., Bennett, J.W., Twomey, P.S., Gutiérrez, R.L., Remich, S.A., Hack, H.R., Wisniewski, M.L., Josleyn, M.D., Kwilas, S.A., Van Deusen, N., Mbaya, O.T., Zhou, Y., Stanley, D.A., Jing, W., Smith, K.S., Shi, M., Ledgerwood, J.E., Graham, B.S., Sullivan, N.J., Jagodzinski, L.L., Peel, S.A., Alimonti, J.B., Hooper, J.W., Silvera, P.M., Martin, B.K., Monath, T.P., Ramsey, W.J., Link, C.J., Lane, H.C., Michael, N.L., Davey, R.T., Thomas, S.J., Bliss, R.L., Cebrik, D., Smith, K.S., Shi, M., Ledgerwood, J.E., Graham, B.S., Sullivan, N.J., Jagodzinski, L.L., Peel, S.A., Alimonti, J.B., Hooper, J.W., Silvera, P.M., Martin, B.K., Monath, T.P., Ramsey, W.J., Link, C.J., Lane, H.C., Michael, N.L., Davey, R.T., Thomas, S.J., rVSVΔG-ZEBOV-GP Study Group, 2015. A Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Ebola Vaccine. N. Engl. J. Med. 376, 330–341. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1414216
- Rhim, J.S., Schell, K., Creasy, B., Case, W., 1969. Biological Characteristics and Viral Susceptibility of an African Green Monkey Kidney Cell Line (Vero). Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 132, 670–678. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-132-34285
- Robison, C.S., Whitt, M.A., 2000. The Membrane-Proximal Stem Region of Vesicular Stomatitis Virus G Protein Confers Efficient Virus Assembly. J. Virol. 74, 2239–2246. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.74.5.2239-2246.2000
- Rodrigues, A.F., Soares, H.R., Guerreiro, M.R., Alves, P.M., Coroadinha, A.S., 2015. Viral vaccines and their manufacturing cell substrates: New trends and designs in modern vaccinology. Biotechnol. J. 10, 1329–1344. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201400387
- Rourou, S., Ben Ayed, Y., Trabelsi, K., Majoul, S., Kallel, H., 2014. An animal component free medium that promotes the growth of various animal cell lines for the production of viral vaccines. Vaccine 32, 2767–2769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.02.040
- Rourou, S., Ben Zakkour, M., Kallel, H., 2019. Adaptation of Vero cells to suspension growth for rabies virus production in different serum free media. Vaccine 37, 6987–6995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.05.092
- Rourou, S., Riahi, N., Majoul, S., Trabelsi, K., Kallel, H., 2013. Development of an in situ detachment protocol of Vero cells grown on Cytodex1 microcarriers under animal component-free conditions in stirred bioreactor. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 170, 1724–

1737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-013-0307-y

- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., Majoul, S., Trabelsi, K., Van Der Velden, T., Kallel, H., 2009a. A novel animal-component-free medium for rabies virus production in Vero cells grown on Cytodex 1 microcarriers in a stirred bioreactor. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 85, 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-009-2064-y
- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., van der Velden, T., Kallel, H., 2009b. Development of an animalcomponent free medium for vero cells culture. Biotechnol. Prog. 25, 1752–1761. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.279
- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., van der Velden, T., Kallel, H., 2007. A microcarrier cell culture process for propagating rabies virus in Vero cells grown in a stirred bioreactor under fully animal component free conditions. Vaccine 25, 3879–3889. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.086
- Sakuma, C., Sekizuka, T., Kuroda, M., Kasai, F., Saito, K., Ikeda, M., Yamaji, T., Osada, N., Hanada,
 K., 2018. Novel endogenous simian retroviral integrations in Vero cells: implications for
 quality control of a human vaccine cell substrate. Sci. Rep. 8, 644.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-18934-2
- Schmieder, V., Bydlinski, N., Strasser, R., Baumann, M., Kildegaard, H.F., Jadhav, V., Borth, N.,
 2018. Enhanced Genome Editing Tools For Multi-Gene Deletion Knock-Out Approaches
 Using Paired CRISPR sgRNAs in CHO Cells. Biotechnol. J. 13, 1–10.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201700211
- Sharon, D.M., Nesdoly, S., Yang, H.J., Gélinas, J.F., Xia, Y., Ansorge, S., Kamen, A.A., 2020. A pooled genome - wide screening strategy to identify and rank influenza host restriction factors in cell - based vaccine production platforms. Sci. Rep. 10, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-68934-y
- Shen, C.F., Guilbault, C., Li, X., Elahi, S.M., Ansorge, S., Kamen, A.A., Gilbert, R., 2019. Development of suspension adapted Vero cell culture process technology for production of viral vaccines. Vaccine 37, 6996–7002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.07.003
- Shin, S.W., Lee, J.S., 2020. Optimized CRISPR / Cas9 strategy for homology directed multiple targeted integration of transgenes in CHO cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 117, 1895–1903. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.27315

- Silva, A.C., Delgado, I., Sousa, M.F.Q., Carrondo, M.J.T., Alves, P.M., 2008. Scalable culture systems using different cell lines for the production of Peste des Petits ruminants vaccine. Vaccine 26, 3305–3311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.03.077
- Smither, S.J., Lear-Rooney, C., Biggins, J., Pettitt, J., Lever, M.S., Olinger, G.G., 2013. Comparison of the plaque assay and 50% tissue culture infectious dose assay as methods for measuring filovirus infectivity. J. Virol. Methods 193, 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.05.015
- Sousa, M., Fenge, C., Rupprecht, J., Tappe, A., Greller, G., Alves, P., Carrondo, M., Roldão, A., 2019. Process intensification for Peste des Petites Ruminants Virus vaccine production. Vaccine 37, 7041–7051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.07.009
- Souza, M.C.D.O., Da Silva Freire, M., Castilho, L.R., 2005. Influence of culture conditions on vero cell propagation on non-porous microcarriers. Brazilian Arch. Biol. Technol. 48, 71–77. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-89132005000400009
- Souza, M.C.O., Freire, M.S., Schulze, E.A., Gaspar, L.P., Castilho, L.R., 2009. Production of yellow fever virus in microcarrier-based Vero cell cultures. Vaccine 27, 6420–6423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.06.023
- Spearman, C., 1908. The method of "right and wrong cases"('constant stimuli') without Gauss's formulae. Br. J. Psychol. 1904-1920. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295.1908.tb00176.x
- Spruth, M., Kistner, O., Savidis-Dacho, H., Hitter, E., Crowe, B.A., Gerencer, M., Brühl, P., Grillberger, L., Reiter, M., Tauer, C., Mundt, W., Barrett, P.N., 2006. A double-inactivated whole virus candidate SARS coronavirus vaccine stimulates neutralising and protective antibody responses. Vaccine 24, 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.08.055
- Stojdl, D.F., Lichty, B.D., TenOever, B.R., Paterson, J.M., Power, A.T., Knowles, S., Marius, R., Reynard, J., Poliquin, L., Atkins, H., Brown, E.G., Durbin, R.K., Durbin, J.E., Hiscott, J., Bell, J.C., 2003. VSV strains with defects in their ability to shutdown innate immunity are potent systemic anti-cancer agents. Cancer Cell 4, 263–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00241-1
- Sugawara, K., Nishiyama, K., Ishikawa, Y., Abe, M., Sonoda, K., Komatsu, K., Horikawa, Y., Takeda, K., Honda, T., Kuzuhara, S., Kino, Y., Mizokami, H., Mizuno, K., Oka, T., Honda, K.,

2002. Development of Vero cell-derived inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine. Biol. J. Int. Assoc. Biol. Stand. 30, 303–314. https://doi.org/10.1006/biol.2002.0345

- Sun, L., Xiong, Z., Zhou, W., Liu, R., Yan, X., Li, J., An, W., Yuan, G., Ma, G., Su, Z., 2015. Novel konjac glucomannan microcarriers for anchorage-dependent animal cell culture. Biochem. Eng. J. 96, 46–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2014.12.012
- Sun, M.-B., Jiang, Y.-J., Li, W.-D., Li, P.-Z., Li, G.-L., Jiang, S.-D., Liao, G.-Y., 2004. A novel process for production of hepatitis A virus in Vero cells grown on microcarriers in bioreactor. World J. Gastroenterol. 10, 2571–3.
- Takada, A., Robison, C., Goto, H., Sanchez, A., Murti, K.G., Whitt, M.A., Kawaoka, Y., 1997. A system for functional analysis of Ebola virus glycoprotein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94, 14764–9.
- Tapia, F., Vázquez-Ramírez, D., Genzel, Y., Reichl, U., 2016. Bioreactors for high cell density and continuous multi-stage cultivations: options for process intensification in cell culture-based viral vaccine production. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 100, 2121–2132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-7267-9
- Taylor, S.C., Laperriere, G., Germain, H., 2017. Droplet Digital PCR versus qPCR for gene expression analysis with low abundant targets: From variable nonsense to publication quality data. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02217-x
- Thomassen, Y.E., Rubingh, O., Wijffels, R.H., van der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2014. Improved poliovirus D-antigen yields by application of different Vero cell cultivation methods. Vaccine 32, 2782–2788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.02.022
- Thomassen, Y.E., Van 't Oever, A.G., Van Oijen, M.G.C.T., Wijffels, R.H., Van Der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2013a. Next generation inactivated polio vaccine manufacturing to support post polio-eradication biosafety goals. PLoS One 8, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083374
- Thomassen, Y.E., van 't Oever, A.G., Vinke, M., Spiekstra, A., Wijffels, R.H., van der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2013b. Scale-down of the inactivated polio vaccine production process. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 110, 1354–1365. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.24798
- Thomassen, Y.E., Van Der Welle, J.E., Van Eikenhorst, G., Van Der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., 2012a. Transfer of an adherent Vero cell culture method between two different rocking motion type bioreactors with respect to cell growth and metabolic rates. Process

Biochem. 47, 288–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2011.11.006

- Thomassen, Y.E., van Eikenhorst, G., van der Pol, L.A., Bakker, W.A.M., Eikenhorst, G. Van, Pol,
 L.A. Van Der, 2012b. Platform Technology for Viral Vaccine Production: Comparison
 Between Attached and Suspension Vero Cells. Proc. 21st Annu. Meet. Eur. Soc. Anim. Cell
 Technol. (ESACT), Dublin, Ireland, June 7-10, 2009 723–727.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0884-6 115
- Tiwari, M., Parida, M., Santhosh, S.R., Khan, M., Dash, P.K., Rao, P.V.L., 2009. Assessment of immunogenic potential of Vero adapted formalin inactivated vaccine derived from novel ECSA genotype of Chikungunya virus. Vaccine 27, 2513–2522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.02.062
- Toriniwa, H., Komiya, T., 2007. Japanese encephalitis virus production in Vero cells with serum-free medium using a novel oscillating bioreactor. Biologicals 35, 221–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biologicals.2007.02.002
- Trabelsi, K., Majoul, S., Rourou, S., Kallel, H., 2014. Process intensification for an enhanced replication of a newly adapted RM-65 sheep pox virus strain in Vero cells grown in stirred bioreactor. Biochem. Eng. J. 90, 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2014.06.001
- Trabelsi, K., Rourou, S., Loukil, H., Majoul, S., Kallel, H., 2006. Optimization of virus yield as a strategy to improve rabies vaccine production by Vero cells in a bioreactor. J. Biotechnol. 121, 261–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.07.018
- Trabelsi, K., Rourou, S., Loukil, H., Majoul, S., Kallel, H., 2005. Comparison of various culture modes for the production of rabies virus by Vero cells grown on microcarriers in a 2-l bioreactor. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 36, 514–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2004.11.008
- Twumasi-Boateng, K., Pettigrew, J.L., Kwok, Y.Y.E., Bell, J.C., Nelson, B.H., 2018. Oncolytic viruses as engineering platforms for combination immunotherapy. Nat. Rev. Cancer 18, 419–432. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-018-0009-4
- Ura, T., Yamashita, A., Mizuki, N., Okuda, K., Shimada, M., 2020. New vaccine production platforms used in developing SARS-CoV-2 vaccine candidates. Vaccine. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.11.054

Ursache, R. V., Thomassen, Y.E., Van Eikenhorst, G., Verheijen, P.J.T., Bakker, W.A.M., 2015.

Mathematical model of adherent Vero cell growth and poliovirus production in animal component free medium. Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng. 38, 543–555. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-014-1294-2

- US Food And Drug Administration, 2019. First FDA-approved vaccine for the prevention of Ebola virus disease, marking a critical milestone in public health preparedness and response [WWW Document]. Press Announc. URL https://www.fda.gov/newsevents/press-announcements/first-fda-approved-vaccine-prevention-ebola-virusdisease-marking-critical-milestone-public-health (retrieved 2020-01-06)
- Valkama, A.J., Leinonen, H.M., Lipponen, E.M., Turkki, V., Malinen, J., Heikura, T., Ylä-Herttuala, S., Lesch, H.P., 2018. Optimization of lentiviral vector production for scale-up in fixed-bed bioreactor. Gene Ther. 25, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2017.91
- van der Sanden, S.M.G., Wu, W., Dybdahl-Sissoko, N., Weldon, W.C., Brooks, P., O'Donnell, J.,
 Jones, L.P., Brown, C., Tompkins, S.M., Oberste, M.S., Karpilow, J., Tripp, R.A., 2016.
 Engineering Enhanced Vaccine Cell Lines to Eradicate Vaccine-Preventable Diseases:
 The Polio Endgame. J. Virol. 90, 1694–1704. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01464-15
- Vlecken, D.H.W., Pelgrim, R.P.M., Ruminski, S., Bakker, W.A.M., van der Pol, L.A., 2013. Comparison of initial feasibility of host cell lines for viral vaccine production. J. Virol. Methods 193, 28–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.04.020
- Warren, W.C., Jasinska, A.J., García-pérez, R., Svardal, H., Tomlinson, C., Rocchi, M., Archidiacono, N., Capozzi, O., Minx, P., Montague, M.J., Hillier, L.W., Kremitzki, M., Graves, T., Chiang, C., Hughes, J., 2015. The genome of the vervet (Chlorocebus aethiops sabaeus) 4, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.192922.115.
- Weiss, K., Gerstenberger, J., Salzig, D., Mühlebach, M.D., Cichutek, K., Pörtner, R., Czermak, P., 2015. Oncolytic measles viruses produced at different scales under serum-free conditions. Eng. Life Sci. 15, 425–436. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.201400165
- Weiss, K., Salzig, D., Mühlebach, M.D., Cichutek, K., Pörtner, R., Czermak, P., 2012. Key parameters of measles virus production for oncolytic virotherapy. Am. J. Biochem. Biotechnol. 8, 81–98. https://doi.org/10.3844/ajbbsp.2012.81.98

White, L.A., Ades, E.W., 1990. Growth of Vero E-6 cells on microcarriers in a cell bioreactor.
J. Clin. Microbiol. 28, 283–286. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.28.2.283-286.1990
Wong, G., Qiu, X., 2016. Designing Efficacious Vesicular Stomatitis Virus-Vectored Vaccines

Against Ebola Virus, in: Vaccine Design. Humana Press, New York, pp. 245–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3387-7_12

- World Health Organization, 2020a. DRAFT landscape of COVID-19 candidate vaccines 22 June 2020 [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/draftlandscape-of-covid-19-candidate-vaccines (accessed 6.22.20).
- World Health Organization, 2020b. DRAFT landscape of COVID-19 candidate vaccines 19 October [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/draftlandscape-of-covid-19-candidate-vaccines (accessed 10.20.20).
- World Health Organization, 2019a. Ebola Virus Desease. Democratic Republic of the Congo:ExternalSituationReport38.https//apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/312080/SITREP-EVD-DRC-20192404-eng.pdf?ua=1 (retrieved 25 April 2019).
- World Health Organization, 2019b. Statement on the meeting of the International Health Regulations (2005) Emergency Committee for Ebola virus disease in the Democratic Republic of the Congo on 17 July 2019. https://www.who.int/ihr/procedures/statement-emergency-committee-ebola-drcjuly-2019.pdf?ua=1.
- World Health Organization, 2016. Situation Report: Ebola Virus Disease 10 June 2016. http//apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/208883/1/ebolasitrep_10Jun2016_eng.pdf ?ua=1 (retrieved 25 April 2019).
- World Health Organization, 1987a. Acceptability of cells substrates for production of biologicals. WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. 747, 5–24.
- World Health Organization, 1987b. Requirements for continuous cell lines used for biologicals substances. WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. 745, 99–115.
- Wu, C., Lin, Y., Kuo, C., Liu, W., Tai, H., 2015. Inactivated Enterovirus 71 Vaccine Produced by 200-L Scale Serum-Free Microcarrier Bioreactor System Provides Cross-Protective Efficacy in Human SCARB2 Transgenic Mouse. PLoS One 10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136420
- Wu, S.C., Huang, G.Y.L., 2000. Hydrodynamic shear forces increase Japanese encephalitis virus production from microcarrier-grown Vero cells. Bioprocess Eng. 23, 229–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004499900156

- Wu, S.C., Liu, C.C., Lian, W.C., 2004. Optimization of microcarrier cell culture process for the inactivated enterovirus type 71 vaccine development. Vaccine 22, 3858–3864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.05.037
- Wu, W., Orr-Burks, N., Karpilow, J., Tripp, R.A., 2017. Development of improved vaccine cell lines against rotavirus. Sci. Data 4, 170021. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2017.21
- Wu, Y., Lun, X., Zhou, H., Wang, L., Sun, B., Bell, J.C., Barrett, J.W., McFadden, G., Biegel, J.A., Senger, D.L., Forsyth, P.A., 2008. Oncolytic efficacy of recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus and myxoma virus in experimental models of rhabdoid tumors. Clin. Cancer Res. 14, 1218–1227. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1330
- Yasumura, Y., Kawakita, Y., 1963. The research for the SV40 by means of tissue culture technique. Nippon rinsho 21, 1201–1219.
- Yokomizo, A.Y., Antoniazzi, M.M., Galdino, P.L., Azambuja, N., Jorge, S.A.C., Pereira, C.A., 2004.
 Rabies Virus Production in High Vero Cell Density Cultures on Macroporous Microcarriers. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 85, 506–515. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.10917
- Yuk, I.H., Lin, G.B., Ju, H., Sifi, I., Lam, Y., Cortez, A., Liebertz, D., Berry, J.M., Schwartz, R.M., 2006. A serum-free Vero production platform for a chimeric virus vaccine candidate. Cytotechnology 51, 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-006-9030-7
- Zemp, F., Rajwani, J., Mahoney, D.J., 2018. Rhabdoviruses as vaccine platforms for infectious disease and cancer. Biotechnol. Genet. Eng. Rev. 34, 122–138. https://doi.org/10.1080/02648725.2018.1474320
- Zimmer, B., Summermatter, K., Zimmer, G., 2013. Stability and inactivation of vesicular stomatitis virus, a prototype rhabdovirus. Vet. Microbiol. 162, 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.08.023

156